Mother-Infant Relationship, Dyadic Interaction, and Child Development:

The Role of Maternal Mental Health

Christian Franz Josef Woll



Fakultät für Psychologie und Pädagogik

Mother-Infant Relationship, Dyadic Interaction, and Child Development:

The Role of Maternal Mental Health

Christian Franz Josef Woll

Inauguraldissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Philosophie an der Fakultät für Psychologie und Pädagogik am Department Psychologie der Ludwig–Maximilians–Universität München

> vorgelegt von Christian Franz Josef Woll aus Neustadt an der Weinstraße

> > München, den 13.10.2022

Erstgutachterin: Prof. Dr. Corinna Reck Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Felix Schönbrodt Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 13.02.2023

Acknowledgements - Danksagung

Ich bedanke mich herzlichst bei meinen Betreuer:innen, Corinna Reck und Felix Schönbrodt, dafür, dass sie mich in den letzten Jahren mit ihrer Begeisterung für die Wissenschaft und Forschung angesteckt, begleitet und motiviert haben. Ihre Rückmeldungen haben mich stets angeregt, die behandelte Thematik auf sachlicher und emotionaler Ebene neu zu begreifen und Verbindungen herzustellen. Ich bedanke mich außerdem bei Peter Fonagy dafür, dass er die Rolle des Drittprüfers für meine Promotion einnimmt. Ich möchte mich bei meinen Eltern, meiner Schwester, meiner Familie, meinen Freund:innen, Kolleg:innen und Ausbilder:innen in der psychotherapeutischen Weiterbildung bedanken, die mich auf diesem Weg in allen Höhen und Tiefen begleitet und unterstützt haben. Besonders bedanke ich mich bei meinem Lebenspartner Armin, der mir den nötigen Halt, die Ruhe und Unterstützung gegeben hat, um diese Arbeit abzuschließen. Danke für deine humorvolle und auflockernde Art, die mich immer wieder entspannt hat!

Contents

A	cknov	wledgments - Danksagung	\mathbf{v}
Li	st of	Figures	ix
Li	st of	Tables	xiv
Li	st of	Abbreviations	vii
A	bstra	ict	xix
1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	The Process of Interactive Regulation	2
		1.1.1 The Mutual Regulation Model and the Still-Face Paradigm	2
		1.1.2 Central Maternal Qualities: Sensitivity, Mentalizing and Bonding .	4
	1.2	Peripartum Depression, Anxiety Disorders, and Impaired Bonding	6
		1.2.1 Prevalences of Peripartum Depressive and Anxiety Disorders	6
		1.2.2 Effects on Mothers and Their Children	7
		1.2.3 Transmission Pathways	8
		1.2.4 Effects on Mother-Infant Interaction	8
		1.2.5 Maternal Prepartum Bonding in the Context of Depression and Anxiety	10
		1.2.6 Maternal Postpartum Bonding in the Context of Depression and	
		Anxiety	11
	1.3	Maternal Mental Health in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic	13
		1.3.1 The COVID-19 Pandemic as a General Stressor	13
		1.3.2 Maternal Depressive Symptomatology and Perceived Stress	14
2	\mathbf{Stu}	dy 1: Peripartum Bonding, Depression, and Anxiety	17
	2.1	Theoretical Background	17
	2.2	Method	19
		2.2.1 Participants	19
		2.2.2 Procedure	21
		2.2.3 Instruments	22
		2.2.4 Statistical Analysis	26
	2.3	Results	28

		2.3.1	Preliminary Analysis	28
		2.3.2	Model Assumptions	28
		2.3.3	Main Analysis	31
		2.3.4	Diagnostics	32
		2.3.5	Exploratory Analysis	38
		2.3.6	Changes to the Pre-Registration	39
	2.4	Discus	sion	40
		2.4.1	Summary and Comparison of Findings	40
		2.4.2	Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions	46
		2.4.3	Conclusion	47
	2.5	Supple	ementary Files	48
		2.5.1	Pre-Registration	48
		2.5.2	Data	48
		2.5.3	Analysis Code	48
		2.5.4	Supplementary Material	48
3	Stu	dy 2: I	Depressiveness and Perceived Stress During COVID-19	49
	3.1	Theore	etical Background	49
	3.2	Metho	d	51
		3.2.1	Sampling Procedures and Participants	51
		3.2.2	Measures	52
		3.2.3	Statistical Analysis	56
	3.3	Result	8	59
		3.3.1	Foundational Analysis	59
	3.4	Cross-	Lagged Panel Analysis	61
		3.4.1	Main Analysis	61
		3.4.2	Exploratory Analysis	66
		3.4.3	Changes to the Pre-Registration	69
	3.5	Discus	sion \ldots	69
		3.5.1	Summary and Comparison of Findings	69
		3.5.2	Strengths, Limitations and Future Directions	72
		3.5.3	Conclusion	77
	3.6	Supple	ementary Files	77
		3.6.1	Pre-Registration	77
		3.6.2	Data	78
		3.6.3	Analysis Code	78
		3.6.4	Supplementary Material	78
1	One	roing S	tudy 3. The COMPARE-Interaction Study	70
4		Theory	etical Background	יש 79
	4.9	Metho	ds	80
	4.3	Discus	sion	82
	±.0			~

Contents

5	Ove	rall discussion	83
	5.1	Findings and Contributions	83
	5.2	Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research	85
	5.3	Conclusion	88
Ge	erma	n Summary - Zusammenfassung	89
\mathbf{A}	Adr	ninistered Questionnaires	95
	A.1	Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), German Version	95
	A.2	Stait-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), German Version	98
	A.3	Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale (MFAS), German Version	101
	A.4	Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire (PBQ-16), German Version	103
	A.5	Perceived Stress Scale - 10 Item Version (PSS), German Version	105
в	Cod	ling Manual: Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases - Revision	107
\mathbf{C}	Stu	dy protocol of the COMPARE-Interaction Study	117
Re	References		

List of Figures

- 2.1Mediation model with two potential serial mediators, i.e. maternal prepartum bonding and maternal impaired postpartum bonding. Path a_1*b_1 : indirect effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal prepartum bonding. Path a₂*b₂: indirect effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal postpartum bonding. Path $a_1^*d^*b_2$: indirect effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal prepartum and postpartum bonding in serial. Path c': direct effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation. Examining maternal psychopathology included testing a clinical group of mothers suffering from depressive and/or anxiety disorders against a healthy control group (model 1), investigating the severity of depressive symptoms across both groups (model 2), and investigating the severity of anxiety symptoms across both groups (model 3). Notably, the constructs, maternal prepartum bonding and *impaired* postpartum bonding, are named according to what the values obtained from their scale represent (see Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale and Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire in 2.2.3). Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0

19

2.2	Exploratory structural equation model depicting the potential relationship between maternal depressive or anxiety symptoms and maternal bonding. This exploratory model follows the structure of a cross-lagged panel de- sign with (1) auto-regressive effects, i.e. i_i and h_i , examining the stability within constructs across time, (2) cross-lagged effects, i.e. k_i and j_i , exam- ining the relation between constructs across time, and (3) correlations, i.e. e_i , examining the relation between constructs within measurement points. Notably, the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms were assessed in three separate exploratory models: exploratory model 1 examining depres- sive symptoms, exploratory model 2 examining state anxiety symptoms, and exploratory model 3 examining trait anxiety symptoms. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license	20
2.3	Exemplary time series of one dyadic interaction during the Face-to-Face Still-Face experiment. The mother's time series is presented at the top and the infant's time series at the bottom. ICEP = Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases; TRANS = transition phase of 10 seconds before the still-face episode starts; CPVC = Caregiver's social monitor/positive vocalizations; CPOS = Caregiver's social positive engagement; CNEU = Caregiver's social monitor/no or neutral vocalizations; CINT = Caregiver's intrusive affect/behavior; IPRO = Infant's protesting; IPOS = Infant's social positive engagement; INEU = Infant's social monitor. Notably, not all ICEP codes were observed within this dyad. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.	25
2.4	Mediation model 1 with the maternal diagnostic status as the independent binary variable. Pathway coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. * $p < .05$	33
2.5	Mediation model 2 with the severity of depressive symptoms as the independent continuous variable. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. * $p < .05$	33
2.6	Mediation model 3 with the severity of state anxiety symptoms as the independent continuous variable. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. * $p < .05$	34
2.7	Exploratory cross-lagged pathway model 1 including the severity of depressive symptoms (EPDS) and maternal prepartum (MFAS) and impaired postpartum (PBQ-16) bonding. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. $^{\dagger}p < .1$; $^{*}p < .05$; $^{**}p < .01$; $^{***}p < .001 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	39

2.8	Exploratory cross-lagged pathway model 2 including the severity of state anxiety symptoms (STAIS) and maternal prepartum (MFAS) and impaired postpartum (PBQ-16) bonding. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. $^{\dagger}p < .1$; $^{*}p < .05$; $^{**}p < .01$; $^{***}p < .001 \dots \dots \dots$	40
3.1	Flowchart of the sampling procedure. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2 fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license	53
3.2	Pie charts illustrating maternal risk for depression at the first (T1) and second (T2) measurement point. Accessible results are as follows: 33.8% (95% CI 30.3-37.5%) of mothers carry a high risk and 66.2% (95% CI 62.5-69.7%) a low risk for depression at T1; 55.1% (95% CI 51.3-58.8%) carry a high risk and 44.9% (95% CI 41.2-48.7%) a low risk at T2. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license	61
3.3	Pie charts illustrating maternal levels of perceived stress at the first (T1) and second (T2) measurement point. Accessible results are as follows: 15.2% (95% CI 12.6-18.1%) of mothers show a high level, 55.9% (95% CI 52.1-59.6%) a moderate level, and 29.0% (95% CI 25.7-32.5%) a low level of perceived stress at T1; 26.0% (95% CI 22.8-29.4%) show a high level, 57.8% (95% CI 54.0-61.5%) a moderate level, and 16.2% (95% CI 13.6-19.2%) a low level of perceived stress at T2. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.	62
3.4	Raincloud plot of the sum scores of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS). On the very left and the very right side of the plot, the density distribution of each measurement point is depicted. The box plots present the 0th, 25th, 50th (medians), 75th, and 100th percentiles. In the middle the paired data points are shown, connected with lines from the data point of the first measurement point (T1) to the one of the second measurement point (T2). The respective overall mean values are depicted in red and connected with a red line, reflecting the increase of the overall EPDS sum score across time points. The dashed line represents the established cut-off values at a sum score of 10 and 13, indicating a clinically relevant risk for a minor and major depression, respectively. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.	63

density distribution of each measurement point is depicted. The box plots present the 0th, 25th, 50th (medians), 75th, and 100th percentiles. In the middle the paired data points are shown, connected with lines from the data point of the first measurement point (T1) to the one of the second measurement point (T2). The respective overall mean values are depicted in red and connected with a red line, reflecting the increase of the overall PSS sumscore across time points. The dashed lines represent established cut-off values at 14 and 27 indicating low medium and high lovels of perceived	
stress. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. Results of the cross-lagged path analysis of the reciprocal model (4). $r_i =$ standardized correlation coefficients; $\beta_i =$ standardized regression weights; T1 = first measurement point; T2 = second measurement point. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license	64 65
Main mediation model of the COMPARE-Interaction study (adapted from Zietlow et al., 2022, p. 8). Notably, the correlation between maternal sensitivity and infant cortisol reactivity will also be acknowledged. Figure available at https://osf.io/7xdy3/, under a CC-BY4.0 license	81
Zentrale Mediationsebenen für die Zusammenhänge zwischen der psychis- chen Gesundheit der Bezugspersonen und der Entwicklung ihrer Kinder (basierend auf Müller, 2017, S. 22). Es ist jedoch anzumerken, dass es sich um eine vereinfachte Modelldarstellung eines sehr komplexen, multikausalen und dynamischen Prozesses handelt. Andere potentiell beeinflussende Vari- ablen und reziproke Effekte wurden vernachlässigt. Die Grafik ist unter einer CC-BY4.0 Lizenz auf https://osf.io/7xdy3/ abrufbar	92
	density distribution of each measurement point is depicted. The box plots present the 0th, 25th, 50th (medians), 75th, and 100th percentiles. In the middle the paired data points are shown, connected with lines from the data point of the first measurement point (T1) to the one of the second measurement point (T2). The respective overall mean values are depicted in red and connected with a red line, reflecting the increase of the overall PSS sumscore across time points. The dashed lines represent established cut-off values at 14 and 27, indicating low, medium, and high levels of perceived stress. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. Results of the cross-lagged path analysis of the reciprocal model (4). $r_i =$ standardized correlation coefficients; $\beta_i =$ standardized regression weights; T1 = first measurement point; T2 = second measurement point. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license

List of Tables

2.1	Mothers' Descriptive Statistics of Sociodemographic Data and Tests of Com-	
	parability between the Control and Clinical Group.	29
2.2	Infants' Descriptive Statistics of Sociodemographic Data and Tests of Com-	
	parability between the Control and Clinical Group.	30
2.3	Descriptive Statistics of Main and Exploratory Measures in the Total, Con-	
	trol, and Clinical Sample as well as a Comparison of the Control and Clinical	
	Means	35
2.4	Pearson's Correlations of the Main and Exploratory Measures	37
2.5	Fit Indices of Tested Exploratory Models.	38
3.1	Descriptive Statistics of Categorical Sociodemographic Variables	54
3.2	Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Sociodemographic and Outcome Variables.	55
3.3	Fit Indices of Tested Models.	62
3.4	Pearson's Correlations of the Main Outcome Measures, the EPDS and the	
	PSS, and Possibly Important Control Variables.	68

List of Abbreviations

AIC Akaike information criterion. 57–59, 61, 65

CBCL Child Behavior Checklist. 81

CFI comparative fit index. 26, 38, 57, 58, 61, 66

CIB Coding Interactive Behavior manual. 81

CLPM cross-lagged panel model. 57, 59, 74–76, 86

DFG German Research Foundation. 19

EA Emotional Availability Scales. 12

EMA ecological momentary assessment. 75

EPDS Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. 22, 26, 56–60

ESM experience sampling method. 75, 76

FDR False Discovery Rate. 39, 57, 69

FFSF Face-to-Face Still-Face Paradigm. xix, 3, 4, 10, 18, 22, 24, 26, 82, 93

FIML full information maximum likelihood. 26, 57, 69

HPA hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical. 80

ICEP-R Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases. 24, 82, 88, 93

IRSS Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases. 24

MFAS Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale. 23, 26, 47

MLR maximum-likelihood estimation with robust estimators of model fit. 57

MRSS Maternal Regulatory Scoring Systems. 24

- PBQ Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire. 23, 47
- PBQ-16 Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire 16. 23, 26
- **PCDI** Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction. 12
- **PSS** Perceived Stress Scale. 56–60
- **RI-CLPM** random-intercept cross-lagged panel model. 74–76, 86
- **RI-CLPM** Random Intercept Cross-Lagged Panel Model. 86
- **RMSEA** root-mean-square error of approximation. 26, 38, 57, 58, 61, 66
- SCID Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV. 21, 22
- SRMR standardized root-mean-square residual. 26, 38, 57, 58, 61, 66
- STAI State and Trait Anxiety Inventory. 22, 23, 44
- STAI-S State and Trait Anxiety Inventory State. 23, 26
- **STAI-T** State and Trait Anxiety Inventory Trait. 23, 45
- **TLI** Tucker-Lewis index. 26, 38, 57, 58, 61, 66
- WEIRD (1) western, (2) educated, (3) industrialized, (4) rich, and (5) democratic. 73, 86

Abstract

Peripartum maternal depressive and anxiety disorders may adversely affect child development (J. H. Goodman et al., 2016; Kingston & Tough, 2014). Mother-infant interaction and mother-infant relationship/bonding have been shown to be involved in the transmission of these adverse effects (Edwards & Hans, 2015; Mason et al., 2011; Reck, Nonnenmacher, et al., 2016). It is therefore crucial to further investigate how dyadic interaction, motherinfant bonding, and child development are associated in the context of peripartum maternal mental health. Only if we get a better understanding of this complex, multicausal, and dynamic process, we may further improve specific prevention and intervention programs for caregivers and their children (Downing et al., 2014). The COVID-19 pandemic has created a very particular context which may have contributed to an exacerbation of maternal mental health issues, in particular depressive symptoms and perceived stress (Achterberg et al., 2021; Q. Chen et al., 2022; Suárez-Rico et al., 2021). In two empirical studies and one summary of an ongoing study, this work investigated the aforementioned domains in order to inform and guide policy-makers as well as further prevention and intervention research.

Study 1 investigated the mediating role of maternal pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal psychopathology and the quality of the dyadic interaction. Further exploratory analyses assessed the relationship between maternal bonding and the severity of (1) depressive symptoms as well as (2) anxiety symptoms across three different time points in the peripartum period. 59 mother-infant dyads were assessed applying diagnostic interviews, self-reports, and microanalytic coding of mother-infant interaction during the Face-to-Face Still-Face Paradigm (FFSF). The quality of mother-infant interaction was quantified as the latency to interactive reparation, i.e. the average time a dyad needs to transform an affective-behavioral uncoordinated state (mismatching state) into a coordinated one (matching state). The results did not provide evidence for a mediating effect of maternal pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal psychopathology and the quality of mother-infant interaction, probably due to our small sample size. Additional exploratory analyses revealed that bonding, as well as the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms, at earlier stages of the peripartum period predicted their respective subsequent level at a later peripartum stage. Both symptom measures were also negatively associated with bonding quality 4-8 weeks postpartum. In addition, anxiety symptoms were negatively associated with the bonding quality at the second trimester.

These findings are in line with a number of studies showing a connection between the preand postpartum level of depressive and anxiety symptoms, as well as bonding, respectively (Dubber et al., 2015; Ohara et al., 2017; Rossen et al., 2016). Thus, the findings additionally support previous research asserting that the administration of screenings to identify women at risk of bonding issues, depression, and anxiety should start *during pregnancy* and become universal practice to foster the long-term well-being of mothers and children (Biaggi et al., 2016).

Study 2 focused on maternal mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic, targeting the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress. The aims of this study were threefold: We (1) assessed the overall severity of maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress at two time points during the pandemic and reported prevalence rates, (2) compared the respective overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress between the two time points, and (3) examined the reciprocal relation between these two constructs. 666 mothers with children aged 0-3 years were assessed via an online survey at two measurement points during the pandemic (T1: May-November 2020; T2: February/March 2021). The overall severity of maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress appears to have increased in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is in line with current meta-analyses (Q. Chen et al., 2022; Safi-Keykaleh et al., 2022). Given that even subclinical maternal depressive symptoms may adversely affect child development (Ramchandani et al., 2005), at least 33.8% of children were at risk of developmentally suffering under the depressive symptoms of their mothers in Germany between May and November 2020, whereas a disturbingly high percentage of 55.1% were at risk in February/March 2021. 15.2% of mothers between May and November 2020, and 26.0% in February/March 2021 additionally suffered from high perceived stress levels, which, according to Calvano et al. (2021) and Freisthler, Wolf, et al. (2021), put children at risk for abuse, neglect, and domestic violence. As depressive symptoms and perceived stress seem to linearly depend on their own prior values (i.e., significant auto-regressive effects), and to reciprocally predict each other (i.e., significant cross-lagged effects), prevention and intervention programs should (1) screen and treat mothers as early as possible to mitigate the risk for subsequent depressive symptoms and perceived stress, and (2) focus on both depressive symptom reduction and perceived stress relief to most effectively decrease mothers' levels of suffering in both areas. These latter results should be regarded as preliminary and interpreted very cautiously as we faced some methodological shortcomings (i.e., only two assessment points not allowing to account for between-person associations). Nevertheless, in light of very high and increasing prevalence rates across both time points, high correlations of both constructs within time points, and a potential bidirectional link between the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress, we may conclude that mothers should be supported as early as possible, targeting both types of adversities.

Finally, the ongoing COMPARE-Interaction study was outlined to provide future perspectives, especially for the assessment of how maternal comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders may impact child cognitive and socio-emotional development, compared to solely depressive disorders and a healthy control group. As far as we are aware, the COMPARE-Interaction study is the first study to longitudinally assess the influence of comorbid maternal mood disorders on child development on a behavioral, relational, hormonal, developmental, and clinical psychological level. We focused on children's internalizing and externalizing behavior problems and their cognitive development at 24 months of age. The focus of mediating effects was set to maternal sensitivity and infant cortisol reactivity at 12 months of age.

The findings of this work provide evidentiary support that mothers should be supported as early as possible when peripartum maternal mental health issues, such as depressive or anxiety symptomatology, impaired bonding, or perceived stress, occur. This applies to the vulnerable peripartum period in general, and to the peripartum period during the exceptional state of a global pandemic in particular in order to prevent these issues during the ongoing pregnancy and in the long run. Only thus may intergenerational transmission processes be countered at early stages in order to mitigate and prevent potential detrimental effects on child development.

Chapter 1

Introduction: Associations between the Mother-Infant Relationship, Dyadic Interaction, and Child Development in the Context of Maternal Mental Health

The peripartum period is a changeable time for caregivers as parturition is regarded as a critical life event which demands major adjustment and adaptive behavior (Emmanuel & St John, 2010). Especially for mothers, emotions during pregnancy, parturition, and lying-in may often be rather extreme or very variable within a short period of time and might reach high intensities (Pieta et al., 2014). Due to the high physical and psychological demands of the peripartum period mothers may quite often experience less joy, which contradicts cultural expectancies (O'Hara, 2009). This may increase the mothers' vulnerability to develop a mental disorder (Banti et al., 2011). Particularly, maternal depressive and anxiety disorders are the most common peripartum disorders (Howard et al., 2017; Martini et al., 2015; Woody et al., 2017). Fathers may also experience increased levels of depression and anxiety (Glasser & Lerner-Geva, 2019; Leiferman et al., 2021), which may detrimentally affect children's development (Barker et al., 2017). Even though there has been a steady increase in research focusing on the potential effects of fathers on their children's development, the primary focus in developmental research has been on mothers (Reck et al., 2022). The relationship between mother and fetus/infant starts earlier than every other social relationship and is marked by the exceptional physicality during pregnancy, parturition, and, commonly, the breastfeeding phase (Fuchs, 2018; Geuter, 2015). Hence, whilst treasuring the broadening focus on fathers and wider social networks in developmental research (Barker et al., 2017; Fonagy et al., 2021), the focus of this work lies on mothers. More specifically, this work aims at shedding more light on the associations between the mother-infant relationship, dyadic interaction, and child development in the context of maternal mental health. First, this chapter gives an overview summarizing the theoretical and empirical foundation of these associations. Chapter 2 presents an empirical investigation of the mediating role of maternal bonding in the relationship between maternal psychopathology and mother-infant interaction. Chapter 3 empirically captures the maternal health status during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In chapter 4, the study protocol of an ongoing, cutting-edge developmental study is summarized. Chapter 5 integrates the findings and provides future perspectives for research and clinical practice. Before presenting the empirical findings, we¹ first present the theoretical and empirical framework we operate in and define the aforementioned terms. This framework has been well reviewed in Reck et al. (2022).

1.1 The Process of Interactive Regulation

In a considerable amount of prior research, early infant development - in particular infant affect regulation - has been associated with distinct interactive patterns in the motherinfant dyad during the first months of life (Montirosso et al., 2020; Provenzi et al., 2018). Self-regulatory as well as interactive capacities of both mother and infant co-constitute these patterns (Tronick & Beeghly, 2011). Infant researchers have been asserting for a few decades now that infants as early as three to four months of age initiate a great deal of their interactions by themselves (Beebe & Lachmann, 2020; Beebe & Stern, 1977). The early co-creation of communication between the two subjects, i.e. intersubjectivity, seems neurobiologically anchored (Fuchs, 2018). Intersubjectivity is constituted by the infant's inherent abilities for communication which encounter the caregiver's ubiquitous skills to intuitively adapt and simplify their way of communicating (e.g., motherese; Colwyn and Kenneth, 2001; Fonagy, 2015). Thus, both parties may experience a mutual engagement which continuously reinforces them.

1.1.1 The Mutual Regulation Model and the Still-Face Paradigm

Edward Tronick's research team has provided a comprehensive description of the reciprocal, mutual regulation when mother and infant interact, i.e. the Mutual Regulation Model (Tronick, 1989, 2007). Both participants in a face-to-face interaction coordinate their behavior in a way which keeps engagement, arousal, and affective regulation at optimum degrees. For the most part, both infant and mothers operate on unconscious levels when mutually adapting their behaviors. These experiences are supposedly internalized by the infant and the mother, creating, or in the mother's case expanding, the implicit relational understanding of how to interact with others. In essence, the infant expects the mother to act in a contingent manner and gets upset when his or her expectation is not met. Beebe and Lachmann (2020) described infants as "contingency-detectors from birth" [p. 314].

¹The pronouns "we/us/our" instead of "I/me/my" will be used throughout the entire work as research is a greatly collaborative process which relies on feedback and prior work of supervisors and colleagues. I, hereby, would like to emphasize, however, that the written thesis presented here is the product of the author alone.

of maternal sensitivity.

The so-called Face-to-Face Still-Face Paradigm (FFSF; Tronick et al., 1978) provides an impressive illustration of this idea. The FFSF is an experimental paradigm which is typically practiced with infants between the ages of 3 and 9 months. During three subsequent episodes, lasting two minutes each, the infant is placed in front of the mother in a reachable distance in a baby-chair so that they look at each other and play with one another. During the first episode, i.e. the play episode/phase, the mother should play and interact with her infant as she would usually do. For the second episode, i.e. the still-face episode/phase, the mother has been told to glance above the infant's head while maintaining a neutral facial expression and refraining from responding to her child. During the still-face episode, infants commonly exhibit less positive affect and a variety of behaviors, ranging from attempts to reengage the mother and fussing to gazing away and alternative forms of withdrawal (Mesman et al., 2009; Tronick & Beeghly, 2011). These behaviors are regarded as indicators that the infant perceives the interruption of maternal engagement as a stressor. During the third and final episode, i.e. the reunion episode/phase, the mother recommences to interact with her infant. DiCorcia and Tronick (2011) consider the return to a positive exchange as a marker for (1) the interactive skills of affect regulation in the mother-infant dyad, (2) the general quality of mother-infant relationship, and (3) the level

The Mutual Regulation Model states that the interaction partners constantly change between coordinated affective and behavioral states, i.e. so-called matches or matching states, and uncoordinated affective and behavioral states, i.e. so called mismatches or mismatching states. Oscillating between matches and mismatches during interactions is the norm with a commonly higher proportion of mismatching states (DiCorcia & Tronick, 2011). Most failures in coordination, however, are rapidly repaired (Tronick, 1989). This specific process of *interactive reparation*, involving the capacities of both parties to recoordinate the affect, behavior, gaze, vocalization, etc. from an asynchronous mismatching state into a synchronous matching state, is accompanied by a sense of self-efficacy and of agency that acquired interactive coping skills are effective (Fonagy, 2015; Tronick, 2007). This deep sense of self-efficacy and agency, which Tronick (1989) termed the positive affective core, is fostered by interactive reparation. Interactive repair, thus, scaffolds infants' and children's affect regulation and attachment formation (Beebe et al., 2010; Tronick, 2007). Noe et al. (2015) corroborated this conjecture as they could demonstrate that affective behavioral matching during face-to-face interaction fostered the progression from mutual regulation to infant self-regulation. The more matching states during FFSF play episode could be identified, the less negative and the more positive affect the infants demonstrated in the FFSF still-face and reunion episode, respectively. Müller et al. (2015) provided further evidence that children's affect regulation and attachment security are scaffolded by interactive reparation. In their study, a shorter latency to interactive reparation, meaning that microtemporal mismatches were on average resolved more rapidly, related to a lower infant cortisol reactivity. These three-to-eight-month-old infants were, thus, assumed to be less distressed and better regulated during the still-face episode of the FFSF experiment. Maternal diagnostic status in this sample of healthy controls vs. mothers suffering from

one or more maternal anxiety disorders was not significantly associated with infant cortisol reactivity. The authors concluded that infants react to what they experience and not to the maternal diagnostic classification. The infants of this study were followed up (Müller et al., 2022), so that at 12 to 24 months of age, their attachment style could be assessed via the Strange Situation paradigm (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Maternal diagnostic status at three to eight months postpartum best predicted ensuing child attachment style: children of mothers having suffered from an anxiety disorder were five times more likely to be insecurely attached. Insecure attachment style was also predicted by a longer latency to interactive reparation during the FFSF experiment at three to eight months postpartum. Quite notably, children who had developed an insecure attachment style at 12 to 24 months of age showed an increased cortisol reactivity during free play at a second follow up at five to six years of age (Müller et al., 2022).

To sum up, the quality of interactive regulation in mother-infant dyads affects the infant's socio-emotional development. Thus, it is crucial to investigate which maternal qualities promote favorable interactive regulation (Reck et al., 2022).

1.1.2 Central Maternal Qualities: Sensitivity, Mentalizing and Bonding

Intuitive skills when interacting with an infant or child comprise a behavioral repertoire which is biologically anchored and to a certain degree universal across cultures (H. Papoušek & Papoušek, 1987). A caregiver commonly spontaneously draws on this repertoire consisting of distinct adaptations of facial expressions and body language, i.e. more simplistic, prototypical forms of behavior, such as raising the eyebrows or other exaggerated greeting responses when the infant is looking (M. Papoušek, 2011). Making eye contact, applying motherese, i.e. specifically changing pace and pitch of speech, and calling infants by their name are also part of this repertoire (Csibra & Gergely, 2011; "Natural pedagogy," 2009). According to the infant's receptive capacity, a caregiver may intuitively adapt their behaviors (M. Papoušek, 2011). Thus, an optimal support for the infant's development is provided. However, this reciprocal process is, of course, not flawless as it demands a particular degree of responsiveness by the caregiver, which is determined by individual and environmental factors (Feldman, 2012; M. Papoušek & von Hofacker, 1995). Thinking of a depressed caregiver with reduced facial expressions may provide an example of a diminished responsiveness (Tronick & Reck, 2009), which will be further elaborated below.

To regulate their distress and negative emotions, infants only possess a limited repertoire of self-regulatory behaviors during their first few months of life, e.g. head turning, non-nutritive sucking, or hand-to-mouth movement (Kopp, 1989). Since this repertoire does not suffice to downregulate intense affective states, infants need caregivers as an external source of assistance for emotion regulation (Diener & Mangelsdorf, 1999). If the caregiver is not able to adequately respond to the infant's affect, and therefore, the dyadic regulation is impaired, children may develop a reduced tolerance of negative emotions and dysfunctional capacities to regulate stress (Gianino & Tronick, 1988). This is the reason why responsiveness, i.e. promptly responding to an infant's cues, or, even more optimal, sensitivity, i.e. promptly responding to an infant's cues in an appropriate and contingent manner, are such important maternal qualities (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Ainsworth et al. (1978) regarded a mother's sensitivity as an important component for child development as children whose mothers sensitively meet their needs are more likely to become securely attached. Subsequent attachment research has examined maternal sensitivity as one pathway through which the mother's attachment representation is transgenerationally transmitted to the offspring (De Wolff & van Ijzendoorn, 1997). Fonagy et al. (2007) went one step further and described *parental mentalizing* as a prerequisite for sensitivity. That is, caregivers need to be able to view their children's behavior as motivated by mental states, i.e. thoughts, feelings, and desires; and then appropriately interpret the behavior. Notably, this interpretation process operates on an conscious/explicit and unconscious/implicit level. According to meta-analytic findings (Zeegers et al., 2017), parental mentalizing seems to have both direct and indirect influences on attachment security. The indirect influence was mediated via parental sensitivity, thus corroborating Fonagy et al.'s (2007) conjecture of parental mentalizing being a precondition of sensitivity. First conceptualized and operationalized via an analysis of parents' verbal expressions, parental mentalizing has since been also elaborated and described on the body level (Shai & Belsky, 2011). The term parental embodied mentalizing alludes to a parent's ability to (1) implicitly conceive, understand, and extrapolate the infant's mental states from his or her whole-body movement, and (2) adapt and adjust their own body movements and kinesthetic patterns correspondingly. Shai and Meins (2018) showed that both verbal and nonverbal indices of parental mentalizing independently contributed to the prediction of attachment security. Also, besides predicting attachment security, maternal embodied mentalizing assessed at the infants' age of 6 months predicted language abilities, academic skills, behavior problems, and social competence, even after accounting for traditional measures, such as maternal sensitivity (Shai & Belsky, 2017).

According to Reck et al. (2022), another very important factor affecting infants' socioemotional development is maternal bonding. Since bonding and attachment are often applied synonymously, we follow Dubber et al. (2015) by distinguishing between bonding as referring to feelings the mother has towards her fetus or infant and attachment as describing the relationship a child has developed to its mother and other caregivers. Maternal bonding starts to develop during pregnancy and has been defined as "the extent to which women engage in behaviors that represent an affiliation and interaction with their unborn child" (Cranley, 1981, p. 282). For instance, a mother watches her belly when the baby moves or kicks, or she anticipates her role as a mother by picturing herself feeding the baby. As the pregnancy progresses, the mother-to-fetus bond usually increases (Cannella, 2005). Maternal prepartum bonding predicts a number of other important factors, such as health practices during pregnancy and adverse neonatal outcomes (J. L. Alhusen et al., 2012), the bonding quality in the subsequent postpartum period (J. Alhusen et al., 2013; Dubber et al., 2015), and maternal sensitivity (Maas et al., 2016; Shin et al., 2006). Brockington (2004) underlines the central role of building a relationship between a caregiver and an infant in the postpartum period. From a biological point of view, maternal postpartum bonding ensures the survival of the child by securing its nurturing and protection even though the price paid may be quite high (e.g., lack of sleep, lowered couple relationship satisfaction; Carter and Keverne, 2002; Schwenck et al., 2022). According to a recent meta-analysis, stronger pre- and postpartum bonding relates to more advantageous socio-emotional development in children, such as easier temperament and better attachment security (Le Bas et al., 2020).

As already mentioned above, these central qualities of maternal sensitivity, mentalizing and bonding are shaped by individual and environmental factors (Feldman, 2012; M. Papoušek & von Hofacker, 1995) and might therefore not always develop or operate smoothly. Especially in light of maternal psychopathology with the most common diagnoses of depressive and anxiety disorders, the complex process of interactive regulation may be impaired (Reck et al., 2022; Tronick, 2007). Thus, the following section focuses on maternal peripartum depression and anxiety disorders, and impaired bonding.

1.2 Peripartum Depression, Anxiety Disorders, and Impaired Bonding

1.2.1 Prevalences of Peripartum Depressive and Anxiety Disorders

The peripartum period may be a time of increased vulnerability for a mother to develop a mental disorder, in particular a depressive or anxiety disorder (Biaggi et al., 2016; Howard et al., 2017; Martini et al., 2015). However, compared to other women of child-bearing age, not all studies find higher risks for depressive and anxiety disorders for pregnant women or for those who have recently given birth, except for a slightly higher increased risk for a major depressive episode (Vesga-López et al., 2008). Prevalence rates for depressive disorders range from 3-23 % for the prepartum period (Andersson et al., 2003; Andersson et al., 2006; Banti et al., 2011; Bennett et al., 2004; Melville et al., 2010) and from 6-10 % for the postpartum period (Banti et al., 2011; Reck et al., 2008; Vesga-López et al., 2008). As about 50 % of postpartum depressive disorders start in the prepartum period, the current diagnostic manual DSM-5 speaks of depressive disorders with peripartum onset (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). For peripartum depressive disorders, Woody et al. (2017) estimated an overall adjusted pooled prevalence of 11.9 %, with higher prevalences for women from lowand middle-income countries compared to women from high-income countries. Specifically focusing on a comparison between low- and middle-income countries, Dadi et al. (2020) found a higher prevalence for postpartum depression in low-income countries, i.e. 25.8%, than in middle-income countries, i.e. 20.8 %. Notably, these rates were estimated based on primary studies which mainly applied screening tools instead of diagnostic interviews, partly explaining the much higher rates compared to the other rates presented.

Regarding anxiety disorders, Martini et al. (2015) report incident rates of 7.3 % during pregnancy which increase up to 15.6 % until 16 months postpartum, whereas Andersson et al. (2003) found a point prevalence of 6.6 % in the second trimester. The meta-analysis by J. H. Goodman et al. (2016) revealed that 8.5 % of postpartum mothers experience one or more anxiety disorders. Another meta-analysis, applying a different, i.e. Bayesian, statistical approach, estimated the prevalence of having at least one or more anxiety disorders to be 20.7 % (Fawcett et al., 2019). Reck et al. (2008) estimated a prevalence rate of 11.1 % in a German community sample for postpartum anxiety disorders. The researchers also demonstrated a high comorbidity in this sample. 18.3 % of participants who suffered from an anxiety disorder were also diagnosed with a depressive depressive disorder and 33.9 % of the mothers diagnosed with a depressive disorder also suffered from an anxiety disorder.

1.2.2 Effects on Mothers and Their Children

Depressive and anxiety disorders may have adverse consequences for affected mothers, meaning that, for example, depressed mothers seem to have difficulties connecting and building a relationship with their newborn, i.e. maternal bonding (Edhborg et al., 2011; Nonnenmacher et al., 2016). Besides typical symptoms of the respective disorders, mothers suffering from depressive and anxiety disorders may experience specific dysfunctional anxieties and cognitions concerning their infant or their role as a mother. These include overwhelming sensations and fears of being alone with the infant, excessive worries about the infant's health or even compulsive thoughts of harming the child, etc. (J. H. Goodman, 2019; Martini et al., 2008). This might affect their parenting behaviors and their capacity to build a bond to their infant (Reck et al., 2022).

That is why, on the children's side, a wide range of studies assert the detrimental longterm effects of maternal mental illness in the peripartum period on child development, concerning higher risks to develop a mental disorder, comprised cognitive and socio-emotional development as well as behavior problems (Kingston & Tough, 2014; Rasic et al., 2013). The risk for a child to develop a depressive or anxiety disorder will become two to five times higher compared to healthy controls if at least one parent suffers from a depression (Apter-Levy et al., 2013; Lieb et al., 2002; Pawlby et al., 2009). Micco et al. (2009) suggest that parental anxiety disorders also confer significantly greater risk for anxiety and depression in offspring. The risk seems to be two to nine times higher, compared to offspring of non-psychiatric controls and offspring of psychiatric controls with other disorders. Regarding developmental parameters, a wide range of systematic reviews and meta-analyses reveal detrimental effects of maternal depressive disorders on child development (Atkinson et al., 2000; S. H. Goodman et al., 2011; Kingston & Tough, 2014; Wan & Green, 2009). Among others, adverse effects could be shown for cognitive and fine motor development (Koutra et al., 2013), language skills (Quevedo et al., 2012), attachment (Martins & Gaffan, 2000; Righetti–Veltema et al., 2003), as well as executive functions and memory tasks (Vänskä et al., 2011b). Peripartum anxiety disorders also yield a risk for child development (J. H. Goodman et al., 2016). Cognitive (Ibanez et al., 2015), behavioral, and emotional (O'Connor et al., 2003) development as well as language performance (Reck, Van den Bergh, et al., 2018) may be impaired. Furthermore, Kraft et al. (2017) found out that children of mothers suffering from a social phobia showed a higher rate of insecure attachment at 16 months of age.

1.2.3 Transmission Pathways

Given this wide range of adverse effects, it is crucial to examine the specific transmission pathways of how early adversities, such as maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms, may influence infant and child development (Montirosso et al., 2020; Starr et al., 2014). Only if we get a better understanding of this complex, multicausal, and dynamic process, we may further improve specific prevention and intervention programs for caregivers and their children (Downing et al., 2014). Based on the research findings presented above, Müller (2017) presented a transmission model with three levels of mediating variables (see figure 1.1). The effects of maternal depressive and anxiety disorders on child development may be mediated via (1) an emotional level, in particular the mother-to-infant bond (Branjerdporn et al., 2017; Mason et al., 2011), (2) a dyadic behavioral level, in particular the motherinfant interaction (Edwards & Hans, 2015; Stanley et al., 2004), and (3) a regulatory level, in particular infant stress reactivity and the infants capacities to regulate stress (Gunnar & Quevedo, 2007; Ladd et al., 1998; Müller et al., 2016). All three levels are not independent of each other, but interact (Müller, 2017).

1.2.4 Effects on Mother-Infant Interaction

As multiple studies have shown that the quality of mother-infant interaction is substantially involved in the intergenerational transmission of mental disorders (Edwards & Hans, 2015; Mäntymaa et al., 2009; Reck, Nonnenmacher, et al., 2016; Stanley et al., 2004), it is crucial to further examine how mother-infant interaction is affected. A greater number of studies have already investigated the effects of peripartum depression on mother-infant interaction. Depressed mothers show more intrusive behavior, less positive affect, and more negative affect while interacting with their children (Crugnola et al., 2016; Reck et al., 2004; Tronick & Reck, 2009; Weinberg & Tronick, 1998). Kluczniok et al. (2016) revealed that mothers suffering from depression were less emotionally available, less sensitive, less structuring, and more hostile during mother-infant interaction. Furthermore, infants of depressed mothers look away from their mothers more than infants of nondepressed mothers, and they express more anger and negative affect (Tronick & Reck, 2009). It could be shown that these infant behaviors were specific, that is, infants of mothers who were emotionally unavailable and withdrawn seemed disturbed and sad and cried more frequently, whereas infants of intrusively acting mothers, more often gazed away, cried less, but demonstrated



Figure 1.1: Central mediating levels of the relationship between caregivers' mental health and child development (adapted from Müller, 2017, p. 22). Notably, this is a simplified model of a complex, multicausal, and dynamic process. Other potentially influencing variables as well as reciprocal effects between the single domains are neglected. Figure available at https://osf.io/7xdy3/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

angrier affect. Generally, infants of depressed mothers also demonstrated less effort to activate their mothers during the still-face episode of the the FFSF. Regarding dyadic measures, Reck et al. (2011) could show that for depressed mothers, the dyadic regulation is characterized by fewer positive matched states and longer latencies to reparation of mismatching states, i.e. impaired interactive reparation, during the FFSF.

Fewer studies examined anxious mothers and the effects on mother-infant interaction (J. H. Goodman et al., 2016). Besides, their results are not as consistent as for depressed mothers. Anxious mothers also seem to show less sensitive, more intrusive (Feldman et al., 2009) and less responsive behavior (Parfitt et al., 2013; Stein et al., 2012), but Kaitz et al. (2010) found no difference in sensitivity and intrusiveness. Infants of anxious mothers spent more time during the interaction showing signs of distress, gaze aversion, and crying, and less time smiling, vocalizing, and showing motor activity or imitation (Field et al., 2005; Murray et al., 2008; Stein et al., 2012). Furthermore, Reck, Tietz, et al. (2018) found an infant sex-specific characteristic when comparing a clinical and healthy control group. Male infants of anxious mothers demonstrated significantly less positive interactions than male infants of healthy controls, whereas female infants did not differ in their positive interactions. In a recent study, both maternal anxiety and depressive symptoms directly affected maternal sensitivity and indirectly affected controlling style mediated by parental embodied mentalizing (Ierardi et al., 2022)

1.2.5 Maternal Prepartum Bonding in the Context of Depression and Anxiety

Branjerdporn et al. (2017) emphasized the importance of the prepartum bonding process because lower prepartum maternal bonding seems to lead to suboptimal developmental outcomes. In turn, prepartum bonding may be negatively associated with both depression and anxiety (J. L. Alhusen, 2008). According to Lindgren (2001) and McFarland et al. (2011), higher depression scores related to lower maternal-fetal bonding, whereas Barone et al. (2014) and Seimyr et al. (2009) found no or ambiguous results for a correlation between depressive symptoms and maternal-fetal bonding. For anxiety disorders, McFarland et al. (2011) and Rubertsson et al. (2015) found little or no relation to maternal-fetal bonding. To sum up, only few quantitative studies have investigated the effect of depressive and anxiety disorders on maternal-fetal bonding. There is some evidence for a link, more so for depressive than anxiety disorders.

Effects of prepartum bonding on mother-infant interaction

A poorer or impaired maternal-fetal bond may affect mother-infant interaction. Lower prepartum bonding quality was associated with less maternal involvement when mothers interacted with their babies 12 weeks postpartum (Siddiqui & Hägglöf, 2000). Furthermore, the quality of the maternal-fetal relationship at 26 weeks of gestation predicted maternal

onding 11

sensitivity towards their 6-month-old infant during caregiving and free play situations (Maas et al., 2016).

1.2.6 Maternal Postpartum Bonding in the Context of Depression and Anxiety

In the study by Nonnenmacher et al. (2016), mothers with a current or life-time diagnosis of depression showed a poorer bonding quality on average than healthy mothers. A wide range of studies revealed similar negative associations between postpartum depressive symptoms and postpartum bonding (Busonera et al., 2017; Lehnig et al., 2019; Park et al., 2019; Reck, Zietlow, et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2005). Perry et al. (2011) and Rossen et al. (2016) focused on the whole peripartum period and found out that prepartum depressive symptoms predicted postpartum bonding problems. Furthermore, measuring depressive symptoms and mother-infant bonding at four different time points during and after pregnancy, Ohoka et al. (2014) detected significant weak to moderate correlations (r = 0.14 - 0.39) between the severity of depressive symptoms and a lower bonding quality at each time point. Ohara et al. (2017) tested the relation of mother-infant bonding and depressive symptoms using structural equation modeling and revealed interesting results about the direction of the prediction. They assessed bonding and depressive symptoms at three different time points, i.e. in early pregnancy before week 25 (T 1), in late pregnancy around week 36 (T 2), and 5 days after delivery (T 3). Their findings indicate that bonding problems predict depressive mood in the prepartum period and 5 days after birth, thus concluding that not only depressive symptoms should be treated to mitigate bonding issues, but that at the same time bonding issues should be treated to mitigate depressive symptoms.

Fewer studies investigated postpartum bonding in the context of anxiety. Müller et al. (2016) revealed that anxious mothers of older female infants (over 5.5 months of age) showed a lower quality of maternal bonding compared to healthy controls. The study by Tietz et al. (2014) also associated postpartum anxiety disorders with lower maternal bonding. However, their linear regression analysis revealed that 27 % of the overall variance might be due to aspects of pronounced avoidance behavior and concurrent subclinical depressive symptoms. They highlighted the need to target even mild depressive symptoms when treating postpartum anxiety disorder and dealing with bonding issues. Nolvi et al. (2016) also reported an association of postpartum maternal bonding problems with both postpartum maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms. However, regarding anxiety disorders, findings are not as consistent as for depressive disorders because Edhborg et al. (2011) even found a positive correlation between the severity of postpartum maternal anxiety symptoms and postpartum bonding quality. Daglar and Nur (2018) contradict these findings, asserting that postpartum maternal anxiety symptoms were negatively associated with the postpartum bond. For prepartum anxiety symptoms, on the other hand, Daglar and Nur (2018) could not find an association with postpartum bonding.

To sum up, impaired bonding more often develops in the context of pre- and postpartum depression and it may continue even after maternal depressive symptoms are remitted (Reck, Zietlow, et al., 2016). Fewer studies have investigated impaired bonding in the context of anxiety disorders, but in this context, maternal bonding may also be impaired, in particular when concurrent depressive symptoms occur (Tietz et al., 2014).

Effects of postpartum bonding on mother-infant interaction

The effects of postpartum bonding on mother-infant interaction are not that well investigated either. Some studies, however, find significant associations between postpartum bonding and the quality of the mother-infant interaction. Mason et al. (2011) revealed that a higher maternal bonding quality two months postpartum is related to better results in the mother-infant interaction 6 months postpartum. Mother-infant interaction was, however, assessed by a self-report measure (i.e., Parent-Child Dysfunctional Interaction (P-CDI); Haskett et al., 2006). Their additional analysis also revealed that maternal bonding quality mediated, rather than moderated, the effect of peripartum depressive symptoms on mother-infant interaction. Moreover, Noorlander et al. (2008) found a significant correlation between the postpartum mother-infant bond and observations of mother-infant interaction by the nursing staff during hospitalization. Furthermore, for depressed mothers, impaired bonding seems to correlate with a lack of maternal reactivity, more pejorative behavior towards the child, and more breaking off of stimulation during a videographed interaction sequence (Hornstein et al., 2006). Muzik et al. (2013) showed that mothers with postpartum depression suffered from greater impaired bonding which in turn was significantly associated with a loss in maternal sensitivity, warmth, engagement, and flexibility during a dyadic play interaction. On the other hand, Behrendt et al. (2016) and Rossen et al. (2019) found no association between maternal bonding and the dyadic interaction assessed with the Emotional Availability Scales (EA; Biringen, 2000). Regarding anxiety disorders, lower maternal bonding seems to partially mediate between maternal anxiety and increased self-comforting behaviors but solely in female infants over 5.5 months of age (Müller et al., 2016).

In case of impaired bonding, mothers may perceive or exhibit less affection toward their infant or may even think that they are not capable of "properly" loving their child (Brockington et al., 2006). Impaired bonding can even eventuate in rejection, hostility, aggressive impulses towards the child (Da Costa et al., 2006; Kitamura et al., 2006), a heightened risk of abuse and neglect (Appleby et al., 1998), and infanticide (Feldman et al., 2009; Ohoka et al., 2014). Further research on impaired bonding, therefore, is of the utmost importance.

Before displaying the findings on bonding of the research project presented in chapter 2, the following section will give an overview of maternal mental health in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. The peripartum period as a vulnerable period per se (Banti et al., 2011; O'Hara, 2009) has been even more of a challenge for mothers in light of a

global pandemic.

1.3 Maternal Mental Health in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic

1.3.1 The COVID-19 Pandemic as a General Stressor

The COVID-19 pandemic has been an ongoing stressor for the worldwide population and public health care systems (French et al., 2022; Manchia et al., 2022). Next to the threatening somatic consequences of the coronavirus disease SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19), the psychosocial effects of the virus itself or the associated confinement measures on the general population have been vast and well-documented in several studies and meta-analyses, suggesting higher rates of depression, generalized anxiety, depression, insomnia, and psychological distress (Bäuerle et al., 2020; Mahmud et al., 2022; Peters et al., 2021; Salari et al., 2020). A current systematic review asserted that the COVID-19 pandemic and its accompanying confinement measures may be conceptualized as traumatic events and that the COVID-19 pandemic may be associated with trauma sequelae (Kaubisch et al., 2022).

Especially for families, the confinement measures, such as social distancing and the closure of daycare centers and schools, have been challenging as parents had to meet multiple demands simultaneously, not only resulting in higher levels of stress, anxiety, depressive symptoms as well as poorer sleep and physical activities for parents (Brown et al., 2020; Freisthler, Gruenewald, et al., 2021; Kracht et al., 2021), but also putting children at a number of risks. Freisthler, Wolf, et al. (2021) saw children at risk for abuse and neglect since the daily assessment of parental stress and use of aggressive discipline from April to May 2020 demonstrated that for each higher level of stress, parents had 1.3 greater odds of aggressively disciplining their children, comprising corporal punishment and psychological aggression. Calvano et al. (2021) examined a subgroup of parents who reported adverse childhood experiences in their child's lifetime. 29.1% of these parents reported that their children witnessed increased domestic violence during the pandemic. Hence, investigating parents' mental health during the pandemic is of the utmost importance.

Parents of children aged 0-6 years, mothers compared to fathers, and parents with a higher level of education seem to be most affected by the pandemic situation (Hübener et al., 2020). Further risk factors comprise being single, staying with more children, and younger age (Kowal et al., 2020). As stated in the first part of this chapter, mothers in the peripartum period in general are particularly prone to developing a mental disorder, foremost a depressive disorder (Woody et al., 2017), and to be stressed by the various challenges connected to the demands of child-rearing (Reck, Zietlow, et al., 2016). In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, this vulnerability may have increased.

1.3.2 Maternal Depressive Symptomatology and Perceived Stress

Recent meta-analyses indeed report an increase in maternal peripartum depressive symptomatology in the context of the pandemic (Q. Chen et al., 2022; Racine et al., 2022; Safi-Keykaleh et al., 2022; Yan et al., 2020). Notably, the more up-to-date the meta-analysis is, the higher the prevalence of scores above established cut-offs appears to be: (1) 22% (95% CI 15–29%) for a study inclusion up to September 2020 (Yan et al., 2020), (2) 26.9% (95% CI: 21.3-33.4%) up to March 2021 (Racine et al., 2022), (3) 28% (95% CI = 23-33%) up to August 2021 (Safi-Keykaleh et al., 2022), and (4) 34% (95% CI: 21–46%) up to November 2021 (Q. Chen et al., 2022). A pre-pandemic meta-analysis on postpartum depressive symptomatology yielded a pooled prevalence for low-income countries of 25.8% (95% CI: 17.9–33.8%) and for middle-income countries of 20.8% (95% CI: 18.4–23.1%). Considering the overlapping confidence intervals, this descriptive trend should be interpreted cautiously. However, studies comparing pre- to post-pandemic study means found statistically significant differences (Davenport et al., 2020; Fallon et al., 2021), corroborating the assumption that the ongoing pandemic of multiple waves increasingly affected the severity of maternal depressive symptoms (Q. Chen et al., 2022).

Regarding stress levels, mothers were not only distressed over childbirth under severe restrictions (Bertholdt et al., 2020; DeYoung & Mangum, 2021; Venta et al., 2021; Zanardo et al., 2020), but also perceived changes in children's routines, worries about COVID-19, as well as closures of school and child care facilities as highly stressful (Adams et al., 2021; Hiraoka & Tomoda, 2020). Other studies showed higher levels of perceived stress compared to pre-pandemic levels (Suárez-Rico et al., 2021) and a significant increase of stress levels during the pandemic (Calvano et al., 2021; Spinelli et al., 2020). Achterberg et al. (2021) more closely investigated the role of perceived stress for longitudinal effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on parents' and children's wellbeing. They found that parents' perceived stress during lockdown mediated the relationship between parents' negative feelings (i.e. feelings of anxiety, depression, hostility) before the lockdown and parents' negative feelings during lockdown. This result highlights the strong relation between perceived stress and depressive symptoms which is argued to be reciprocal (Hammen, 2005).

Perceived stress, defined as the extent to which a situation is appraised as unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloading (S. Cohen et al., 1983), may be regarded as a symptom of depression, implying a certain overlap of these constructs and accounting, to some degree, for their strong correlation ranging from .63 to .76 (S. Cohen et al., 1983; Reis et al., 2019). Still, perceived stress has proven to be a valid, independent predictor of other constructs, such as anxiety, insomnia, or physical symptomatology (S. Cohen et al., 1983; Reis et al., 2019). Investigating the bidirectional link between stress and depression has been of particular interest for some time now (Brose et al., 2017; Hammen, 1991). Stress can increase the risk for depression, implying a stress exposure model of depression (Monroe & Reid, 2009). Depression, or depressogenic vulnerabilities can, in turn, enhance the susceptibility to stressful events which are at least partly influenced by the individual, implying a
stress generation model (Hammen, 1991; Liu & Alloy, 2010). Several studies tested this bidirectional etiological model of stress and depression, providing evidence for either one or both directions. In a longitudinal experience sampling study, Brose et al. (2017) found that daily stressful experiences precede but do not succeed depressive symptoms. Another study yielded significant predictions for both pathways across two time points, that is, preceding levels of depressive symptoms predicted greater stress generation, and greater levels of stress also predicted higher levels of depressive symptoms (Calvete et al., 2013). Other results demonstrated that depression predicted stress, contrary to the researcher's primary assumption that stress predicts depression (Galaif et al., 2003). Another study detected predictions in both directions (Martinez & Bámaca-Colbert, 2019). Additionally, strong predictions for the auto-regressive paths were observed, meaning that prior depressive symptoms predicted subsequent depressive symptoms, and the same applied to the stress level (Calvete et al., 2013; Martinez & Bámaca-Colbert, 2019). Notably, these studies were conducted with adolescents or first year university students.

Regarding maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress in the peripartum period, few longitudinal studies exist. They focused on assessing the interplay and different trajectories of perceived stress and depressive symptoms up to 2 years after delivery (Chow et al., 2019; Law et al., 2019; Leonard et al., 2020). Elevated levels of prepartum depressive symptoms put women at significant risk of higher stress up to two years after delivery (Chow et al., 2019). This result is pertinent as considerable research has already substantiated the robust role of stress as a precipitating factor for recurrent or persistent depressive episodes (Mora et al., 2008; Santos et al., 2017). Furthermore, perceived stress mediated the relationship between lower perceived social support and depressive symptoms (Leonard et al., 2020). Also, Law et al. (2019) consistently discovered significant and moderate-tostrong positive correlations within their multiple measurement points (r = .58 - .81.). These studies underscored the concurrent comorbidity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress during the process of pregnancy and early motherhood.

To the author's best knowledge, no studies have investigated the reciprocal relationship between the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress over the course of early motherhood during the COVID-19 pandemic. We, therefore, set out to further examine this relationship, which will be presented in chapter 3. First, however, we will go back to pre-COVID times and investigate maternal mental health and its associations with preand postpartum bonding as well as dyadic interaction in the next chapter.

Chapter 2

Study 1: Peripartum Maternal Depressive and Anxiety Disorders and Dyadic Interaction: Investigating the Mediating Role of Pre- and Postpartum Bonding

The goal of this first study was to shed more light on the associations between maternal depressive and anxiety disorders, pre- and postpartum bonding, as well as dyadic interaction. More specifically, we examined whether the interactive reparation, i.e. the latency to resolve an affective behavioral mismatching state and transform it into a matching state, was influenced by maternal depressive and/or anxiety disorders, and whether that effect was mediated by pre- and/or postpartum bonding. Since multiple studies have shown that the quality of mother-infant interaction is substantially involved in the intergenerational transmission of mental disorders (Edwards & Hans, 2015; Mäntymaa et al., 2009; Reck, Nonnenmacher, et al., 2016; Stanley et al., 2004), it is crucial to investigate how the interaction quality may be influenced. Before doing so, we shortly highlight and refresh some important theoretical and empirical background which has been presented in chapter 1.

2.1 Theoretical Background

Peripartum maternal depressive and anxiety disorders may adversely affect child development (J. H. Goodman et al., 2016; Kingston & Tough, 2014). Mother-infant interaction has been shown to be substantially involved in the transmission of these adverse effects (Edwards & Hans, 2015; Reck, Nonnenmacher, et al., 2016). Hence, it is crucial to further investigate which factors may potentially lead to a lower quality of mother-infant interaction (Müller, 2017; Reck et al., 2022). A wider range of studies have addressed the negative effects of peripartum depressive disorder on mother-infant interaction (Tronick & Reck, 2009), whereas fewer studies have investigated the adverse effects of peripartum anxiety disorders (Feldman et al., 2009). Adjacent to maternal psychopathology, motherinfant interaction is also influenced by maternal prepartum (Maas et al., 2016; Siddiqui & Hägglöf, 2000) and postpartum (Mason et al., 2011; Muzik et al., 2013) bonding. In turn, prepartum and postpartum bonding may be negatively correlated with both depression and anxiety (J. L. Alhusen, 2008; Lehnig et al., 2019; Müller et al., 2016; Tietz et al., 2014). Only very few studies investigated the associations of both prepartum and postpartum bonding with depressive and anxiety symptoms in a longitudinal design (Dubber et al., 2015; Ohara et al., 2017; Rossen et al., 2016). So far, to our best knowledge no study prospectively examined the effects of both maternal psychopathology and bonding during and after pregnancy on mother-infant interaction. Mason et al. (2011) found out that postpartum maternal feelings of bonding mediated the relationship between postpartum maternal depression and mother-child interaction, which is why we aimed to further investigate the mediating role of maternal bonding in the course of both maternal depressive and anxiety disorders. Our goal was

- 1. to investigate the mediating role of maternal prepartum bonding and maternal impaired¹ postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal psychopathology (depressive and/or anxiety disorders) and a lower quality of mother-infant interaction, meaning a longer latency to interactive reparation during the challenging reunion phase of the FFSF (hypothesis (H) 1),
- 2. to specify the mediating role of bonding in the relationship between the severity of depressive symptoms and a longer latency to repair (H2), and
- 3. to specify the same mediating role, but in the context of anxiety symptoms (H3).

Figure 2.1 depicts these associations in a serial mediation model.

Concerning the direction of relationships, we hypothesize that a maternal psychopathological diagnosis or higher symptom severity are associated with lower maternal prepartum bonding and higher impaired postpartum bonding as well as a longer latency to interactive reparation.

As an additional exploratory analysis, we took Ohara et al.'s (2017) findings for depressive symptoms into consideration by investigating the reciprocal relations between maternal bonding and depressive symptoms in a more complex model (see figure 2.2). Equally to Ohara et al. (2017), we examined bonding and symptoms across three measurement points. In addition to Ohara et al. (2017), we did not only investigate depressive symptom severity but also looked into the severity of anxiety symptoms.

¹Notably, the constructs, maternal prepartum bonding and impaired postpartum bonding, are named according to what the values obtained from their scale represent (see Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale and Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire in 2.2.3)



Figure 2.1: Mediation model with two potential serial mediators, i.e. maternal prepartum bonding and maternal impaired postpartum bonding. Path a_1*b_1 : indirect effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal prepartum bonding. Path a_2*b_2 : indirect effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal postpartum bonding. Path a_1*d*b_2 : indirect effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation through maternal prepartum and postpartum bonding in serial. Path c': direct effect of maternal psychopathology on interactive reparation.

Examining maternal psychopathology included testing a clinical group of mothers suffering from depressive and/or anxiety disorders against a healthy control group (model 1), investigating the severity of depressive symptoms across both groups (model 2), and investigating the severity of anxiety symptoms across both groups (model 3). Notably, the constructs, maternal prepartum bonding and *impaired* postpartum bonding, are named according to what the values obtained from their scale represent (see Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale and Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire in 2.2.3). Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

2.2 Method

In order to ensure a thoroughly transparent and reproducible research process, this study was pre-registered and supplementary files were made publicly available (see section 2.5 for access to all documents and files). As the following data analyses were based on a data set which had been collected up to January 2015, access to the data was first granted after pre-registration. The STROBE guidelines (von Elm et al., 2014) were adhered to in order to provide a standardized way of presenting our observational study.

2.2.1 Participants

The sample is part of a larger longitudinal study funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG). Inclusion criteria for (1) the clinical group were at least one of the following depressive and/or anxiety disorders according to the DSM-IV (American Psychiatric As-



Figure 2.2: Exploratory structural equation model depicting the potential relationship between maternal depressive or anxiety symptoms and maternal bonding. This exploratory model follows the structure of a cross-lagged panel design with (1) auto-regressive effects, i.e. i_i and h_i , examining the stability within constructs across time, (2) cross-lagged effects, i.e. k_i and j_i , examining the relation between constructs across time, and (3) correlations, i.e. e_i , examining the relation between constructs within measurement points. Notably, the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms were assessed in three separate exploratory models: exploratory model 1 examining depressive symptoms, exploratory model 2 examining state anxiety symptoms, and exploratory model 3 examining trait anxiety symptoms. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

sociation, 2000) before and/or during the prepartum period: major depressive disorder, dysthymia, panic disorder with or without agoraphobia, agoraphobia without history of panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, obsessive compulsive disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder, and anxiety disorder not otherwise specified. A specific phobia as the only diagnosis was not included. Further exclusion criteria for clinical mothers included: an acute or former psychosis, current or former bipolar disorder, current substance abuse, or acute suicidal tendency. Mothers of the (2) healthy control group needed to have no current or antecedent diagnosis according to the DSM-IV. Besides, participants of both groups and their infants did not suffer from any severe physical diseases.

99 mothers were recruited from maternity hospitals and gynecological clinics in Heidelberg and Mannheim, Germany, between March 2010 and January 2015. 23 mothers missed either missed their first appointment or needed to be excluded after the first diagnostic interview. All other assessments (n = 76) took place at the University Hospital of Heidelberg, Germany. 5 mothers dropped out before giving birth due to the following reasons: change of residence, lack of time, questionable psychotic disorder, or a severe gastrointestinal disease. From the remaining sample of 71 mothers who completed the study 12 mothers could not be part of our main analyses as mother-infant interaction could not be coded due to technical issues with the videos. Thus, our final study sample comprised 59 mothers.

Out of these 59 mothers, 21 mothers were healthy and thus assigned to the control group. 38 mothers either suffered from a current (n = 21) or lifetime (n = 17) depression or anxiety disorder and were therefore allocated to the clinical group. The clinical group comprised 6 mothers with an anxiety disorder, 15 mothers with a depressive disorder, and 17 mothers with a comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders. Initially, we intended to separately analyze two clinical groups with depressive disorders and anxiety disorders, which, however, was not feasible due to difficult recruitment and therefore small sample size.

2.2.2 Procedure

After a screening and interview via telephone, mothers in their first or second trimester were invited to the laboratory of the Heidelberg University Hospital where written informed consent was obtained. The study protocol was approved by the independent ethics committee of the Heidelberg University Medical Faculty. First, the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID; (Wittchen et al., 1997)) was conducted. Subsequently, questionnaires assessing the mothers' sociodemographic status, symptom severity, and bonding were filled out at home. Diagnostic and sociodemographic status, symptom severity, and bonding were assessed between the 9th and 12th (T0), the 19th and 22nd (T1) and the 29th and 32nd (T2) week of pregnancy, as well as between the 4th and 8th week postpartum (T3), and between the 12th and 16th week postpartum (T4). Notably, recruitment at T0 was not feasible probably due to this very early stage of pregnancy, which is why the study protocol was changed to include mothers until the 22nd week of pregnancy. We, therefore, regarded T1 as the actual first measurement point of the study and did not include any of the very sparse data of T0 in our analyses.

In addition to the interviews and self-report measures, mother-infant interaction during the FFSF was videographed in the laboratory at T4. The infant was secured in a booster seat in front of the mother who was briefed applying a standard text. One camera each focused on the infant and on the mother. A single screen, simultaneously displaying the two different frontal views, was created by transmitting both recordings through a split-screen generator. The FFSF paradigm consists of three episodes each lasting 2 minutes. First, there is an initial face-to-face interaction in which the mothers are instructed to play with their infant as usual but without using any toys and pacifiers. In the following episode, the still-face episode, the mothers have to turn their heads aside while silently counting to 10 and then turn back to the infant but not engage in any gestures, facial expressions, or vocalizations, creating a prolonged state of interactional mismatch. Finally, the procedure ends with the reunion episode in which the mother is required to resume the face-to-face play with her infant. Each episode was ended by a tap from a research assistant from the adjoining room, which likewise served as the initiation of subsequent episodes.

2.2.3 Instruments

Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID)

Postpartum maternal depressive and anxiety disorders were assessed with the German version of the SCID-I (Wittchen et al., 1997). At the time of assessment, it had been a widely applied semistructured interview for the diagnosis of selected axis I disorders, which has been updated in the meantime.

Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

Symptom severity of depressive symptoms was assessed by the German version (Bergant et al., 1998) of the Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (Cox et al., 1987; see appendix A.1 for full questionnaire). As a ten-item self-rating scale, each item coded from 0 to 3, it has been validated for the detection of prepartum as well as postpartum depression in numerous studies (Matthey et al., 2006). A higher sum score indicates a higher severity of depressive symptoms during the last seven days. Matthey et al. (2001) demonstrated a high sensitivity and specificity of the EPDS in detecting depressive disorders in mothers. In our sample, EPDS data revealed good to excellent internal consistencies at all measurement points (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.85 - 0.93$).

State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI)

In order to assess the participants' severity of anxiety, we applied the German version (Laux et al., 1981) of the State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI; Spielberger et al., 1970) as a reliable and valid measure for both clinical and nonclinical populations (see

appendix A.2 for full questionnaire). The STAI is divided into two subscales: (1) the state scale (STAI-S) evaluates feelings of apprehension, tension, nervousness and worry as anxiety of a temporary condition, whereas (2) the trait scale (STAI-T) refers to anxiety as a temporally stable personality feature. Both subscales comprise 20 items. In order to assess the acute status of severity of anxiety, we only included the STAI-S into our main analyses. Mothers rated their symptoms on a 4-point scale from 1 (almost never/not at all) to 4 (almost always/very much). The sum score of the STAI-S, therefore, ranges from 20 to 80 points. A higher sum score represents greater severity of anxiety. We considered the STAI-S to be suitable for our study as it does not contain any somatic symptoms, which are very common during pregnancy due to other reasons than anxiety. Thus, we aimed to minimize a pregnancy-related bias in our assessment of anxiety. Besides, both subscales of the STAI were also validated to DSM-IV criteria for the prepartum period (Grant et al., 2008). The STAI-S data yielded excellent internal consistencies at all measurement points (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.94 - 0.95$).

Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale (MFAS)

Prepartum maternal bonding was assessed with the revised version (Van den Bergh, 1989) of the Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale (MFAS; Cranley, 1981). We used the German translation by Dubber et al. (2015), validated by Doster et al. (2018; see appendix A.3 for full questionnaire). In contrast to the original version with five subscales, this validation revealed a three-factor solution, constituting the three independent dimensions "anticipation", "empathy", and "caring". The MFAS comprises a total of 24 items, assessing the relationship between mother and fetus. Participants score the items on a 7-point Likert-scale from 1 for "definitely no" to 7 for "definitely yes". Scores may be either added up for each subscale or for the total scale. As we were interested in the overall bond between mother and fetus, we did the latter. The total sum scores range from 24 to 168, with higher sum scores indicating greater bonding to the fetus. The MFAS total scale reached acceptable to good internal consistencies at all of the measurement points (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.78 - 0.82$).

Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire - 16 (PBQ-16)

To assess maternal impaired postpartum bonding, we applied the abridged German version (PBQ-16; Reck et al., 2006) of the Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire, originally developed by Brockington et al. (2001; see appendix A.4 for full questionnaire). Reck et al. (2006) could not confirm the four factor structure of the original English version in a German validation study (n = 862), which is why nine of the 25 items were eliminated for a one factor structure solution. The remaining 16-items are scored on a 6-point Likert-scale (1 for "always" to 6 for "never"). The sum score ranges from 16 to 86. Higher values represent a poorer quality of bonding, which we refer to as impaired bonding. For the 16-item version of the PBQ, Reck et al. (2006) report a Cronbach's α of 0.85. In our data, the PBQ reached a good internal consistency of $\alpha = 0.80$.

Coding of Infant Behavior During the FFSF: Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases-Revision.

The videotaped FFSF experiments were coded by a trained and reliable coder using the microanalytic coding system Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases (ICEP-R; Reck et al., 2009). The ICEP-R is based on Tronick's Monadic Phases Scoring System (Tronick et al., 1980) and the Infant and Maternal Regulatory Scoring Systems (IRSS & MRSS; Tronick and Weinberg, 1990a, 1990b). The different ICEP-R phases combine information from the caregiver's and the infant's face, direction of gaze and vocalizations. First, the infant's engagement phases are coded, including (1) negative engagement (further divided into (2) protest and (3) withdrawn). (4) object/environment engagement, (5) social monitor, and (6) social positive engagement. Second, the caregiver's engagement phases are coded, comprising (1) negative engagement (further divided into (2) withdrawn, (3) intrusive, and (4) hostile), (5) non-infant focused engagement, (6) social monitor/no or neutral vocalizations, (7) social monitor/positive vocalizations, and (8) social positive engagement. Additional infant codes, which may co-occur with the engagement codes, include (1) oral and (2) manual self-comforting behaviors, (3) distancing, and (4) automatic stress indicators (see appendix B for full coding manual). Reliable coders need to achieve an interrater reliability of Cohen's $\kappa = 0.75$ and are blinded to the maternal psychiatric status as well as to the hypotheses of the study. Cohen's κ was determined for the categorical engagement phase codes on a second-by-second basis. The video tapes were coded using the Noldus Observer Video-Pro[®] coding system with 1-second time intervals by one reliable coder of our study team. 20 % of the the videos will be randomly selected and coded by a second independent coder before publishing our results in an academic journal.

We defined matching states as the mother and infant simultaneously exhibiting the same affective-behavioral state (Tronick, 2007). In order to describe the process of interactive reparation, we focused on positive social matches, assuming this coordinated state to be a sign of positive interaction (Beeghly et al., 2011). We defined a *positive social match* as follows: the infant is either in social monitor or positive engagement, while the mother is in social monitor/positive vocalizations or social positive engagement. More specifically, the following overlapping codes count as a positive social match:

- 1. Caregiver's social positive engagement (Cpos) + Infant's social positive engagement (Ipos)
- 2. Caregiver's social positive engagement (Cpos) + Infant's social monitor (Ineu)
- 3. Social monitor/positive vocalizations (Cpvc) + Infant's positive social engagement (Ipos)

Notably, an overlap of Cpvc and Ineu is not regarded as sufficient to count as a positive social match because the exhibition of a clear positive affect is not given on either side. As an illustration of the ICEP coding, the whole 360 s, i.e. 6 min, of one dyadic exemplary interaction during the FFSF experiment was plotted as a time series (see 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Exemplary time series of one dyadic interaction during the Face-to-Face Still-Face experiment. The mother's time series is presented at the top and the infant's time series at the bottom. ICEP = Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases; TRANS = transition phase of 10 seconds before the still-face episode starts; CPVC = Caregiver's social monitor/positive vocalizations; CPOS = Caregiver's social positive engagement; CNEU= Caregiver's social monitor/no or neutral vocalizations; CINT = Caregiver's intrusive affect/behavior; IPRO = Infant's protesting; IPOS = Infant's social positive engagement; INON = Infant's object/environment engagement; INEU = Infant's social monitor. Notably, not all ICEP codes were observed within this dyad. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

Our outcome measure, i.e. the latency to interactive reparation, was computed as the average mismatch duration in seconds, meaning the average time interval from positive social match offset to positive social match onset. As an additional exploratory measure we looked into relative time durations of positive social matching states, i.e. the sum of seconds the dyads spent in positive social matching states divided by the time of the reunion episode of the FFSF. We focused on the challenging reunion episode as it is particularly informative regarding the regulatory quality of the interaction (Weinberg & Tronick, 1996).

2.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Analyses were conducted using R, version 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2021). Post-hoc power was estimated via G*Power 3.1 (Faul et al., 2007). We employed serial mediation analyses using the packages "lavaan" (Rosseel, 2012), "semPlot" (Epskamp et al., 2022), "mma" (Yu & Li, 2020), and "dplyr" (Wickham et al., 2021). Parameter estimates were obtained by a maximum-likelihood estimation with robust estimators of model fit (MLR) with robust (Huber-White) standard errors and a scaled test statistic that is (asymptotically) equal to the Yuan-Bentler test statistic as it is robust against the violation of normal distribution (Rosseel, 2020). A full information maximum likelihood (FIML) approach was be applied to compensate for missing data. To evaluate the quality of model fits, we inspected a range of fit indices, including the comparative fit index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis index (TLI; also called the non-normed fit index), the root-mean-square error of approximation (RMSEA), and the standardized root-mean-square residual (SRMR). In line with Hu and Bentler (1999) and Kline (2016), cut-off values for good model fit were CFI > .90, TLI > .90, SRMR < .09, and RMSEA < .08. Cut-offs for excellent model fit were CFI > .95, TLI > .95, SRMR < .08, and RMSEA < .06.

As we focus on the links and overall scores of our variables rather than the measurement procedure, we tested three pathway models, each comprising four manifest variables (see figure 2.1). Model test 1 included (1) a binary independent variable, i.e. the assessment of maternal psychopathology revealed a maternal diagnosis of depression and/or anxiety (dummy coded as 1) or did not reveal any diagnosis (dummy coded as 0) taken from measurement point T1, (2) a continuous mediating variable, i.e. the sum score of the MFAS taken from T2, (3) a second continuous mediating variable in series, i.e. the sum score of the PBQ-16 taken from T3, and (4) a continuous dependent variable, i.e. the latency to interactive reparation taken from T4. Model test 2 and 3 only differed in including the sum scores of the EPDS and the STAI-S of T1 as the respective independent variable. We hypothesized significant indirect effects in mediation model 1:

> $a_{11} * b_{11}$ (H1a), $a_{21} * b_{21}$ (H1b), $a_{11} * d_1 * b_{21}$ (H1c),

model 2:

$$a_{12} * b_{12}$$
 (H2a),
 $a_{22} * b_{22}$ (H2b),
 $a_{12} * d_2 * b_{22}$ (H2c),

and model 3:

 $a_{13} * b_{13}$ (H3a), $a_{23} * b_{23}$ (H3b), $a_{13} * d_3 * b_{23}$ (H3c).

Our pathway signifiers are named according to the model they belong to, i.e. a_{11} represents a_1 in model 1, a_{12} represents a_1 in model 2, a_{13} represents a_1 in model 3, and so on. Empirical p values are two-tailed (critical $\alpha = .05$). It is noteworthy that all three mediation models are saturated models, inherently producing a perfect model fit which is of little statistical use. They may still be interpreted due to our strong theoretical foundation.

In case of non-significant initial direct effects (i.e., initial pathway c), no direct association between the independent and dependent variable can be assumed, which is why we would refrain from interpreting potential mediation effects in such cases. Further preconditions for mediation analysis are (Hayes, 2018):

- 1. Normal distribution of residuals, i.e. residuals follow a normal distribution, which is crucial for parametric analyses, can be investigated by visual examination of histograms and by a Shapiro-Wilk test. A significant result indicates non-normal distribution.
- 2. Linearity, i.e. a linear association between variables, can be assumed which can be examined by visual analysis of the data.
- 3. Homoscedasticity, i.e. homogeneity of variance, can be tested via a Breusch-Pagan test. A significant result indicates non-homogeneity of variances, i.e. heteroscedasticity.
- 4. Independence of residuals is secured via the study design and can be assumed in our case.
- 5. Temporal precedence is also secured via our study design as our independent variables, serial mediators, and outcome variable were assessed at consecutive time points. Thus, the serial mediators and outcome variable are each predicted by a temporally preceding variable.

Concerning outliers, we did not exclude cases based on deviations from the respective group means, in order not to further reduce the sample size and not to affect the representativeness of our sample. We screened for outliers and conducted sensitivity analyses where necessary to test the robustness of our main analyses. Outliers were defined as participants more than 1.5 interquartile ranges above the upper quartile (75 %) or below the lower quartile (25 %) of the respective variable.

Besides, we ensured comparability between the clinical group and the control group by exploring several sociodemographic as well as pregnancy- and birth-related variables, such as maternal and infant age, relationship status, gestational age etc., via two sample t tests, Wilcoxon rank sum tests, also known as Mann-Whitney U tests, and χ^2 tests. A full list of these variables is demonstrated in tables 2.1 and 2.2.

As additional exploratory analyses, we employed structural equation modelling to test the models presented in figure 2.2. Considering our sample size and the many pathways to be estimated, we meant to only very cautiously interpret the results of the exploratory models. Nevertheless, compared to other clinical studies (Behrendt et al., 2019; Juengst et al., 2017), our sample size may be considered sufficient to possibly draw some meaningful conclusions.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Preliminary Analysis

Maternal and infant sociodemographic as well as pregnancy- and birth-related data are presented in tables 2.1 and 2.2, which also show tests of comparability between the control and clinical group. Groups were comparable except for the mothers' educational level. Mothers of the control group were more highly educated (W = 497, p = .035).

2.3.2 Model Assumptions

We tested the following preconditions of mediation analyses: (1) normal distribution of residuals, (2) linearity, and (3) homoscedasticity.

Normal Distribution of Residuals

For model 1, residuals followed a normal distribution according to a visual check of the Q-Q plot and a non-significant Shapiro-Wilk normality test (p = .110). Residuals of model 2 were not normally distributed (p < .001), nor were residuals of model 3 (p < .001).

	Total M (SD)	Control M (SD)	Clinical M (SD)	t(p)
Maternal Age at T1 (yr.)	31.62(4.49)	31.00 (4.29)	31.95(4.61)	-0.76 (.450)
	Total n	Control n	Clinical n	W(p)
Number of children				34 (.083)
1	14	4	10	
2	9	1	8	
3	1	0	1	
4	1	0	1	
Educational level				497 (.035)
No school degree	0	0	0	
Low secondary education	0	0	0	
High secondary education	10	2	8	
University qualification	9	1	8	
University degree	39	18	21	
	Total n	Control n	Clinical n	χ^2 (p)
In a relationship				$0.12 \ (.724)^{\rm a}$
No	2	0	2	
Yes	55	21	34	
Parity				2.49 (.114)
Nulliparae	35	16	19	
Multiparae	23	5	18	
Breastfeeding after birth				$3.40 \ (.639)^{\rm a}$
No	4	0	4	
Immediately	27	9	18	
Within 30 min	9	4	5	
Within 1 h	5	1	4	
Within 1-6 h	9	4	5	
> 6 h	3	1	2	
Holding child after birth				$4.09 (.394)^{a}$
No	0	0	0	
Immediately	47	15	32	
Within 30 min	3	2	1	
Within 1 h	2	1	1	
Within 1-6 h	5	1	4	
$> 6 \; { m h}$	1	1	0	

Table 2.1: Mothers' Descriptive Statistics of Sociodemographic Data and Tests of Comparability between the Control and Clinical Group.

Note. M = arithmetic mean; SD = standard deviation; t = t value of the two sample t-test; p = p value; n = sample size; W = W value of the Wilcoxon rank sum test; χ^2 = Chi value of the Chi-squared test; T1 = first measurement point. Parity is the number of times a woman gave birth at a viable gestational age, comprising live births and stillbirths. If the sum of the total sample size does not add up to the complete sample size of 59, the remainder indicates the number of missing values for this variable.

^a Additional Fisher's exact test due to low cell counts: In a relationship: p = .526; Breastfeeding after birth: p = .684; Holding child after birth: p = .383

Table 2.2: Infants' Descriptive Statistics of Sociodemographic Data and Tests of Comparability between the Control and Clinical Group.

	Total M (SD)	Control M (SD)	Clinical M (SD)	t (p)
Infant Age at T4 (yr.)	4.03 (0.35)	4.12 (0.32)	3.99(0.36)	1.41 (.163)
Gestational age (wks.)	39.74(1.26)	39.73(1.23)	39.74(1.29)	-0.04 (.967)
Birth weight (g) 3469.48 (430.67)		3558.00(441.49)	3422.89 (423.29)	1.14(.260)
APGAR 10 min.	9.96(0.20)	$10.00 \ (0.00)$	9.94(0.24)	1.03(.310)
	Total n	Control n	Clinical n	$\chi^2 \ (p)$
Infant gender				0.73 (.394)
female	26	11	15	
male	32	9	23	
Birth mode				$3.09 (.214)^{a}$
Spontaneous	46	14	32	
Primary section	6	2	4	
Secondary section	6	4	2	

Note. M = arithmetic mean; SD = standard deviation; t = t value of the two sample t-test; p = p value; n = sample size; χ^2 = Chi value of the Chi-squared test; T4 = fourth measurement point. The APGAR value is a score assessed directly after birth, evaluating the newborn's muscle tone, pulse, respiration, grimace, and appearance. It ranges from 0 to 10 with healthy children receiving values of 8 to 10.

If the sum of the total sample size does not add up to the complete sample size of 59, the remainder indicates the number of missing values for this variable.

^a Additional Fisher's exact test due to low cell counts: Birth mode: p = .307

Linearity

A visual examination of the three scatter plots of the latency to interactive repair on each the diagnostic grouping variable, the severity of depressive symptoms, and the severity of anxiety symptoms revealed no linear association between the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms and the latency to interactive repair. For the binary diagnostic variable, a linear trend could be seen, which, however, pointed in the opposite direction as assumed, i.e. a shorter latency to interactive reparation in the clinical group instead of the postulated longer latency in the clinical group. This trend, however, did not reach significance according to linear regression analysis ($\beta = -0.568$, p = 0.0501) even though the same linear association reached significance in model 1 of the main analyses (see below and 2.4), which will be elaborated in the discussion. In order to further corroborate our visual check of scatter plots and correlation analysis, we also tested the association between the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms and the latency to interactive repair via linear regression analysis, revealing insignificant results (depressive symptoms: $\beta = -0.039$, p = 0.783; anxiety symptoms: $\beta = -0.018$, p = 0.896). When removing a detected outlier with a relatively high latency to interactive repair, there was still no linear association between the three independent variables and latency to interactive reparation. The beta weights of this paragraph represent the initial c_1 , c_2 , and c_3 pathways of mediation model 1, 2, and 3; describing the solitary influence of the independent variable on the dependent variable without considering potential mediators or moderators.

Homoscedasticity

For model 1, the Breusch-Pagan test revealed a significant result (p = .003), and thus, indicated non-homogeneity of variances, i.e. heteroscedasticity. For model 2 and 3, the Breusch-Pagan test yielded an insignificant result, thus indicating homoscedasticity ($p_2 = .715$, $p_3 = .886$).

2.3.3 Main Analysis

Testing our three main mediation models yielded the following results. As a reminder, models only differed in their independent variable: Model 1 examined the diagnostic group, model 2 the severity of depressive symptoms, and model 3 the severity of state anxiety symptoms as the independent variable (see again figure 2.1 to be reminded of the following parameter indices).

Regarding model 1, we could not support hypotheses H1a, meaning the indirect effect of the diagnostic group on the latency to interactive repair via maternal prepartum bonding did not reach significance (standardized indirect effect: $a_{11} * b_{11} = 0.002$, p = .842). The indirect effect of the diagnostic group on the latency to interactive repair via maternal impaired postpartum bonding (H1b) did not reach significance either (standardized indirect effect: $a_{21} * b_{21} = 0.018$, p = .573), nor did the serial indirect effect via both maternal prepartum and impaired postpartum bonding yield a significant result (standardized indirect effect: $a_{11} * d_1 * b_{21} = 0.001$, p = .834).

Testing model 2 did not yield any significant mediation effects either. Hence, we could not provide evidence for H2a, i.e. an indirect effect of the severity of depressive symptoms on the latency to interactive repair mediated via maternal prepartum bonding (standardized indirect effect: $a_{12} * b_{12} = 0.015$, p = .561), nor could we support H2b (standardized indirect effect: $a_{22} * b_{22} = 0.031$, p = .542), nor H2c (standardized indirect effect: $a_{12} * d_2 * b_{22} = 0.005$, p = .589).

Estimates of model 3 revealed no significant results either. According to these results, we could not find a mediating effect of maternal prepartum bonding in the relationship between the severity of state anxiety symptoms and the latency to interactive reparation (H3a; standardized indirect effect: $a_{13} * b_{13} = 0.026$, p = .489). Mediating effects postulated in H3b and H3c could not be confirmed either (standardized indirect effects: $a_{23} * b_{23} = 0.039$, p = .496; $a_{13} * d_3 * b_{23} = 0.007$, p = .569, respectively).

Parameter estimates for the standardized partial regression weights of all the pathways are depicted in figures 2.4, 2.5, and 2.6. Testing model 1 yielded a significant prediction of maternal impaired postpartum bonding by maternal prepartum bonding in the expected direction ($d_1 = -0.264$, p = .045) and a significant prediction of the latency to interactive reparation by the maternal diagnostic status in the opposite direction than expected ($c'_1 = -0.314$, p = .047). Notably, screening for outliers revealed one outlier with a relatively high latency to interactive repair (38.98 s). No outliers were detected for the other main measures. When removing the outlier, the latter effect did not reach significance anymore ($c'_1 = -0.244$, p = .096). Testing model 2 revealed a significant prediction of maternal impaired postpartum bonding by the severity of depressive symptoms in the expected direction ($a_{22} = 0.259$, p = .049). In model 3, the severity of anxiety symptoms significantly predicted maternal prepartum bonding in the expected direction ($a_{13} = -0.281$, p = .041) and maternal impaired postpartum bonding in the expected direction ($a_{23} = 0.308$, p = .026). Removing the outlier when testing model 2 and 3 did not majorly change estimates.

To sum up, neither of our postulated mediation effects reached significance. We, however, found some single significant pathways which will be further investigated in the exploratory analysis section.

2.3.4 Diagnostics

Table 2.3 demonstrates the descriptive statistics of our main and exploratory measures in the total, control, and clinical sample. In order to get an impression of differences between the control and clinical group, we conducted exploratory two sample t-tests, more specif-



Figure 2.4: Mediation model 1 with the maternal diagnostic status as the independent binary variable. Pathway coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. *p < .05



Figure 2.5: Mediation model 2 with the severity of depressive symptoms as the independent continuous variable. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. *p < .05



Figure 2.6: Mediation model 3 with the severity of state anxiety symptoms as the independent continuous variable. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. *p < .05

ically, Welch tests, due to non-homogeneity of variances. Groups did not differ in (1) the severity of depressive symptoms (EPDS) at T3, i.e. 4-8 weeks postpartum, in (2) prepartum bonding at T1, (3) prepartum bonding at T2, (4) impaired postpartum bonding at T3, (5) relative time durations of positive social matches at T4, and (6) latency to interactive reparation at T4. Notably, (3) prepartum bonding at T2, (4) impaired postpartum bonding at T3, and (6) latency to interactive reparation are the two serial mediators and the dependent variable of our mediation model 1. The diagnostic group as the independent variable of model 1 might, therefore, be not able to explain differences in the mediating and outcome variables. It is also noteworthy that the post-hoc power of our *t*-tests to detect differences for a small effect by the group was .11, for a medium effect .44, and for a large effect .82 ($n_1 = 21$, $n_2 = 38$, $\alpha = .05$ (two-tailed)).

Visually examining the distributions of our main and exploratory measures revealed that almost all measures have right-skewed distributions with higher frequencies on the left side of the distribution. The distributions of the MFAS at T1 and T2 look rather leftskewed, however, did not significantly deviate from the normality distribution (p = .321and p = .105, respectively). All other distributions significantly differed from the normality distribution (ps < .01). This may have eventuated in biased results of our further exploratory analyses, which should therefore be interpreted cautiously. We, however, applied estimators in our structural equation modeling approach which are robust against the violation of normal distribution.

Furthermore, we examined the association of our main and exploratory measures via correlation analysis. Pearson's correlations for all measures are demonstrated in table 2.4. Notably, neither our binary group variable, nor any measure of symptoms or bonding correlated with our main outcome, i.e. the latency to interactive reparation during the

Total M (SD) Control M (SD) Clinical M (SD) t(p)EPDS T1 -4.21 (< .001)6.03(5.11)3.05(3.19)7.68(5.26)EPDS T2 6.32(6.30)3.20(2.53)8.00(7.07)-3.71 (< .001)EPDS T3 6.05(4.33)5.26(3.96)6.45(4.50)-1.02(.315)STAIS T1 35.59(11.95)28.62(5.27)39.45(12.89)-4.54 (< .001)STAIS T2 35.32(12.31)29.45(5.61)-3.49 (< .001)38.49(13.78)STAIS T3 28.79(7.06)-2.82(.007)33.63(11.33)36.05(12.33)STAIT T1 36.59 (12.48) 29.19(6.51)40.68 (13.15) -4.48 (< .001)STAIT T2 35.37 (11.86) 29.95(7.77)-3.07(.003)38.30(12.71)STAIT T3 33.72(10.77)28.16(4.74)36.50(11.87)-3.77 (< .001)MFAS T1 105.39(18.95)112.11(18.79)101.55(18.19)2.03(.050)MFAS T2 119.79 (18.80) 119.60 (20.76) 0.12(.907)120.16(14.78)**PBQ-16 T3** 8.62(6.67)7.60(6.26)9.16(6.90)-0.87(.390)RTD T4 0.12(0.12)0.13(0.14)0.11(0.11)0.65(.520)IAR (s) T4 9.90(7.55)12.71(9.31)8.42(6.08)1.77(.089)

Table 2.3: Descriptive Statistics of Main and Exploratory Measures in the Total, Control, and Clinical Sample as well as a Comparison of the Control and Clinical Means.

Note. M = arithmetic mean; SD = standard deviation; t = t value of the Welch two sample t-test; p = p value; T1, T2, T3, T4 = first, second, third, and fourth measurement point; EPDS = Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; STAIS = Stait and Trait Anxiety Inventory - State; STAIT = Stait and Trait Anxiety Inventory - Trait; MFAS = Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale; PBQ-16 = Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire - 16-item version; RTD = relative time durations of positive social matching states during the reunion episode of the Face-to-Face Still-Face paradigm, i.e. the sum of seconds the dyads spent in positive social matching states divided by the time of the reunion episode; IAR = latency to interactive reparation in seconds, i.e. the average mismatch duration or the average time interval from positive social match offset to positive social match onset.

In bold print: Measures of the main mediation models.

reunion phase of the FFSF, or exploratory outcome, i.e. the relative time durations of positive social matching states during the reunion phase of the FFSF. Moreover, it is noteworthy that correlations between the EPDS and the STAIS as well as the STAIT are mostly quite large, ranging from .46 as the smallest correlation, however, across two time points, to .84 as the highest correlation within the same time point. This raises the question if the EPDS and STAI really measure distinct constructs, which will be elaborated in the discussion section. Furthermore, our correlation analyses revealed small to large correlations between symptom severity and bonding, with the smallest significant correlation of -.28 between the STAIS at T1 and the MFAS at T1 and at T2, and the largest significant correlation of .53 between the EPDS at T3 and the PBQ at T3. These relations will be further examined in our exploratory analysis. Notably, as none of our measures correlated with the latency to interactive reparation and the relative time durations of positive social matching states during the *reunion* phase of the FFSF, we additionally tested these two measures of the *play* phase of the FFSF. They did not correlate with any of the symptom and bonding measures either. Additionally, they followed a similar right-skewed distribution with little variation as the two respective measures of the reunion phase did. The Shapiro-Wilk normality test revealed a significant result, indicating nonnormality (ps < .01). This did not encourage us to conduct further exploratory mediation analyses for the play phase.

	Group	EPDS T1	EPDS T2	EPDS T3	STAIS T1	STAIS T2	STAIS T3	STAIT T1	STAIT T2	STAIT T3	MFAS T1	MFAS T2	PBQ T3	RTD T4
EPDS T1	.44***													
EPDS T2	.37**	.56***												
EPDS T3	.13	.51***	.54***											
STAIS T1	.44***	.69***	.59***	.46***										
STAIS T2	.35**	.64***	.84***	.54***	.64***									
STAIS T3	.30*	.51***	.50***	.70***	.57***	.63***								
STAIT T1	.44***	.73***	.57***	.51***	.80***	.68***	.59***							
STAIT T2	.34**	.66***	.66***	.59***	.78***	.76***	.69***	.83***						
STAIT T3	.37**	.62***	.57***	.69***	.72***	.64***	.78***	.82***	.85***					
MFAS T1	27*	25	08	16	28*	13	30*	29*	24	33*				
MFAS T2	01	18	24	25	28*	25	33*	24	30*	31*	.75***			
PBQ T3	.11	.30*	.20	.53***	.36**	.31*	.47***	.37**	.31*	.45***	27	28*		
RTD T4	09	15	04	02	09	.06	.06	07	.02	02	01	.03	10	
IAR T4	27	04	24	01	02	19	.10	05	02	02	.07	10	.12	34*

Table 2.4: Pearson's Correlations of the Main and Exploratory Measures.

Note. Group = Grouping of participants in either the control (0) or clinical group (1); EPDS = Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; STAIS = Stait and Trait Anxiety Inventory - Trait; MFAS = Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale; PBQ-16 = Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire - 16-item version; RTD = relative time durations of positive social matching states during the reunion episode of the Face-to-Face Still-Face paradigm, i.e. the sum of seconds the dyads spent in positive social matching states divided by the time of the reunion episode; IAR = latency to interactive reparation in seconds, i.e. the average mismatch duration or the average time interval from positive social match offset to positive social match onset; T1, T2, T3, T4 = first, second, third, and fourth measurement point.

In bold print: Measures of the main mediation models.

p < .05; p < .01; p < .01; p < .001

Model	χ^2	df	CFI	TLI	RMSEA [90% CI]	SRMR
(1) Exploratory model 1	5.75	4	.983	.935	.088 [.000, .235]	.054
(2) Exploratory model 2	6.45	4	.982	.931	.095 [.000, .225]	.045
(3) Exploratory model 3	14.31**	4	.959	.847	.188 [.089, .297]	.036

Table 2.5: Fit Indices of Tested Exploratory Models.

Note. χ^2 = Chi-squared test statistic; df = Degrees of freedom; CFI = Comparative Fit Index; TLI = Tucker-Lewis Index; RMSEA = Root mean square error of approximation; 90% CI = Upper and lower 90% confidence interval; SRMR = Standardized root mean square residual. **p < .01; ***p < .001.

2.3.5 Exploratory Analysis

We did not conduct further exploratory mediation analyses with the severity of *trait* anxiety symptoms nor with the relative time durations of positive social matching states as initially intended because our correlation analysis did not provide a reasonable basis for it 2.4. Based on our theoretical considerations and the results of our correlation and mediation analysis we further investigated the relationship of maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms with maternal bonding. We tested three exploratory cross-lagged panel models assessing the relationship between maternal bonding and each (1) the severity of depressive symptoms, (2) the severity of state anxiety symptoms, and (3) the severity of trait anxiety symptoms. Model fit indices are presented in table 2.5. Model fit of exploratory model 3 was unacceptable with the TLI, RMSEA, and SRMR yielding values below an acceptable cut-off. Additionally, the chi-square test indicated a significant difference between the model-implied and empirical covariance matrix, implying that this model does not fit well to our data. Exploratory model 1 and 2 can be regarded as acceptable and interpretable models as only the RMSEA lay slighlty above cut-off. The TLIs lay in an acceptable range, the CFIs and SRMRs even in an excellent range.

The two acceptable exploratory models with their respective estimates are presented in figures 2.7 and 2.8. Exploratory model 1 shows strong, significant auto-regressive effects of the severity of depressive symptoms, implying a certain stability of the severity over time. The severity of depressive symptoms of the subsequent time point seems to be influenced by the severity of the respective preceding time point. We see a similar pattern for maternal bonding with a strong prediction of maternal prepartum bonding at T2 by maternal prepartum bonding at T1. The prediction of maternal impaired postpartum bonding by maternal prepartum bonding at T2 did not reach significance ($h_2 = -0.250$, p = .097). Furthermore, the severity of depressive symptoms and maternal impaired postpartum bonding moderately correlated. The correlations between the two measures did



Figure 2.7: Exploratory cross-lagged pathway model 1 including the severity of depressive symptoms (EPDS) and maternal prepartum (MFAS) and impaired postpartum (PBQ-16) bonding. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. $^{\dagger}p < .1$; $^{*}p < .05$; $^{**}p < .01$; $^{***}p < .001$

not get significant at T1 and at T2, though. The size of the correlation, however, lay in a small to moderate range. Cross-lagged effects assessing the reciprocal relationship between measures across time were of a negligible to small size and did not reach significance.

Testing exploratory model 2 also revealed strong, significant auto-regressive effects of the severity of state anxiety symptoms and a strong, significant prediction of maternal prepartum bonding at T2 by maternal prepartum bonding at T1. Additionally, measures correlated significantly within time points. At T2, however, the correlation did not reach significance ($e_2 = -.241$, p = .089).

To sum up, the severity of both depressive and state anxiety symptoms showed a certain stability across the three measurement points. The same pattern applied for maternal bonding in the prepartum period. Also, the severity of depressive and state anxiety symptoms consistently correlated with maternal impaired postpartum bonding at T3, i.e. 4-8 weeks after birth.

2.3.6 Changes to the Pre-Registration

We did not deviate from the pre-registered analysis plan in any major way. We did not need to apply Benjamini-Hochberg's False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995) for significant p-values as the analyses of our main models did not yield any significant mediation effects. Additionally, we meant to include the latency to interactive repair in our exploratory model analyses. However, since neither the latency to



Figure 2.8: Exploratory cross-lagged pathway model 2 including the severity of state anxiety symptoms (STAIS) and maternal prepartum (MFAS) and impaired postpartum (PBQ-16) bonding. Path coefficients represent standardized partial regression weights. Figure available at https://osf.io/2rh8f/, under a CC-BY4.0 license. $^{\dagger}p < .1$; $^{*}p < .05$; $^{**}p < .01$; $^{***}p < .001$

interactive nor the relative time durations of positive social matching states revealed any significant association with symptom severity or bonding, we decided to only focus on the relationships between the latter variables in our exploratory analysis.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Summary and Comparison of Findings

This study aimed at, first, investigating the mediating role of maternal prepartum bonding and impaired postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal depressive and/or anxiety disorders and latency to interactive reparation as our measure of interaction quality. Second, we tried to specify the mediating role of bonding in the relationship between the severity of depressive symptoms and the quality of mother-infant interaction. Third, this mediation role was examined in the context of anxiety symptoms. We applied structural equation modelling to test these three serial mediation models, exploring factors that may influence the coordination in mother-infant interaction. Regarding the direction of effects, we assumed that a maternal depressive and/or anxiety disorder are associated with lower maternal prepartum bonding and higher impaired postpartum bonding as well as a longer latency to interactive reparation. Finally, we tested two exploratory structural equation models assessing the relationship between maternal bonding and the severity of (1) depressive symptoms as well as (2) anxiety symptoms.

2.4 Discussion

First, we could not detect any mediation effects regarding the relationship between maternal diagnostic status and the latency to interactive reparation mediated by maternal prepartum bonding, mediated by maternal impaired postpartum bonding, and serially mediated by both maternal prepartum bonding and impaired postpartum bonding. These findings are not in line with prior research that confirmed a mediating effect of postpartum maternal feelings of bonding in the relationship between postpartum maternal depression and mother-infant interaction (Mason et al., 2011). Notably, this study had a much larger sample size of 232 mother-infant dyads, only focused on the postpartum bond, and only administered self-report measures, even for assessing mother-infant interaction. We could only include 59 dyads which were, however, videotaped and micro-analytically coded. Before conducting mediation analyses, our preliminary analysis had already revealed that no group differences between the control and clinical group for the majority of our measures could be found. This could be due to a number of reasons. First, our sample size and thus power was too small to detect differences of a small and medium effect size. Second, due to our small sample size we combined mothers suffering from a depressive and/or anxiety disorder into one group. On the one hand, we argued that similar detrimental effects on mother-infant interaction and bonding were identified by some studies (Feldman et al., 2009; Lehnig et al., 2019; Müller et al., 2016; Tronick & Reck, 2009), justifying our combination into one clinical group. On the other hand, depressive and anxiety disorders may share variance (Nolvi et al., 2016), but are nevertheless distinct disorders for which effects on interaction and bonding might differ. Effects of anxiety disorders are not as consistent as the ones of depression (Daglar & Nur, 2018; J. H. Goodman et al., 2016; Kaitz et al., 2010). Markedly, Edhborg et al. (2011) found a positive correlation of postpartum maternal anxiety and postpartum bonding, explaining it by a possibly more heightened state of primary maternal preoccupation (Winnicott, 1956) for anxious mothers, i.e. a state following childbirth in which a mother becomes preoccupied with her infant to the exclusion of everything else. This state is regarded to be adaptive allowing the mother to sensitively meet her infant's needs. For anxious compared to depressed mothers this state might be heightened and more difficult to drop due to more worries or fears concerning the infant, which might be reflected in a supposedly stronger bond. In light of different impacts of depressive and anxiety symptoms on mother-infant interaction and bonding, it is crucial to differentiate between them (Edhborg et al., 2011). We had already acknowledged that while planning our analyses, which is why we ran separate mediation and exploratory models for depressive and anxiety symptoms across the whole sample in a next step. However, in our group comparisons and mediation model 1, which investigated the binary diagnostic status as a predicting variable, effects of depression and anxiety disorders within the one clinical group might have affected each other or even canceled each other out. The negative significant prediction of the latency to interactive repair by the maternal diagnostic status, which points in the opposite direction as hypothesized (see figure 2.4), should therefore be regarded very cautiously. In the next paragraph, we nevertheless present some explanations for a potential negative association.

The few studies that investigated the latency to interactive reparation found a longer

latency to reparation of mismatching states to be associated with a maternal diagnosis of depression (Reck et al., 2011) and with a higher infant cortisol reactivity (Müller et al., 2015). It is noteworthy that Müller et al. (2015) found no association between interactive reparation and maternal anxiety disorders, which might be explained by the notion that the infants react to what they experience during the interaction and not to a maternal diagnostic category. One reason why a maternal diagnosis could lead to a potential shorter latency to repair could be that the association is not linear but rather U-shaped as suggested by Beebe et al. (2003), for example. In her optimum midrange model, she asserts that moderate degrees of dyadic matching foster infant socio-emotional development and lead to a secure attachment. Extremely high or low rates result in an insecure attachment. In a study with highly depressed mothers, maternal interactive coordination was either excessive or insufficient (Beebe et al., 2008). Notably, Noe et al. (2015) expected U-shaped functions for infant target behaviors in association with the degree of dyadic matching. Their results, however, yielded a monotonous trend: The more matching states during the FFSF play phase, the less negative and more positive affect the infant showed during each the FFSF still face and reunion phase. We also expected a linear trend for both of our outcomes, i.e. the main outcome latency to interactive reparation and the exploratory outcome relative time durations of positive social matching states. However, our visual data checks revealed no U-shaped trend, but only a slight linear trend which did not reach significance in our correlation and linear regression analysis of the association between maternal diagnostic status and these outcomes. The significant association between maternal diagnostic status and the latency to interactive reparation in our mediation model 1 might most likely be an artefact due to our skewed-right distribution with little variation. That is, the relative average percentage of time the mother-infant dyads of our sample spent in coordinated matched states was quite low throughout the whole sample with an average of 12% in the total, 13% in the control, and 11% in the clinical sample. Regarding the averages, other studies found matching rates of as low as 12% (Lester et al., 1985) to 30-40% (Moore & Calkins, 2004; Tronick & Cohn, 1989; Tronick & Reck, 2009) of the time. These rates, however, were reported for the play phase of the FFSF, whereas our rate was calculated for the more challenging reunion phase, which is generally characterized by more negative affect on the infant's side (Tronick, 2007). Thus, our relative time durations could be somewhat representative for the reunion phase. As the relative duration of matching states is quite short throughout the data set, our main measure, i.e. the latency to interactive repair as the average mismatch duration, rests on a weak footing: the fewer matches you detect, the sparser the data base to estimate the average mismatch duration is. It is, therefore, questionable whether our overall latency provides a reliable estimate of the interactive quality in this data set, especially since there is little variation across the dyads. Interactive repair should be further investigated in larger samples as it seems a very promising measure to predict attachment security (Müller et al., 2022). Nevertheless, our results underline DiCorcia and Tronick's (2011) conjecture that asynchronous/mismatched states, seem to be more the norm than the exception in face-to-face interactions of both healthy and clinical mother-infant samples.

43

Furthermore, the significant effect of the maternal diagnostic status on the latency to interactive repair in model 1 was not robust when removing an outlier. The significant association between maternal prepartum bonding and impaired postpartum bonding we detected in the first model test might, however, be more trustworthy as distributions of both prepartum and postpartum measures showed more variation and less skewness. Visual examination and ordinary linear regression of the association also showed a clear trend in the expected direction, i.e. the stronger the prepartum bond, the less impaired the postpartum bond. This finding is in line with a number of studies showing a clear connection between pre- and postpartum bonding (Dubber et al., 2015; Ohara et al., 2017; Rossen et al., 2016). It should, however, be interpreted cautiously due to some methodological shortcomings, such as non-homogeneity of variances. Summarizing our findings from our first model test, model diagnostics, and sensitivity analyses, we could not corroborate a mediating effect of pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal diagnostic status and the latency to interactive repair, but could detect a significant association between pre- and postpartum bonding.

Second and third, we investigated the same overall relationships but in the context of the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms, respectively. Contrary to what we hypothesized, we could not detect any mediation effects of pre- and postpartum bonding on the interaction quality either. Neither one of our symptom and bonding measures was significantly associated with the coordination in mother-infant interaction, i.e. the latency to interactive repair (nor the relative time durations of positive social matching states). These results are not in line with studies demonstrating that the quality of mother-infant interaction may be influenced by maternal prepartum (Maas et al., 2016; Siddiqui & Hägglöf, 2000) and postpartum (Mason et al., 2011; Muzik et al., 2013) bonding. Sample sizes of these studies were larger than ours and ranged from 100-273 mother-infant dyads. These studies, however, applied either self-report measures or more global coding schemes to assess the interaction quality, in contrast to our very fine-grained video analysis of the FFSF based on 1-s time intervals. Notably, Siddiqui and Hägglöf (2000) also used a quite detailed video analysis applying a continuous time sampling method on a 5-s basis. The better established influence of depressive symptoms on coordination in mother-infant interaction has already been discussed above (Beebe et al., 2008; Beebe et al., 2003; Reck et al., 2011). Regarding anxiety symptoms, Beebe et al. (2011) discovered interactive contingency patterns which were characterized by intermodal discrepancies, meaning confusing forms of communication. During mother-infant 4-month face-to-face play, they found that mothers vigilantly tracked infants visually, but withdrew from contingently coordinating with infants emotionally. On the infants' side, facial affect coordination was more vigilant, vocal affect coordination, however, was more dampened. The authors concluded a mutual ambivalence. These results highlight the fact that, when investigating mother-infant coordination in the context of anxiety symptoms, one should differentiate between different modes of coordination. Hence, by combining different modes of visually/socially monitoring and clearly emotionally matching states in our analysis, we might have lost some valuable differential information. In light of Beebe et al.'s (2011) findings of ambivalent patterns, this may have even led to a canceling out of conflicting effects in our analysis. Future studies should therefore focus on matches in different modalities and the respective latency to interactive repair, such as the positive *affect* match, i.e., the overlapping ICEP codes are Cpos and Ipos, in comparison to the positive *social* match which we applied (Weinberg et al., 2008). The latter includes the modality of visual monitoring in addition to the modality of affects, and therefore, represents a blend of two different modalities. Still, we believe the skewed distributions with little variation to be the main reason for insignificant effects of the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms as well as pre- and postpartum bonding on the capacity to repair mismatches. When testing these effects, further violated assumptions included the non-normality of residuals, which is why the results of the following paragraph should also be interpreted with caution.

Single pathways of our mediation models 2 and 3 yielded significant results of a small to moderate size which are in line with prior research. First the severity of depressive symptoms in the second trimester predicted impaired bonding 4-8 weeks after birth. Thus, the higher the severity of depressive symptoms mid-pregnancy was, the poorer mother-infant bonding seemed to be. This corroborates previous research which has detected a relationship between prepartum depressive symptomatology and a lower postpartum bonding quality (Goecke et al., 2012). Rossen et al. (2016) also demonstrated in their large longitudinal study on 372 Australian women that maternal depressive symptoms in the second (and third) trimester as well as stress in the second trimester were related to a poorer mother-infant bond 8 weeks postpartum. Regarding the severity of anxiety symptoms, we found that symptom severity in the second trimester inversely predicted both maternal preand postpartum bonding quality in the third trimester and after birth, respectively. That is, the higher the severity of anxiety symptoms mid-pregnancy was, the weaker the bond from mother to the fetus/infant towards the end of pregnancy and after birth seemed to be. These findings are in line with most previous studies which found a negative association between postpartum anxiety levels and postpartum bonding quality (Daglar & Nur, 2018; Nolvi et al., 2016; Tietz et al., 2014), whereas Edhborg et al. (2011) as discussed above found that anxiety symptoms were positively associated with the postpartum bonding quality. Rossen et al. (2016) could not corroborate their conjecture that preceding anxiety symptoms predicted subsequent bonding quality. Notably, they conducted multiple regressions also including depressive symptoms for which they found predicting effects. It seems as if depressive symptomatology more clearly predicts impaired bonding, whereas anxiety disorders or anxiety symptoms might need to be accompanied by concurrent depressive symptoms to unfold their effect. This is what Tietz et al. (2014) concluded after having analyzed the bonding quality of mothers with anxiety disorders: the perceived lower bond between mother to infant might be attributable to aspects of a concurrent subclinical depressive symptomatology. It is noteworthy that Rossen et al. (2016) and Tietz et al. (2014) used self-report measures which more clearly assess actual anxiety symptoms, i.e. the anxiety subscale of the Depression and Anxiety Scales (Lovibond, 1995) and the Agoraphobic Cognitions Questionnaire, Body Sensations Questionnaire and Mobility Inventory (Ehlers et al., 2001), respectively. The STAI, which we used and many other international studies

still use to assess anxiety symptoms, has been shown to actually assess general negative affect, comprising specific aspects of cognitive anxiety and depression together (Balsamo et al., 2013). In Balsamo et al.'s (2013) study, the STAI-T total score was more strongly associated with measures of depression than with a parallel measure of anxiety. We could, therefore, rather consider our analysis of anxiety symptoms as a second analysis of depressive symptoms with concurrent anxiety symptoms.

To summarize our findings from our second and third model test, we could not provide evidence for a mediating effect of pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal depressive or anxiety symptoms and the capacity to transform uncoordinated into coordinated states of interaction. However, the severity of depressive symptoms mid-pregnancy seems to predict the degree of impaired bonding 4-8 weeks after birth. Additionally, the severity of state anxiety symptoms mid-pregnancy appears to be associated with a poorer mother-to-infant bond towards the end of pregnancy and after birth. Notably, the prediction of maternal postpartum bonding quality by the prepartum bonding quality did not reach significance when testing them in the context of depressive and anxiety symptoms. This, however, is likely due to our low power or estimation issues in light of some violated statistical assumptions.

Finally, we would like to present some additional findings on the longitudinal relationships between depressive and anxiety symptoms and mother-to-infant bonding quality. These results are based on a robust structural equation modeling approach. Both of our exploratory models provided an acceptable model fit allowing for - together with our strong theoretical foundation - a valid interpretation of the significant pathways. In accordance with Rossen et al. (2016) and Ohara et al. (2017), we found that (1) preceding depressive symptoms predicted subsequent depressive symptoms and (2) preceding anxiety symptoms predicted subsequent anxiety symptoms from the second trimester to 4-8 weeks after birth. Furthermore, (3) preceding bonding quality predicted subsequent bonding quality during pregnancy. A poorer postpartum bonding quality was also associated with the postpartum severity of both depressive and state anxiety symptoms. Moreover, in the second trimester, state anxiety symptoms were associated with a poorer bonding quality. The cross-lagged effects, i.e. the reciprocal relations between measures across time points, are mostly of a negligible size and need further investigation in future research with larger sample sizes. Some further associations, especially the one between maternal pre- and postpartum bonding, did not quite reach significance in our larger structural equation model, probably due to a low power. Ordinary correlation and linear regression analyses, however, showed that the quality of bonding after birth was associated with the one in the third trimester. These findings support previous research asserting that prepartum care has a crucial role to play at key points during both pregnancy and the postpartum period to foster both the motherto-fetus/infant bond and to mitigate symptoms of depression and anxiety (Biaggi et al., 2016; Dubber et al., 2015; Ohara et al., 2017; Rossen et al., 2016). Rossen et al. (2019) even showed that early postpartum bonding is a more robust indicator of bonding quality at 12-months of age than maternal mental health, implying that the "predictive chain" of bonding continues throughout the first year of life. Our results may not answer the question if maternal depressive or anxiety symptoms eventuate in the occurrence of impaired bonding or whether, conversely, impaired bonding may result in the occurrence of these symptoms. An alternative explanation might be that both issues coexist, however, running rather independent time courses (Ohara et al., 2017). Regardless, our results highlight the notion that it is essential to pay more attention to the *prepartum* period, by screening for potential mother-to-fetus bonding issues as well as for mental health problems in order to counter detrimental effects on the postpartum period as early as possible.

2.4.2 Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions

One major strength of this study is that we applied a dyadic measure of matching which equally acknowledges the mothers' and infants' contributions to the interactive process. Not many studies have used such a fine-grained approach to measure the mutual capacity to coordinate behavioral and affective states, thus, underlining the co-construction of interaction (e.g. Beebe et al., 2008; Crugnola et al., 2016; Müller et al., 2015; Noe et al., 2015; Reck et al., 2011). All of these investigations were inspired by the works of Tronick (1989) and meet the demands of conceptualizing development from a complex open systems point of view. Moreover, by using micro-analytically coded, observational data, we examined a process, i.e. interactive reparation, which appears to be relevant to the formation of attachment security (Müller et al., 2022). In Müller et al.'s (2022) study, a longer latency to interactive reparation during the reunion episode of the FFSF as well as a maternal diagnosis of anxiety disorder at the children's age of 3–8 months predicted insecure attachment in 12-24-month-old children. Thus, despite our null findings for mediating effects of bonding on the latency to interactive repair, both measures seem very promising for predicting future child developmental outcomes and should be further examined in future studies with larger sample sizes. Not only child attachment security might be shaped by bonding and interactive reparation, but also psychophysiological stress regulation in infants and children. Müller et al. (2015) found that quicker reparation of dyadic mismatching states during early mother-infant interaction fostered infants' psychophysiological stress regulation, measured by infant cortisol reactivity. Hence, future longitudinal studies focusing on the pre- and postpartum period should include psychophysiological stress measures, such as infant cortisol reactivity, in addition to measures of dyadic coordination, bonding, and psychiatric symptoms.

Given the small sample size as a limitation of this study, the validity of our null findings for mediating effects and some pathways of our models may not be entirely evaluated, in particular for small to medium effect sizes. Furthermore, the small sample size did not allow for subgroup analyses of depressive and anxiety disorders, not to speak of specific disorders of these supercategories. Also, the vast majority of included mothers hold a university degree and are in a relationship, which may decrease the external validity of our findings. However, another strength of the study is the longitudinal design assessing mothers at four measurement points during and after pregnancy. Hence, pre- and postpartum measures of bonding were, however, not directly comparable. The MFAS assesses the perceived bond towards the developing fetus, whereas the PBQ measures the perceived bond towards the infant. It remains questionable and requires further examination if a direct comparison between pre- and postpartum bonding is valid (Rossen et al., 2016). This might partly explain why we did not find a significant association between pre- and postpartum bonding in our structural equation models, although the low power might have been the main reason. We should also clarify that the associations between maternal psychopathology, bonding, and the quality of mother-infant interaction are much more complex than presented here in our simplified models. With larger sample sizes, several other factors, such as social support (Kitamura et al., 2004; Ohashi et al., 2014), the mother's personality (Kitamura et al., 2009; Ohashi et al., 2014), or characteristics and behaviors of the infant (Edhborg et al., 2005), need to be taken into consideration in further research. Another limitation is that we did not examine measurement invariance of the scales we applied. Future studies with larger sample sizes should include measurement models and check them for measurement invariance during pregnancy and the postpartum period. Furthermore, the ordinary cross-lagged panel design we used in our exploratory analysis should be superseded by a random-intercept cross-lagged panel design in future studies, in order to account for between-subject differences over time (Lucas, 2022). An extensive critique of this issue will be presented in the discussion of the next chapter (see 3.5.2).

One very promising direction future studies on dyadic interaction should take is the use of non-linear time series analyses to estimate the degree to which the caregiver or the infant is initiating reparations (Beebe et al., 2008; Beebe et al., 2011). Our rich, high-resolution data of categorical mother and infant codes creates an ideal base for such an analysis. It would, thus, even be possible to analyze our data with shorter time intervals than our current 1-second interval. This might render our analysis more accurate because currently, we could have overestimated the average mismatch duration if matches occurred below the 1-second time unit.

2.4.3 Conclusion

Our results do not provide evidence for a mediating effect of maternal pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal psychopathology and the quality of motherinfant interaction, probably due to our small sample size and therefore low power. We still regard interactive reparation, i.e. our measure of the coordination in mother-infant interaction, as a promising marker of interactive quality according to recent research (Müller et al., 2015; Müller et al., 2022), which should, therefore, be investigated further. Additional exploratory analyses revealed that bonding as well as the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms at earlier stages of the peripartum period predicted their respective subsequent level at a later peripartum stage. Both symptom measures were also negatively associated with the bonding quality 4-8 weeks postpartum. Our findings corroborate the notion that the administration of screenings to identify women at risk of bonding issues, depression and anxiety *during early pregnancy* should be universal practice to foster the long-term well-being of mothers and children in the long run (Biaggi et al., 2016). If necessary, prevention and intervention programs should be recommended.

2.5 Supplementary Files

As we embrace the values of openness and transparency in science (http://www.research transparency.org/), the pre-registration, data sets, analysis code, and supplementary material concerning this chapter were published online and may be accessed via the provided URL or DOI.

2.5.1 Pre-Registration

The study was pre-registered on the Open Science Framework (OSF). The pre-registration may be accessed via https://osf.io/nrbmu.

2.5.2 Data

The data set was published on PsychArchives (Woll, Reck, Küçükakyüz, et al., 2022) and may be accessed via http://dx.doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives.8224. A codebook is provided to list information such as names and labels of all variables.

2.5.3 Analysis Code

The analysis code was published on PsychArchives (Woll, 2022a) as a R Markdown file and may be accessed via http://dx.doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives.8225. The code is comprehensively commented to enable traceability and reproducibility of the analysis.

2.5.4 Supplementary Material

The supplementary material was published on PsychArchives (Woll, 2022c) and comprises the analysis code as a knitted PDF file based on the R Markdown file to provide an easily accessible way to retrace the analysis. It may be accessed via http://dx.doi.org/10.23668/ psycharchives.8226.

Chapter 3

Study 2: How are German Mothers Feeling During the COVID-19 Pandemic? Assessing Depressive Symptoms and Perceived Stress

The goal of this second study was to assess the prevalences of depressive symptoms and perceived stress levels during the COVID-19 pandemic. We also assessed the relationship between both aspects of maternal mental health to get a better sense of how and when to support mothers. Notably, we focused on maternal perceived stress rather than anxiety symptoms because we could not identify a short self-report measure of anxiety symptoms which actually assesses anxiety symptoms rather than general negative affect, i.e. cognitive anxiety and depression together (Balsamo et al., 2013). Before presenting the study in more detail, we shortly highlight and refresh some important theoretical and empirical background which has been reviewed in chapter 1.

3.1 Theoretical Background

Parents of younger children aged 0-6 years and especially mothers seem to be most affected by the pandemic situation (Hübener et al., 2020). The peripartum period per se is a particularly vulnerable time for a woman to develop mental health issues (Reck, Zietlow, et al., 2016; Woody et al., 2017). This vulnerability may have even increased in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially for depressive symptomatology and perceived stress (Achterberg et al., 2021; Kaubisch et al., 2022). Recent meta-analyses indeed reported an increase in maternal peripartum depressive symptomatology in the context of the pandemic (Q. Chen et al., 2022; Racine et al., 2022; Safi-Keykaleh et al., 2022; Yan et al., 2020). Regarding perceived stress, studies also showed higher levels of perceived stress than before the pandemic (Suárez-Rico et al., 2021) and even a significant increase of stress levels during the pandemic (Calvano et al., 2021; Spinelli et al., 2020). As both of these aspects of mental health seem closely associated with each other (S. Cohen et al., 1983), investigating the bidirectional link between stress and depression has been of particular interest for some time now (Brose et al., 2017; Hammen, 1991). Stress not only increases the risk for depression, that is, a stress exposure model of depression (Monroe & Reid, 2009), but depression, or depressogenic vulnerabilities, in turn, enhances the susceptibility to stressful events which are at least partly influenced by the individual, that is, a stress generation model (Hammen, 1991; Liu & Alloy, 2010). Only few studies exist which examine the interplay and different trajectories of perceived stress and depressive symptoms in the peripartum period (Chow et al., 2019; Law et al., 2019; Leonard et al., 2020). These studies emphasized the concurrent comorbidity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress during the process of pregnancy and early motherhood.

As far as we are aware, no studies have investigated the reciprocal relationship between the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress over the course of early motherhood during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study, therefore, aimed at (1) assessing the overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress at two time points during the pandemic and reporting prevalence rates, (2) comparing the respective overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress between the two time points, and (3) examining the reciprocal relation between these two constructs. Based on the aforementioned empirical evidence, we assumed the following hypotheses:

We hypothesized an increase in the overall severity of depressive symptoms as well as the overall level of perceived stress of mothers with children aged 0-3 years across two measurement points during the COVID-19 pandemic (T1: time of more lenient confinement measures; T2: time of stricter confinement measures).

- H 1: The overall severity of depressive symptoms at T1 is significantly lower than the overall severity of depressive symptoms at T2.
- H 2: The overall level of perceived stress at T1 is significantly lower than the overall level of perceived stress at T2.

We also expected the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress to be positively and reciprocally related to each other (see figure 3.6 for the model):

- H 3: A higher severity of depressive symptoms at T1 predict a higher level of perceived stress at T2 ($\beta_1 > 0$).
- H 4: a higher level of perceived stress at T1 predict a higher severity of depressive symptoms at T2 ($\beta_2 > 0$).
- H 5: The severity of depressive symptoms at T1 positively predicts the severity of depressive symptoms at T2 ($\beta_3 > 0$).
- H 6: Perceived stress at T1 positively predicts perceived stress at T2 ($\beta_4 > 0$).
- H 7: The severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress correlate positively at T1 $(r_1 > 0)$.
- H 8: The severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress correlate positively at T2 $(r_2 > 0)$.

3.2 Method

To guarantee a transparent and reproducible research process, this study was pre-registered before data cleaning and preparation began and supplementary files were made publicly available (see section 3.6 for access to all documents and files). The STROBE guidelines (von Elm et al., 2014) were adhered to in order to provide a standardized way of presenting our observational study.

3.2.1 Sampling Procedures and Participants

The study sample is part of a larger longitudinal online survey, the CoviFam-study, conducted in German-speaking countries (Austria, Germany, and Switzerland) between mid-July and mid-November 2020 for T1 and between mid-February and mid-March 2021 for T2. T1 represents a time of more lenient confinement measures due to a lower infection rate after the first wave of the pandemic in spring 2020 (e.g. reopening of day care facilities and public spaces as well as more relaxed social distancing measures), whereas T2 represents a time of stricter confinement measures due to a higher infection rate (e.g., closures of day care facilities and public spaces as well as stricter social distancing measures). The CoviFam-study assessed the psychosocial well-being of parents with infants and toddlers aged 0 to 3 years of age and their children's behavioural problems in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic. Parents were recruited via medical institutions (e.g. birth clinics, pediatricians, gynecologists), and professional regional and national networks (e.g. midwifes, nurses) which were asked to share information on this study, including an online link to our online survey tool Unipark. Additionally, we used different social media channels (e.g. Instagram, Twitter, Facebook) to either inform about this study via an account that had been specifically created for this study or to convince suitable other accounts to share and or post our call for participation among their followers or subscribers.

The study had been approved by the independent ethics committee of the medical faculty, Ruprecht-Karls-University, Heidelberg, in agreement with the Ludwig Maximilian University, Munich (vote: S-446/2017). Participants were asked for consent to participate at the beginning of the survey and, at the end of the survey, for consent to be contacted again via e-mail for a possible follow-up. For the follow-up at T2, a randomized ID code was created which was sent to the participants in an invitation e-mail including the link to our follow-up survey. The whole sampling process is described in Figure 3.1. This study

focused on the sub-sample of mothers living in Germany as restrictions were quite heterogeneous across countries and nesting due to couples in our data was to be avoided.

The mothers' and infants' sociodemographic data are presented in Table 3.1 and 3.2. Notably, 71 children were above 3 years of age, which is probably due to a misconception of the range 0 to 3 years which does not include the fourth year of life. Six children were even slightly above 4 years of age. As we focus on the dynamics of two maternal outcomes and not on any child specific outcomes, we decided not to exclude these mothers in order to not further reduce our sample size.

As attrition analyses, we conducted Welch two sample t-tests, Wilcoxon rank sum tests, or Pearson's Chi-squared tests depending on the level of measurement, comparing the longitudinal sample of mothers who completed the survey of T1 and T2 (n = 666) to the sample of mothers who only completed the survey of T1 (n = 987). Notably, only 67.09 %, i.e. 1109 out of 1653 mothers, consented at T1 to be contacted again for a follow-up. Thus, 60.05 %, i.e. 666 out of 1109 of mothers, who agreed to be followed up, actually took part at T2. Rather than relying on the *p*-values of the significance tests, we additionally calculated the respective effect sizes applying a cut-off for a negligible effect of 0.20 for Cohen's d (J. Cohen, 1988), 0.147 for Cliff's Delta (Romano et al., 2006), and 0.05 (df = 4) for Cramer's V (J. Cohen, 1988). The longitudinal T1 and T2 sample did not meaningfully differ from the sample of mothers who only completed the survey at T1 on any of the sociodemographic or outcome scales, except for mothers' age and the change in partners' job situation (e.g. home office or short-time working). However, these differences were small and close to a negligible effect size (i.e., for mothers' age: Cohen's $d = 0.24, 95\% CI = [0.13, 0.34], M_{T_1 and T_2} = 33.45$ years, $M_{onlyT_1} = 32.42$ years; for change in partner's job situation: Cramer's V = 0.09, 95% CI = [0.06, 0.14], df = 4, reflecting that slightly more partners worked from home at T1 in the drop-out group than in the longitudinal sample). Every single test result may be seen in the provided R markdown file (see https://osf.io/5sb8q/).

3.2.2 Measures

Sociodemographic and COVID-related data

To assess the mothers' sociodemographic and COVID-related data, such as educational background, job and living situation, contact with the coronavirus, and child care situation, a self-developed questionnaire was employed (see https://osf.io/kg3s8/ for the full version of the questionnaire). At T1, some questions were additionally asked retrospectively to cover the period before the pandemic and the period of the greatest constraints.



Figure 3.1: Flowchart of the sampling procedure. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

	n	%
Relationship status	666	
Married (living together)	512	76.87
Relationship (living together)	125	20.27
Relationship (not living together)	4	0.60
Single	7	1.05
Divorced	7	1.05
Widowed	1	0.15
School degree	666	
No diploma yet	0	0
Left school without diploma	1	0.15
German middle school diploma	5	0.75
German Realschule diploma	69	10.36
German Fachabitur	76	11.41
German Abitur	515	77.33
Monthly net income	663	
0 - 1000 €	8	1.20
1000 - 2000 €	44	6.64
2000 - 3000 €	141	21.27
3000 - 5000 €	318	47.96
> 5000 $ m {f C}$	152	22.93
Change in job situation	666	
No change	356	53.45
Short-time working	20	3.00
Home office	160	24.02
Had to stay home and could not work	40	6.00
Other changes	90	13.51
Child's gender	666	
Male	340	51.05
Female	326	48.95

Table 3.1: Descriptive Statistics of Categorical Sociodemographic Variables.

Note. n = sample size. These variables were assessed at the first measurement point.

Measure	n	М	SD	Min	Max
EPDS (T1)	666	7.73	5.51	0	27
PSS (T1)	666	18.21	7.24	0	39
EPDS $(T2)$	666	10.51	5.80	0	30
PSS(T2)	666	21.32	7.27	0	40
Children's age	663	20.38	11.27	0.30	50.57
Mothers' age	648	33.45	4.26	19	47
Living space	665	112.63	39.85	37	300
Caregiving by oneself	666	75.19	22.59	0	100
Caregiving by partner	666	21.25	19.76	0	100
Caregiving by grandparents	666	1.86	7.79	0	100
Caregiving by external caregiver	666	1.10	7.16	0	100
Number of children	663	1.61	0.81	1	6

Table 3.2: Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Sociodemographic and Outcome Variables.

Note. n = sample size; M = arithmetic mean; SD = standard deviation; Min = minimal value; Max = maximum value; EPDS = Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; PSS = Perceived Stress Scale - 10-item version (PSS); T1 = Measurement point 1; T2 = Measurement point 2. Notably, the four percentages of caregiving time had to add up to 100% when mothers filled out the questionnaires. The sociodemographic variables were assessed at the first measurement point.

Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

Symptom severity of depressive symptoms was assessed by the German version (Bergant et al., 1998) of the Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (Cox et al., 1987; see appendix A.1 for full questionnaire). As a ten-item self-rating scale, each item coded from 0 to 3, it has been validated for the detection of prenatal as well as postnatal depression in numerous studies (Matthey et al., 2006). A higher sum score indicates a higher severity of depressive symptoms during the last seven days. Matthey et al. (2001) demonstrated a high sensitivity and specificity of the EPDS in detecting depressive disorders in mothers. In the German version, a sum-score of at least 10 or higher is regarded as an indicator for a depressive disorder (Bergant et al., 1998), additionally distinguishable between a minor (≥ 10) and a major depressive disorder (≥ 13) according to the outdated Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., Text revision; DSM-IV-TR; American Psychiatric Association, 2000). In other words, participants carry a low or high risk for depression according to their sum score. The EPDS data of this study revealed an internal consistency of Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.86$ at T1, $\alpha = 0.87$ at T2, McDonald's $\omega = .87$ at T1, and McDonald's $\omega = .87$ at T2.

Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)

To assess individuals' self-reported stress levels, the German version, as published by Reis et al. (2019) and translated by Büssing and Recchia (2016), of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; S. Cohen et al., 1983) in its 10-item version was administered (see appendix A.5 for full questionnaire). Each item is answered on a 5-point Likert scale and coded from 0 to 4 ("never" to "very often"). The PSS is a popular, well-validated instrument to measure the degree to which situations in life are appraised as unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloading (S. Cohen et al., 1983; Reis et al., 2019). Reis et al. (2019) could confirm a bifactor structure with one general and two specific factors for the German version, as proposed for the English and Spanish versions of the PSS (Perera et al., 2017). In this study, only the general factor, implying an overall sum score with higher values indicating higher levels of stress, is of relevance. In order to compare our findings to several other studies (Adams et al., 2021; Islam et al., 2020; D. S. Kim et al., 2017; Swaminathan et al., 2015), we applied their categorization of sum scores to both only two categories of low (0-26) and high (27-40) and to three categories of low (0-13), moderate (14-26), and high (27-40) levels of stress. The PSS data of this study revealed an internal consistency of Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.90$ at T1, $\alpha = 0.90$ at T2, McDonald's $\omega = .91$ at T1, and McDonald's $\omega = .91$ at T2.

3.2.3 Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted using R, version 4.2.1 (R Core Team, 2021), applying the following main packages: "lavaan" (Rosseel, 2012), "semPlot" (Epskamp et al., 2022), "tidyverse" (Wickham et al., 2019), "ggplot2" (Wickham, 2016), and "raincloudplots" (Allen et al., 2019).

To test the hypotheses H 1 and H 2, paired t-tests were performed, examining the mean difference between the observations of our two time points. As additional analyses, we (1) calculated prevalences of a risk for depression as well as of low, moderate and high levels of perceived stress as percentages of mothers in the respective categories, complemented by their 95% confidence intervals (CI). (2) Cohen's d (J. Cohen, 1988) was calculated to measure the effect size between both measurement points for both of our outcome measures. (3) In order to measure if mothers changed from being at a low risk for depression to being at a high risk for depression across the two time points, i.e. changing from an EPDS sum score of below 10 to a sum score of equal or above 10, a McNemar's Chi-squared test was performed. Before, we created additional variables coding the EPDS sumscores in a binary format, i.e. being at a low risk for depression or being at a high risk for depression. The same procedure was applied to the maternal perceived stress levels, analyzing a change from a low/moderate (PSS sumscore: 0-26) to a high stress level (PSS sumscore: 27-40).

Hypotheses H 3 to H 8 were tested by structural equation modelling in a cross-lagged panel design. Parameter estimates of the cross-lagged panel model (CLPM) were obtained by a maximum-likelihood estimation with robust estimators of model fit (MLR) with robust (Huber-White) standard errors and a scaled test statistic that is (asymptotically) equal to the Yuan-Bentler test statistic as it is robust against the violation of normal distribution (Rosseel, 2020). We did not need to compensate for missing data via the pre-registered full information maximum likelihood (FIML) approach as no missing data occurred in our data set.

To evaluate the quality of model fits, a range of fit indices were inspected, including the comparative fit index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis index (TLI; also called the non-normed fit index), the root-mean-square error of approximation (RMSEA), and the standardized root-mean-square residual (SRMR). In line with Hu and Bentler (1999) and Kline (2016), cut-off values for good model fit were CFI > .90, TLI > .90, SRMR < .09, and RMSEA < .08. Cut-offs for excellent model fit were CFI > .95, TLI > .95, SRMR < .08, and RMSEA < .06.

Our global alpha level was .05. We did not need to correct p-values for multiple testing using the pre-registered Hochberg's False Discovery Rate (FDR) (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995) as our p-values were close to zero.

First, two models were tested in order to analyze measurement invariance of constructs over time: (1) the model suggesting configural invariance, assuring the measurement/factor structure remains equal across time points and (2) the model suggesting metric invariance, assuring the same variable is tested across time points. Models were compared applying the "anova" function in the R package "lavaan", reporting the Akaike information criterion (AIC) values (Akaike, 1987). As the chi-squared test tends to be too conservative

and too sensitive, models were regarded as considerably different with a difference of the AIC values between 4 and 7 and as essentially different with a difference of higher than 7, with the lower value model being accepted in such a case (Burnham & Anderson, 2002, p. 70). Testing the model implying configural invariance resulted in an acceptable fit to the data: $\chi^2 = 1610.36$, df = 338, p < .001, CFI = .891, TLI = .882, RMSEA = .078 (90% CI = [.074, .082]), SRMR = .047. Even though the χ^2 difference test was significant and the CFI as well as TLI did not quite hit the cut-off of .90 for a satisfactory fit, the RM-SEA and the SRMR imply a moderate and excellent model fit, respectively. Additionally, constraining factor loadings to be equal across both time points, assuring metric invariance, yielded the following fit of the model: $\chi^2 = 1639.02$, df = 356, p < .001, CFI = .894, TLI = .887, RMSEA = .076 (90%CI = [.072, .080]), SRMR = .051. Overall, both model fits yielded a moderate and excellent fit on two indices and an unacceptable to borderline satis factory fit on the other two fit indices. Model comparison revealed a $\Delta AIC = AIC_{configural}$ - $AIC_{metric} = 58347$ - 58341 = 6, implying a considerable difference between models and accepting the model with the lower AIC value, i.e. the model assuming metric invariance. Besides, the $\Delta CFI = .003$ and the $\Delta RMSEA = .002$ between the two models also indicate a sufficient amount of metric invariance as recommended by the cut-off values of Δ CFI < .01 and Δ RMSEA < .015 for a total N > 300 (F. F. Chen, 2007). The χ^2 difference test was not significant, though $(\chi^2_{diff} = 28.73, p = 0.052)$. To conclude, we very cautiously assumed a certain extent of metric invariance and further address this issue in the discussion.

As the focus of this study lay on the relation and overall scores of our two constructs rather than the measurement procedure, pathway models were tested, comprising four continuous manifest variables: (1) the sum scores of the EPDS at T1 and T2, as well as (2) the sum scores of the PSS at T1 and T2. These four sum scores represent the severity of depressive symptoms and levels of perceived stress, respectively (see figure 3.6 for a model overview). As main analysis, a cross-lagged panel design was employed. Following Burić et al. (2019), four competing models to assess unidirectional and/or bidirectional relations among the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress were tested and compared (Selig & Little, 2012):

- (1) stability model, including auto-regressive effects (β_3 and β_4),
- (2) pathway model, including auto-regressive effects and the cross-lagged effect from the severity of depressive symptoms to perceived stress (β_1 , β_3 , and β_4),
- (3) reverse-pathway model, including auto-regressive effects and the cross-lagged effect from perceived stress to the severity of depressive symptoms (β_2 , β_3 , and β_4), and
- (4) reciprocal model, including auto-regressive and all cross-lagged effects (β_{1-4}).

Notably, the correlations of the two manifest variables assessed at the same time point $(r_1 \text{ and } r_2)$ were specified in model (2) - (4). It is also noteworthy that the reciprocal model is a saturated model, inherently producing a perfect model fit which is of little statistical

use. It may still be interpreted due to our strong theoretical foundation and be compared to the other models. In order to determine the best-fitting model, models (2) - (4) were compared to the baseline model (1) by applying the AIC. Here again, models were regarded as considerably different with a difference of the AIC values between 4 and 7 and as essentially different with a difference of higher than 7, with the lower value model among models 2, 3 and 4 being accepted in such a case (Burnham & Anderson, 2002, p. 70). The first model was merely considered as a baseline model for comparisons to be based on. The "anova" function only allows to compare nested models which is why we compared models (1), (2), and (4) in a first step, and models (1), (3), and (4) in a second step.

In order to explore general and COVID-specific covariates or control variables and check the robustness of our model, we examined the following variables: (1) the continuous variables children's age, mothers' age, living space, number of children, percentages of taking care of the children by the mothers, partners, grandparents, and external caretakers, (2) the ordinal scaled variables school degree and income, and (3) the categorical dichotomous variables children's gender and access to a balcony. In order to calculate a point-biserial correlation, three nominal scaled variables ((1) relationship status and (2) change in job situation for oneself or (3) for the partner) were meaningfully dichotomized, that is, (1) being in a relationship: yes [1] vs. no [0], (2) and (3) having experienced a change in job situation: yes [1] vs. no [0]. According to Stavrova and Ehlebracht (2019), we included control variables in our CLPM which had a significant association with our outcomes at T2, more specifically, a significant Pearson's, Spearman's or point-biserial correlation with the EPDS or PSS sum score at T2 which was equal or above a meaningful value of .10. For the original, non-dichotomized nominal scaled variables, we additionally calculated a χ^2 test to explore their association with the outcomes.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Foundational Analysis

Figure 3.2 demonstrates how many mothers carried a high or low risk for depression at T1 and T2, respectively, according to the established cut-off sum score of 10 on the EPDS. At T1, roughly a third of mothers were at a high risk, whereas at T2, more than half of mothers were at a high risk for depression ($\chi^2 = 60.449$, df = 1, p < .001). Moreover, 19.5% (95% CI 16.7-22.7%) of mothers even reached or exceeded the cut-off of 13 at T1, whereas 36.5% (95% CI 32.9-40.2%) did so at T2.

Assessing the numbers of mothers who changed their risk status across the two measurement points, we found that a much higher percentage changed from the non-risk to the risk group, i.e. 27.0%, than from the risk to the non-risk group, i.e. 5.7%. 39.2% of mothers carried a low risk for depression at both measurement points, whereas 28.1% carried a high risk at both measurement points. This imbalance in the amount of changers is corroborated by a significant result of the McNemar's Chi-squared test (McNemar's $\chi^2 = 92.495$, df = 1, p < .001).

Figure 3.3 illustrates how many mothers showed a low, moderate, or high level of perceived stress at T1 and T2, respectively, according to the established cut-off sum scores of 14 and 27 on the PSS. Moderate stress levels remained roughly equal across time points, whereas the percentages of low and high levels of stress almost switched across time points $(\chi^2 = 43.146, df = 2, p < .001)$. Assessing the numbers of mothers who changed their category from a low/moderate to a high level of perceived stress or vice versa across the two measurement points, we also found that a higher percentage changed from a low/moderate to a high level of stress, i.e. 16.4%, than from a high to a low/moderate level of stress, i.e. 5.6%. 68.5% of mothers showed a low/moderate level of stress at both measurement points, whereas 9.6% showed a high level of stress at both measurement points, the imbalance in the amount of changers is corroborated by a significant result of the McNemar's Chi-squared test (McNemar's $\chi^2 = 35.507, df = 1, p < .001$).

The paired t-tests revealed a significant result for both measures, implying that the average difference in depressive symptom severity and perceived stress between T1 and T2 was not 0 (ps < .001). This provides significant evidence that the severity of depressive symptoms (H 1) and perceived stress levels (H 2) changed from T1 to T2, with an average increase of 2.78 scale points for the severity of depressive symptoms and of 3.11 scale points for perceived stress. The overall mean values are presented in Table 3.2. As a visual check of the histograms of the sum score differences for both the EPDS and PSS suggests normally distributed data, the tests of normality according to Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov however do not, we additionally conducted Wilcoxon signed rank tests, also known as Mann-Whitney U tests. They revealed a significant result as well (ps < .001). In order to account for our large sample size and assess the size of the effect, we calculated Cohen's d. For the severity of depressive symptoms, our analysis yielded a moderate effect size (d = 0.57, 95% CI = [0.48, 0.65]). For perceived stress, it yielded a small, to borderline moderate, effect size (d = 0.49, 95% CI = [0.40, 0.57]). Figures 3.4 and 3.5 illustrate the distributions, boxplots, as well as the single and the overall sum scores of both outcomes across time points. The so-called rain cloud plots graphically show the overall increase of the severity of depressive symptoms and the perceived stress level.

Even though the attrition analyses did not yield any significant difference between the rates of a risk for depression of the longitudinal sample (n = 666) and the sample of mothers who only completed the survey of T1 (n = 987), it might still be noteworthy to additionally report the rates of the complete sample of T1 (n = 1653). Of the complete sample, 36.30% were at a high risk for depression, whereas 63.70% carried a low risk for depression, which only differs by 2.5 percentage points from the rates of the longitudinal sample at T1 reported in figure 3.2. The same applies to the levels of perceived stress of the longitudinal sample in comparison to the complete sample of T1 (n = 1641, 12 missing values). Of the complete sample, 15.23% showed high levels, 59.41% moderate levels, and 25.35% low levels of perceived stress, which only reveals a slight difference of



Figure 3.2: Pie charts illustrating maternal risk for depression at the first (T1) and second (T2) measurement point. Accessible results are as follows: 33.8% (95% CI 30.3-37.5%) of mothers carry a high risk and 66.2% (95% CI 62.5-69.7%) a low risk for depression at T1; 55.1% (95% CI 51.3-58.8%) carry a high risk and 44.9% (95% CI 41.2-48.7%) a low risk at T2. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

3.5 percentage points between the categories of low and moderate levels of perceived stress, but not between high levels (see figure 3.3).

3.4 Cross-Lagged Panel Analysis

3.4.1 Main Analysis

Table 3.3 presents the model fit indices of all tested models.

As intended and expected, testing the (1) stability model resulted in a poor model accuracy. The pathway and reverse-pathway model, however, yielded an excellent fit according to CFI and SRMR, a good fit according to TLI, and a poor fit according to RMSEA, respectively. The pathway model revealed the following coefficients (see figure 3.6 for indices): $\beta_1 = .32$, $\beta_3 = .62$, $\beta_4 = .31$, $r_1 = .77$, $r_2 = .69$, ps < .001. The reverse-pathway model revealed the following coefficients is $\beta_2 = .32$, $\beta_3 = .61$, $r_1 = .77$, $r_2 = .69$, ps < .001. The reverse-pathway model revealed the following coefficients: $\beta_2 = .32$, $\beta_3 = .33$, $\beta_4 = .61$, $r_1 = .77$, $r_2 = .69$, ps < .001. The coefficients of the reciprocal model are demonstrated in figure 3.6.

The saturated reciprocal model can only produce a perfect model fit, but may still be compared to the other models via the AIC values. Comparing the (1) stability, (2) pathway, and (4) reciprocal model clearly identified the reciprocal model as the best-fitting model with the lowest AIC value (AIC_{stability} = 16826, AIC_{pathway} = 15790, AIC_{reciprocal} = 15774; $\chi^2_{diff,reciprocal-pathway}$ = 14.57, p < .001; $\chi^2_{diff,pathway-stability}$ = 808.38, p < .001). Also, comparing the (1) stability, (3) reverse-pathway, and (4) reciprocal model clearly identified



Figure 3.3: Pie charts illustrating maternal levels of perceived stress at the first (T1) and second (T2) measurement point. Accessible results are as follows: 15.2% (95% CI 12.6-18.1%) of mothers show a high level, 55.9% (95% CI 52.1-59.6%) a moderate level, and 29.0% (95% CI 25.7-32.5%) a low level of perceived stress at T1; 26.0% (95% CI 22.8-29.4%) show a high level, 57.8% (95% CI 54.0-61.5%) a moderate level, and 16.2% (95% CI 13.6-19.2%) a low level of perceived stress at T2. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

Model	χ^2	df	CFI	TLI	RMSEA [90% CI]	SRMR
(1) Stability model	821.03***	4	.375	.063	.639 [.594, .666]	.430
(2) Pathway model	14.57***	1	.990	.937	.163 [.096, .241]	.035
(3) Reverse pathway model	17.21***	1	.989	.936	.165 [.102, .237]	.036
(4) Reciprocal model	0.0	0	1.0	1.0	.0	.0

Table 3.3: Fit Indices of Tested Models.

Note. χ^2 = Chi-squared test statistic; df = Degrees of freedom; CFI = Comparative Fit Index; TLI = Tucker-Lewis Index; RMSEA = Root mean square error of approximation; 90% CI = Upper and lower 90% confidence interval; SRMR = Standardized root mean square residual. Notably, the reciprocal model is a saturated model, inherently leading to a perfect fit. ***p < .001.



Figure 3.4: Raincloud plot of the sum scores of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS). On the very left and the very right side of the plot, the density distribution of each measurement point is depicted. The box plots present the 0th, 25th, 50th (medians), 75th, and 100th percentiles. In the middle the paired data points are shown, connected with lines from the data point of the first measurement point (T1) to the one of the second measurement point (T2). The respective overall mean values are depicted in red and connected with a red line, reflecting the increase of the overall EPDS sum score across time points. The dashed line represents the established cut-off values at a sum score of 10 and 13, indicating a clinically relevant risk for a minor and major depression, respectively. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.



Figure 3.5: Raincloud plot of the sum scores of the Perceived Stress Scale - 10-item version (PSS). On the very left and the very right side of the plot, the density distribution of each measurement point is depicted. The box plots present the 0th, 25th, 50th (medians), 75th, and 100th percentiles. In the middle the paired data points are shown, connected with lines from the data point of the first measurement point (T1) to the one of the second measurement point (T2). The respective overall mean values are depicted in red and connected with a red line, reflecting the increase of the overall PSS sumscore across time points. The dashed lines represent established cut-off values at 14 and 27, indicating low, medium, and high levels of perceived stress. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.



Figure 3.6: Results of the cross-lagged path analysis of the reciprocal model (4). $r_i =$ standardized correlation coefficients; $\beta_i =$ standardized regression weights; T1 = first measurement point; T2 = second measurement point. Figure available at https://osf.io/bg2fy/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

the reciprocal model as the best-fitting model (AIC_{stability} = 16826, AIC_{pathway} = 15791, $AIC_{reciprocal} = 15774; \ \chi^2_{diff,reciprocal-reverse} = 19.19, \ p < .001; \ \chi^2_{diff,reverse-stability} = 770.99,$ p < .001). Thus, in comparison to the AIC value of the reciprocal model, all other AIC values were larger by at least 16, which clearly lay above the pre-registered cut-off of 7. Hence, the reciprocal model may be regarded as the best-fitting model. As can be seen in figure 3.6, the significant standardized partial regression weights β_{1-4} point in the expected positive direction, confirming our hypotheses H 3-6 (ps < .001). Thus, a higher overall severity of depressive symptoms at T1 predicted a higher overall level of perceived stress at T2 (H 3) and a higher overall severity of depressive symptoms at T2 (H 5). Equally, a higher overall level of perceived stress at T1 predicted a higher overall severity of depressive symptoms at T2 (H 4) and a higher overall level of perceived stress at T2 (H 6). Both variables highly and positively correlated within time points, confirming our hypotheses H 7-8. The significant cross-lagged effects of the same size (β_1, β_2) corroborated the assumption that the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress are reciprocally related over time, even when controlled for moderate auto-regressive effects (β_3 , β_4) and large correlations within time points (r_1, r_2) . The respective R^2 indicated that 38.9% of the variance of perceived stress at T2 and 40.6% of the variance of the severity of depressive symptoms at T2 was explained by the reciprocal model.

3.4.2 Exploratory Analysis

Pearson's correlations of the main outcome measures with possibly important continuous control variables are presented in table 3.4. Tests for the ordinal and nominal variables are presented in supplementary files (see analyses script in 3.6.3, p. 107-130).

The following variables were significantly (p < .05) and meaningfully (r > .10) associated with the severity of depressive symptoms at T2 (see the end of subsection 3.2.3 for the full list of control variables): school degree (Spearman's rank correlation $r_s = .01$, p < .001), income (Spearman's rank correlation $r_s = -.18$, p < .001), and change in the job situation for oneself $(r_p b = .15, p < .001)$.

The following variables were significantly and meaningfully (r > .10) associated with perceived stress at T2: number of children (Pearson's product-moment correlation $r_p = .13$, p < .001), income (Spearman's rank correlation $r_s = -.17$, p < .001), and change in the job situation for oneself ($r_{pb} = .12$, p = .002).

Notably, for the non-dichotomized variable of relationship status, a χ^2 test yielded a significant result for both the severity of depressive symptoms ($\chi^2 = 303.99$, df = 195, p < .001) and perceived stress ($\chi^2 = 314.23$, df = 195, p < .001). The point-biserial correlation, however, did not reach significance for the severity of depressive symptoms ($r_{pb} = -.06$, p = .101) nor for perceived stress ($r_{pb} = -.04$, p = .329).

Finally, the following four variables were additionally included in our reciprocal model as predictors for both the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress: (1) number of children, (2) school degree, (3) income, and (4) change in the job situation for oneself (dichotomized). This model yielded the following fit indices: $\chi^2 = 74.02$, df = 8, p < .001 CFI = .961, TLI = 0.894, RMSEA = .114 (90% CI = [.091, .138]), and SRMR = .076, indicating an excellent fit by the CFI as well as the SRMR, but an unacceptable fit by the others. Thus, the following findings of this model should be interpreted very cautiously. The number of children seems to predict the severity of depressive symptoms at T2 ($\beta = .06$, p = .046) as well as perceived stress ($\beta = .10$, p = .002). In addition to that, the change in job situation seems to predict the severity of depressive symptoms at T2 ($\beta = .08$, p = .006), but not perceived stress ($\beta = .05$, p = .111).

Exploring six other models (see supplementary material 3.6.4), in which the unpredictive variables were excluded, resulted in better TLI values in an excellent range above .95 as well as better RMSEA values below .10 and even below .08 for the model in which the change in the job situation as the only additional variable solely predicts the severity of depressive symptoms ($\chi^2 = 15.046$, df = 3, p < .002, CFI = .993, TLI = 0.977, RMSEA = .077 (90% CI = [.042, .118]), and SRMR = .063; $\beta = .05$, p = .030).

Notably, the regression weights of the control, or rather additionally predictive, variables are very small or even negligible in all exploratory models. Furthermore, for all exploratory models, the change in explained variance is minimal: exploratory models: $39.9\% < R_{depressiveness}^2 < 40.6\%$ and $38.5\% < R_{stress}^2 < 39.1\%$, compared to main model: $R_{depressiveness}^2 = 40.6\%$ and $R_{stress}^2 = 38.9\%$.

To sum up, our main model (see 3.6) seems to be robust regarding a wide range of

general and COVID-specific covariates. The change in the job situation may be regarded as a valid predictor of the severity of depressive symptoms, but not of perceived stress. The number of children should be further investigated as a predictor of depressive symptoms and perceived stress in future research as model fit indices do not allow for a clear interpretation.

	EPDS(T1)	PSS(T1)	EPDS(T2)	PSS(T2)	C.age	M.age	L.s.	C.o.	C.p.	C.g.	C.e.
EPDS(T1)											
PSS(T1)	.77***										
EPDS(T2)	.62***	.56***									
PSS(T2)	.55***	.61***	.80***								
C.age	.06	.11**	.08*	.06							
M.age	05	.01	03	.01	.23***						
L.s.	07	05	04	02	.07	.22***					
C.o.	.06	.08*	.08*	.09*	17***	02	.03				
C.p.	09^{*}	08*	08*	09^{*}	.13***	.06	05	82^{***}			
C.g.	.02	03	.02	03	.15***	08*	.00	32^{***}	03		
C.e.	.00	.01	05	03	.12**	.02	.08*	27^{***}	05	.01	
N.c.	01	.10*	.07	.13***	02	.34***	.30***	.10*	06	08*	.01

Table 3.4: Pearson's Correlations of the Main Outcome Measures, the EPDS and the PSS, and Possibly Important Control Variables.

Note. EPDS = Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; PSS = Perceived Stress Scale - 10-item version (PSS); T1 = Measurement point 1; T2 = Measurement point 2; C.age = Children's age in months; M.age = Mothers' age in years; L.s. = Living space in m^2 ; C.o. = Caregiving by oneself in percent; C.p. = Caregiving by partner in percent; C.g. = Caregiving by grandparents in percent; C.e. = Caregiving by external caregiver in percent; N.c. = Number of children. Notably, the four percentages of caregiving time had to add up to 100% when mothers filled out the questionnaires. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001.

3.4.3 Changes to the Pre-Registration

We did not deviate from the pre-registered analysis plan in any major way. As mentioned above (see subsection 3.2.3), we did not need to compensate for missing data via the FIML approach and did not need to apply a FDR correction.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Summary and Comparison of Findings

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has particularly been challenging mothers of young children (Hübener et al., 2020; Kowal et al., 2020). Especially, maternal peripartum depressive symptoms and perceived stress may have increased in the course of the pandemic (Calvano et al., 2021; Q. Chen et al., 2022). In light of the concurrent comorbidity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress during early motherhood (Chow et al., 2019), it is of particular interest to investigate the interrelation between these two constructs (Brose et al., 2017). Hence, the aims of this study were threefold: We (1) assessed the overall severity of maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress at two time points during the pandemic and reported prevalence rates, (2) compared the respective overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress between the two time points, and (3) examined the reciprocal relation between these two constructs.

First, our analyses revealed a significant change between the prevalence rates of our two time points. The first time point was during a time of more lenient confinement measures in May to November 2020, such as open day care facilities and further open public facilities, and the second one during a time of stricter confinement measures in February and March 2021. During the latter time, most day care facilities were closed and stricter home office rules applied, which could account for the fact that we obtained a much higher prevalence of a high risk for depression in 2020 than at the beginning of 2021 (Adams et al., 2021; Hiraoka & Tomoda, 2020). That is, more than half of mothers carried a high risk for depression at the first time point, whereas about a third of mothers did so at the second time point. The same pattern applied to maternal perceived stress. About 15 % perceived a high level of stress at the first time point, whereas significantly more, i.e. about a quarter of mothers, did so at the second time point.

Second, comparing the mean difference between the two time points for both measures also revealed that both the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress significantly changed from the first to the second time point. Estimating the size of this change yielded a small to borderline moderate effect size of d = 0.49 for the increase of maternal perceived stress and an even slightly higher, moderate effect size of d = 0.57 for the increase of depressive symptom severity. Furthermore, many more mothers changed their risk status from being at a low risk for depression at T1 to being at a high risk at T2 (27.0%) than vice versa (5.7%). The same pattern was observed for levels of perceived stress (16.4% vs. 5.6%).

Regarding the prevalence of depressive symptoms, our results are very much in line with a recent meta-analysis by Q. Chen et al. (2022) in which they included studies until November 2021. They reported a prevalence rate of 34%, only including studies that used the stricter EPDS cut-off of equal or above 13. Applying the same cut-off, we obtained a very similar prevalence of 36.5% for February and March 2021. Our rate of 19.5% at T1 may be best compared to the rate of the meta-analysis by Yan et al. (2020) because they included studies from a similar time frame. For a study inclusion up to September 2020, their analyses yielded a similar prevalence rate of 22% at a high risk for depression in the postpartum period. Applying the more common cut-off of equal or above 10 reveals the disturbing finding that our prevalence rate is almost twice as high at T2 (55.1%) and by 10.2 percentage points higher at T1 (33.8%) than the prevalence of 23.6\% found in a pre-pandemic, German sample by Reck et al. (2008). Their 95% CI of 20.8-26.5% does not overlap with neither one of ours at T2 (51.3-58.8%) nor at T1 (30.3-37.5%), rendering a significant difference of our prevalence rates of both measurement points during the pandemic to pre-pandemic prevalence rates quite likely. Another pre-pandemic, German prevalence rate of 17% (von Ballestrem et al., 2005) was even lower than the one by Reck et al. (2008). Furthermore, our results are in line with a Portuguese study by Fernandes et al. (2022) applying 3-wave Mixed Growth Models to assess maternal depressive symptoms from the third trimester of pregnancy until 6 months postpartum during the COVID-19 pandemic. They specifically tested that women under strict confinement measures showed significantly higher scores of depressive symptoms than women who were not under strict confinement measures, which reflects our change in the severity of depressive symptoms from 2020 to early 2021. The authors also found that higher anxiety and lower social support mainly explained differences in depressive symptoms.

Regarding the prevalence of a high perceived stress level, we found a similar pattern as Adams et al. (2021) and Hiraoka and Tomoda (2020): Perceived stress levels changed from 2020 to early 2021, with a higher overall stress level in early 2021, which might also be due to stricter confinement measures such as closures of child care facilities and schools at one of the measurement points. On a descriptive level, our prevalences of high stress levels are slightly higher than those of Adams et al. (2021): 15.2% vs. 12.2% during a time of more lenient confinement measures and 26.0% vs. 22.4% during a time of stricter confinement measures and stay-at-home rules. Notably, Adams et al. (2021) assessed parents (94.5%)female) of children aged 5-18 years in April and May 2020 for the first time and September 2020 for the second time. We could conclude that mothers of younger children may have been even more burdened as suggested by Hübener et al. (2020) and Kowal et al. (2020). Also, during a lockdown in the second year of the pandemic mothers might have been even more worn out and stressed than during the first lockdown as reflected by increasingly higher rates of depressive symptoms (Q. Chen et al., 2022). Comparing our results to the meta-analytic pooled prevalence of stress in the general population (Mahmud et al., 2022) demonstrates that our rate is in a comparable range during a lockdown period: 26.0% (95% CI 22.8-29.4%) vs. 29.41% (95% CI: 18.71–40.10), but considerably higher during a time of fewer confinement measures: 15.2% (95% CI 12.6-18.1%) vs. 5.10% (95% CI: 3.43–6.77). The latter difference might be explained by the generally higher challenges for mothers connected to the demands of child-rearing (Reck, Zietlow, et al., 2016), which might increase maternal stress even in times of fewer confinement measures. Notably, on a descriptive level, our rate of high levels of stress at T1 is also higher than the one found in a sample of postpartum Mexican women in August and September 2020 (10.9%)[95% CI 7.8-15.0%]; Suárez-Rico et al., 2021). CIs, however, overlap to a certain degree, rendering a significant difference questionable. Moderate levels of stress are very similar between our German and the Mexican sample: 55.9% (95% CI 52.1-59.6%) vs. 58% (95% CI 52.0-64.0%). Comparing our overall perceived stress levels to pre-pandemic stress levels of mothers living in Germany (Klein et al., 2016) revealed a difference of more than one standard deviation for our mean at T2: M = 21.32 (SD = 7.27) vs. M = 13.07(SD = 6.08). Our mean at T1 lies between both values (M = 18.21 [SD = 7.24]). We may conclude a significant overall increase of perceived stress from our first to our second measurement point in the course of the pandemic (d = 0.49) and, based on the literature, very probably assume an increase compared to pre-pandemic levels of stress as highlighted by retrospective comparisons (Adams et al., 2021; Calvano et al., 2021).

Third, we examined the reciprocal relationship between the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress of mothers with children aged 0-3. The substantial size of our correlations within time points $(r_1 = .77, r_2 = .69)$ is in line with previous findings (rs = .63-.81; S. Cohen et al., 1983; Law et al., 2019; Reis et al., 2019). These substantial correlations suggest that the PSS may be regarded as capturing a state which puts people at risk of, i.e. is precedent to, a clinical symptomatology. At the same time, this state also belongs to a manifold set of feelings and states which characterizes clinical symptomatology. However, the significant standardized partial regression weights of the cross-lagged effects (see figure 3.6), from which the strong correlations are partialed out, might let us assume that both constructs independently predicted each other to some degree. They share a great deal of variance, but are still distinct constructs (S. Cohen et al., 1983). We, thus, might have generated some evidence for both the stress exposure model (Monroe & Reid, 2009), i.e. preceding perceived stress predicted later severity of depressive symptoms, and the stress generation model (Liu & Alloy, 2010), i.e. the preceding severity of depressive symptoms predicted later perceived stress. The strongest predictor of each depressive symptoms and perceived stress was each past depressive symptoms and perceived stress themselves as depicted by our auto-regressive effects, which is in accordance with past research (McCall-Hosenfeld et al., 2016). Still, the one cross-lagged effect ($\beta_2 = .21$) showed that perceived stress provided an additional contribution such that preceding perceived stress positively predicted the succeeding severity of depressive symptoms. And the other cross-lagged effect ($\beta_1 = .21$) demonstrated that the preceding severity of depressive symptoms enhanced the succeeding perception or appraisal of situations as stressful, i.e. unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloading. To sum up, the size of our auto-regressive effects imply a certain stability of depressive symptoms and perceived stress across our two

measurement points during the pandemic or a certain influence from the previous time point. The same size of the cross-lagged effects imply that no potential causal predominance of either one of the variables is indicated and that no single variable may be clearly described as the source or the effect variable (Kearney, 2017). These findings, however, should be regarded as preliminary and interpreted very cautiously as some methodological limitations need to be addressed (see 3.5.2). We may cautiously conclude that the association between maternal depressive symptomatology and perceived stress might be described as an evenly bidirectional or reciprocal link in which each may potentially contribute to increases in the other.

Testing a number of covariates revealed that a change in the mother's job situation seems to significantly influence the severity of depressive symptoms, but not perceived stress. This covariate is a binary variable reflecting either a change (i.e., mothers had to work at home or had to stay at home because they were not allowed to go to work) or no change (i.e., mothers were not afflicted by the pandemic in their job situation). Even though some studies have shown that the stay-at-home orders have led to increased stress levels when having to care for children (Brown et al., 2020; Freisthler, Gruenewald, et al., 2021), we rather found that having to work or stay at home resulted in greater feelings of frustration and depression. The number of children as a second covariate affecting depressive symptoms as well as perceived stress should be investigated further as our model fit was ambiguous. Kowal et al. (2020), however, identified the number of children as a clear risk factor for higher levels of stress. Notably, we did not set out to test a model of risk and protective factors but focused on the dynamics between depressive symptoms and perceived stress and merely reported additional findings of tested covariates in this paragraph.

3.5.2 Strengths, Limitations and Future Directions

To the author's best knowledge, this was the first study to assess the reciprocal relations between depressive symptomatology and perceived stress of mothers with young infants and children in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic. By applying structural equation modeling in a cross-lagged panel design, which yields standardized partial regression weights, we may have accounted for the fact that perceived stress includes symptoms associated with emotional distress, which could be confounded with depressive symptoms. Moreover, we provided prevalence rates for two time points during the pandemic whereas many other studies were cross-sectional. In order to provide comparability to a wide range of studies, we additionally presented prevalence rates according to two common cut-off scores of the EPDS (equal or above 10 or 13) and not only distinguished between high and low levels of stress, but also assessed moderate levels to guarantee comparability to a wider range of other studies. Notably, these rates were assessed in Germany where everyone, regardless of their income, has health care coverage and access to state-funded child care, which may probably have resulted in an underestimation of these prevalence rates. Many pre-pandemic and pandemic studies have found higher rates in less economically developed countries (Q. Chen et al., 2022; Dadi et al., 2020; Reck et al., 2008). Additionally, our sample predominantly was highly educated, living in a relationship, and rather well-off. It might be best designated as WEIRD, with the acronym signifying (1) western, (2) educated, (3) industrialized, (4) rich, and (5) democratic (Henrich et al., 2010). The "total" prevalence in the general population may, therefore, be even larger. However, we might assume some extent of generalisability as our results were in line with a wide range of studies including meta-analyses across a wider range around the globe than usual in psychological science due to a global pandemic. Notably, we did not assess ethnicity in our German sample, which should definitely be recommended for future studies in order to warrant better comparability to other studies. Another limitation constitutes the fact that our prevalence rates rely on screening tools in the form of self-report questionnaires, inherently carrying response biases such as social desirability or response shifts due to multiple measurement points (Rosenman et al., 2011). One also needs to keep in mind that we here report prevalence rates of being at risk for depression, which should not be confused with reporting prevalence rates of actual diagnoses. People above the cut-off may very likely suffer from a depressive disorder or at least suffer from subclinical depressive symptoms. The actual prevalence of clinical depressive disorders assessed with structured clinical interviews, however, may very likely be lower as shown by Reck et al. (2008): 6.1%suffered from a postpartum depressive disorder according to the structured clinical interview for DSM-IV (Wittchen et al., 1997) vs. 23.6% lay above the cut-off of the EPDS and suffered from depressive symptoms. Notably, even subsyndromal depressive disorders may detrimentally affect childhood development and the mother-child relationship (Ramchandani et al., 2005; Tietz et al., 2014). Another limitation may be that our study could carry a bias by self-selection, meaning individuals who were interested in taking part in the online survey may possess particular characteristics, such as a greater severity of depressive symptoms or higher levels of stress. This may have eventuated in an overestimation of our prevalence rates.

We also need to keep in mind that we applied the total score of the PSS, and not the subscales scores, because we were interested in the overall level of perceived stress and its dynamics with depressive symptomatology. In their validation study of a bifactorial model, Reis et al. (2019) argue that researchers should make an informed decision whether they want to use the total score or the two subscale scores (i.e., perceived helplessness and perceived self-efficacy). As we chose the former, we need to be aware of the fact that the total variance in the total score of the PSS encompasses not only true reliable variance in the general factor but also - separate from item uniqueness and measurement error - unmodeled variance which should be attributed to the two specific factors. Hence, both the means of the total PSS sum score and correlations/predictions with/of the severity of depressive symptoms should be cautiously interpreted.

Regarding the EPDS, we may raise the question of what we actually measured with this self-report measure during a time of a global pandemic. Hammen (2005) reported that interpersonal vulnerability, as captured by measures of attitudes and beliefs about the self in relationships and importance of social connectedness to the self, predicted depression succeeding stressful life events with interpersonal content. In this linkage, the pandemic may be regarded as a stressful life event with interpersonal content, or rather the negation of interpersonal content as the stressor can be seen in the vast reduction of (real) interpersonal content due to strict social distancing measures and stay-at-home orders. The additional contribution of social connectedness in the prediction of depression might be of particular importance for future studies as for now we cannot rule out that the EPDS might rather be a measure of social connectedness than a measure of depressive symptomatology during a time of strict social distancing measures. A possible latent factor of social connectedness, which is strongly linked to depression (Hammen, 2005), might have highly influenced how participants filled out the items of the EPDS. Especially in light of our slightly ambiguous evidence of metric invariance as another limitation, we cannot be completely sure if we measured the same constructs at both time points. If not, this would imply a violation of the stationarity assumption of CLPMs (Kearney, 2017) which states that variables and relationships stay the same across time. However, in order to warrant comparability to the literature in the field, we did not set out to improve the measurement model and might not even have been able to do so as the contexts in which assessments took place in the course of the pandemic differed so drastically. We leave it to future research to further validate both questionnaires in different contexts such as a pandemic in general and at different stages of a pandemic in particular.

Additionally, some critical arguments against CLPMs remain to be discussed. First, realistically it is very difficult to adhere to the assumption of synchronicity, assuming that measurements at each time point occurred at the exact same time. The time frame of our first measurement point encompassed six months, which clearly violates this assumption. We, however, managed to assess as many mothers as possible during a much narrower time frame of one month at the second measurement point. Second, we assessed auto-regressive parameters to account for stability across time. This, however, implies that there are no between-subject, or inter-individual, differences over time in stability. Hence, differences between people which do exist, such as unobserved trait-like influences or dependencies, may bias findings (Kearney, 2017). This is an important general critique of the traditional CLPM (Hamaker et al., 2015; Lucas, 2022). It is, therefore, recommended to apply a model which can separate within-person effects from between-person associations by introducing a random-intercept for each construct which are allowed to correlate, i.e., a random-intercept cross-lagged panel model (RI-CLPM). This model, however, requires at least three measurement points in order to be identified (Usami et al., 2019), rendering it technically not feasible for this study. Lüdtke and Robitzsch (2021) further argued against the RI-CLPM in general that it has restricted potential to account for unobserved stable confounder variables when assessing cross-lagged effects according to their simulation studies. Moreover, the causal estimand (i.e., the target of inference) differs between both approaches. The cross-lagged effect in the CLPM aims at the effect of increasing the exposure by one unit whereas the within-person cross-lagged effect in the RI-CLPM estimates the effect of increasing the exposure by one unit around the person mean. Lüdtke and Robitzsch (2021) asserted that this within-person causal effect is usually less relevant when testing causal hypotheses with longitudinal data as it merely conveys temporary fluctuations around the individual person means and disregards the potential causal effects which may explicate differences between persons. Despite these limitations or rather different focus of the RI-CLPM, Lucas (2022), however, argued that there are no situations where the CLPM should be preferred to alternative models that comprise information about stable traits. According to their simulation data, the CLPM is very likely to detect spurious cross-lagged effects even when they do not exist. When they do exist, though, the CLPM tends to underestimate them. Furthermore, for a two-wave design, there are many plausible alternative models which can yield the same set of six correlations among our two variables. Estimating causal effects with non-experimental data faces many challenges (Reichardt, 2019) and two-wave designs are barely enough to encounter this endeavor (Ployhart & MacKenzie, 2014). We have acknowledged this during the analysis and will soon analyze data of a third wave.

However, as we base our model on a strong theoretical foundation by other, extensive longitudinal designs, we regarded it as a first step to address the question of reciprocal effects applying a CLPM. Rogosa (1995) pointed out that research should follow a certain hierarchy when discussing reciprocal relations using cross-lagged analyses: (1) Researchers should begin with analyzing how a single construct, e.g. the severity of depressive symptoms, changes over time; (2) they should address questions about individual differences in change of the severity of depressive over time, especially correlates of change in the severity of depressive symptoms; and (3) after such evidence, it appears reasonable to raise questions about reciprocal effects. As described in the introduction (see 1.3.2), we gathered some evidence for (1) and (2) for mothers in the peripartum period, and for (3) for adolescents or first year university students. For instance, Chow et al. (2019) provided 6 waves of data of mothers' depressive symptoms and perceived stress from pregnancy to two years postpartum, corroborating the predictive quality of prepartum depressive symptoms for perceived stress levels up to two years after delivery. They applied a growth mixture model, i.e. an extension of the latent growth curve model, which is a statistical approach for identifying distinct longitudinal trajectories for variables of interest. Law et al. (2019) and Mora et al. (2008) also applied an extensive latent growth curve modeling approach assessing depressive symptoms and perceived stress in the peripartum period. Notably, a distinct trajectory emerged for a certain percentage of mothers (7%) who were always or chronically depressed up to 25 months postpartum (Mora et al., 2008). So at least for a certain percentage of mothers, depressive symptomatology may be regarded as a stable trait, highlighting the need to actually apply a RI-CLPM. Brose et al. (2017) applied a fixed and random-effects cross-lagged panel model across three waves and combined it with an experience sampling method (ESM), also known as ecological momentary assessment (EMA), in which first year university students reported on their daily experiences at 10 semi-random occasions per day across 7 days. Their findings are in accordance with the stress exposure model, implying that stress can cause increases in depressive symptoms. It is important to note that this study aimed at stressful experiences in daily life. The authors regard micro-level stressful experiences as etiological factors of depression. Assessing adolescents' depressive symptomatology and perceived stress, Calvete et al. (2015) and Martinez and Bámaca-Colbert (2019) used a traditional CLPM across three waves, putting their bidirectional effects on a less firmer empirical footing (Lucas, 2022).

Applying a traditional two-wave CLPM based on a large online survey, which was established under very difficult working conditions at the beginning of the pandemic, may be regarded as a first step to investigate the relation between maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress during the pandemic. In the meantime while finalizing this study, a third wave of data had been collected. This creates the possibility for a future study to rerun our cross-lagged panel analyses but this time applying a random-intercept cross-lagged panel model which may be compared to a traditional, or fixed-intercept, cross-lagged panel model. The CLPM is nested within the RI-CLPM, that is, the CLPM is equivalent to the RI-CLPM when constraining the random-intercept, or stable-trait, variance to 0. However, as it may be argued whether the model fit should be the appropriate criterion for deciding between the two models (Orth et al., 2021), we will follow Lucas (2022) and rather rely on the cross-lagged effects provided by the RI-CLPM than the ones by the CLPM in case both models yield good model fits. In addition, we will run a CLPM with additional lag-2 effects (i.e., effects of variables across two units of time) as recommended by Lüdtke and Robitzsch (2021). In their simulation study, they showed that the RI-CLPM was limited in its capacity to control for unobserved stable confounder variables. The CLPM with additional lag-2 effects could adequately control for delayed effects, provided that all relevant covariates were measured. Since the latter seems a bit idealistic, even though we measured a large number of covariates, we will regard the CLPM with additional lag-2 effects as an additional exploratory model. Moreover, having a closer look at the slopes of the single lines in figures 3.4 and 3.5, our individual slopes, i.e. the size of the individual difference between T1 and T2, seem to vary to a great degree. Hence, it might even be useful to include random slopes in our future model tests once data preparation of our third measurement point will be finished.

Also, further investigations should include additional variables, such as perceived social support, couple relationship satisfaction, or bonding, as these variables have been linked to the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress (Jenkins et al., 2020; Leonard et al., 2020; Reck, Zietlow, et al., 2016). Future studies should also assess maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress at multiple waves in the peripartum period, best combining an ESM approach with a cross-lagged analyses including fixed, i.e., estimating parameters that are constant across individuals, and random, i.e., estimating between-person differences, parts, as done by Brose et al. (2017) with adolescents. Thus, prevalence rates at different stages of this vulnerable period plus the bidirectional link between the two constructs can be further investigated. This may foster our understanding of how and when to preferably support mothers in order to provide leverage for policy-makers in future crisis.

3.5.3 Conclusion

This study lent support to the hypotheses that the overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress of mothers with children aged 0-3 increased in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is in line with current meta-analyses (Q. Chen et al., 2022; Safi-Keykaleh et al., 2022). Prevalence rates might have strongly depended on the extent of confinement measures at the time of measurement (Adams et al., 2021; Fernandes et al., 2022), corroborating the need to implement preventative interventions specifically during lockdown periods. Given that even subclinical maternal depressive symptoms may adversely affect child development (Ramchandani et al., 2005), at least 33.8% of children were at risk of developmentally suffering under the depressive symptoms of their mothers in Germany between May and November 2020, whereas a disturbingly high percentage of 55.1% were at risk in February/March 2021. 15.2% of mothers between May and November 2020 and 26.0% in February/March 2021 additionally suffered from high perceived stress levels, putting children at risk for abuse, neglect, and domestic violence (Calvano et al., 2021; Freisthler, Wolf, et al., 2021). As the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress seem to linearly depend on their own previous values (i.e., significant auto-regressive effects) and to reciprocally predict each other (i.e., significant cross-lagged effects), prevention and intervention programs should (1) screen and treat mothers as early as possible to mitigate the risk for succeeding depressive symptoms and perceived stress, and (2) focus on both depressive symptom reduction and perceived stress relief to most successfully decrease mothers' level of suffering in both areas. These latter results should be regarded as preliminary and interpreted very cautiously as we faced several methodological shortcomings. Nevertheless, in light of very high and increasing prevalence rates across both time points, high correlations of both constructs within time points, and a potential bidirectional link between the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress, we may conclude that mothers should be supported as early as possible, targeting both areas of adversities. This applies to the vulnerable peripartum period in general, and to the peripartum period during the exceptional state of a global pandemic in particular.

3.6 Supplementary Files

As we embrace the values of openness and transparency in science (http://www.resear chtransparency.org/), the pre-registration, data sets, analysis code, and supplementary material concerning this chapter were also published online and may be accessed via the provided URL or DOI.

3.6.1 Pre-Registration

The study was pre-registered on AsPredicted. The pre-registration may be accessed via https://aspredicted.org/h4zz5.pdf.

3.6.2 Data

The data sets were published on PsychArchives (Woll, Reck, Marx, et al., 2022) and may be accessed via http://dx.doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives.8227. A README file is offered to guide researchers through data processing. A codebook is provided to list information such as names and labels of all variables.

3.6.3 Analysis Code

The analysis code was published on PsychArchives (Woll, Marx, et al., 2022) as a R Markdown file and may be accessed via http://dx.doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives.8228. The code is comprehensively commented to enable traceability and reproducibility of the analysis.

3.6.4 Supplementary Material

The supplementary material was published on PsychArchives (Woll, 2022b) and comprises the analysis code as a knitted PDF file based on the R Markdown file to provide an easily accessible way to retrace the analysis. It may be accessed via http://dx.doi.org/10.23668/ psycharchives.8229.

Chapter 4

Ongoing Study 3: Summary of the Study Protocol of the COMPARE-Interaction Study

This chapter serves as a summary of a study protocol published within the writing period of this thesis (Zietlow et al., 2022). Nevertheless, the highlights of this cutting-edge, ongoing developmental study were summarized here to present an outlook for possible analyses in the near future. The author of this thesis had the idea to publish the study protocol and majorly drafted the manuscript as a shared first author. The full study protocol as an open access publication is attached (see appendix C). The acronym COMPARE stands for children of mentally ill parents at risk evaluation.

4.1 Theoretical Background

As already comprehensively described (see 1.2.1), maternal depressive and anxiety disorders are the most common psychiatric disorders in the peripartum period, with prevalences ranging from 6.1 % to 11% (Woody et al., 2017) for depressive disorders and 11.1 % to 17.9 % for anxiety disorders (Reck et al., 2008; van de Loo et al., 2018). It is noteworthy that peripartum depressive and anxiety disorders frequently co-occur in around 50 % of women (Penninx et al., 2011). Effects on child development for the single disorders are well documented (Glasheen et al., 2010; S. H. Goodman et al., 2011; Oyetunji & Chandra, 2020). In light of this high comorbidity, it is surprising that, to the best of our knowledge, no research has yet addressed the effects of *comorbid* peripartum depressive and anxiety disorders on child development.

Infant and child development is not solely affected by maternal psychiatric disorders, but rather the quality of mother-child interaction mediates these effects (Mäntymaa et al., 2009; Stanley et al., 2004). Given the still sparse and heterogeneous data base of how anxious mothers interact with their children, it is of particular importance to further investigate this intergenerational transmission pathway. Measures such as maternal sensitivity (see 1.1.2) and infant stress reactivity have proven to be valid predictors for infants' and children's affect regulation (Feldman et al., 2009; Müller et al., 2015; Van den Bergh et al., 2020). Besides being associated with the quality of mother-infant interaction, infants' stress reactivity may be more directly or physically influenced by the mothers' stress reactivity (Zijlmans et al., 2015). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis is one important psycho-physiological system to deal with stress on a hormonal level. Its end product is the hormone cortisol which might account for the associations between maternal stress and psychopathology as well child development (Van den Bergh et al., 2020). Elevated maternal cortisol levels as a reaction to stress may influence the offspring's functioning of the HPA axis. Consequently, children may exhibit increased cortisol levels and increased cortisol reactivity (Zijlmans et al., 2015), and a heightened risk for developmental problems. Also, a higher cortisol reactivity for both mothers and infants was associated with maternal depression and anxiety (Feldman et al., 2009).

The role fathers play in these complex associations has not yet been investigated comprehensively. More and more research has been involving fathers in developmental research (Yap & Jorm, 2015; Yap et al., 2014), revealing that insensitive and unresponsive fathers may also be a risk factor for child development, in particular socio-emotional development. Paternal sensitivity may, therefore, be regarded as a protective factor, as shown in population-based and high risk samples (Lewin et al., 2015). Furthermore, patterns of the couple interaction between father and mother have been shown to be predictive for later parent-child interaction (Tanner Stapleton & Bradbury, 2012).

In summary, the COMPARE study addresses the impact of maternal (1) depressive disorders and (2) comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders on infant and child development. A specific focus will be set on the mediating effects of mother/father-infant-interaction, in particular sensitivity, and infant stress reactivity (see figure 4.1).

4.2 Methods

The study design is longitudinal and assesses maternal and paternal psychopathology, mother-infant/father-infant interaction, as well as child cognitive and socio-emotional development at four measurement points over the first two years of children's life: T1: 3-4 months postpartum, T2: 12 months postpartum, T3: 18 months postpartum, and T4: 24 months postpartum. 174 families, more specifically, n = 58 mothers with a peripartum depressive disorder, n = 58 mothers with a peripartum depressive and comorbid anxiety disorder, and n = 58 healthy controls, were planned to include in the study which started in January 2018. In the meantime, 146 mother-infant dyads could be included, interviewed and tested at T1. Recruitment is in its final stage and will be finished by November 2022. Findings for the first measurement point may thus be available at the beginning of next year. 89 mother-infant dyads have already completed the whole four measurement points



Figure 4.1: Main mediation model of the COMPARE-Interaction study (adapted from Zietlow et al., 2022, p. 8). Notably, the correlation between maternal sensitivity and infant cortisol reactivity will also be acknowledged. Figure available at https://osf.io/7xdy3/, under a CC-BY4.0 license.

and thus finished the study. Unfortunately, only 57 fathers (39 %) could be included due to no interest in participating, not enough time due to their jobs, etc., even though we offered very flexible assessment hours.

The primary outcome measures comprise infants' internalizing and externalizing behavior problems measured by the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL; Arbeitsgruppe Deutsche Child Behavior Checklist, 2000) and the cognitive scale of the Bayley's Infant Development Scale III (Reuner & Rosenkranz, 2015) at 24 months postpartum. (1) Maternal interaction quality, more precisely maternal sensitivity coded from video recordings of free-play situations by the Coding Interactive Behavior manual (CIB; Feldman, 1998), and (2) infant stress reactivity, assessed via salivary cortisol, at the infants' age of 12 months are examined as primary mediators.

Secondary outcome measures include imitation and joint attention at 12 months as well as language development (Grimm et al., 2000), child fearfulness (Liew et al., 2011), and empathy (Paulus et al., 2013) at 24 months of age. Secondary mediators comprise further maternal interactional qualities, such as intrusiveness, limit setting, and exploration, as well as *paternal* sensitivity, intrusiveness, limit setting, and exploration, as single dimensions of the CIB. The postpartum bonding quality can also be considered as an additional mediator. Secondary independent variables include parental reflective functioning (Luyten et al., 2017) and epistemic trust (Nolte et al., n.d.), i.e. a person's acceptance and openness that information communicated by someone else may be relevant, applicable and overall trustworthy (Campbell et al., 2021; Fonagy & Allison, 2014). Fonagy and collegues regard epistemic trust as a key developmental component which children develop if being adequately mentalized by their caregivers. Notably, mentalizing describes the overarching mental capacity, operationalized by measures of reflective functioning. Furthermore, dyadic interaction quality may be also assessed via the ICEP-R, coded from videographed FFSF experiments at three-to-four months of age. A full list of measures of this comprehensive study can be found on pages 6 and 7 of the study protocol in appendix C.

Parallel mediation analyses will be carried out testing the model depicted in figure 4.1 as our main model. The standard errors and confidence intervals if the indirect, i.e. mediated, effect will be bootstrapped and bias-corrected (n = 5000 samples). Variables will be meancentered and parameter estimates will be tested two-tailed with a critical $\alpha = .025$, that is, Bonferroni adjusted for two primary outcomes/models of child development.

4.3 Discussion

As peripartum depression as well as comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders may affect infant and child development, it is crucial to further investigate this association which may be mediated by the quality of caregiver-infant interaction. As far as we know, the COMPARE-Interaction study is the first study to longitudinally assess the influence of comorbid maternal mood disorders on child development on a behavioral, relational, hormonal, developmental, and clinical psychological level. We set a focus on children's internalizing and externalizing behavior problems and their cognitive development at 24 months of age. The focus of mediating effects was set to maternal sensitivity and infant cortisol reactivity at 12 months of age. Our multimethodological approach further allows to investigate potential linkages between a wide range of other promising and fruitful measures, such as postpartum bonding, perceived stress, parental reflective functioning, parental embodied mentalizing, and epistemic trust. Thus, several qualities of maternal mental health, different levels of transmission pathways, and effects on child development may be further investigated according to the transmission model presented in the introduction in figure 1.1.

A unique strength of this study is the inclusion of fathers which grants us the opportunity to examine families from a comprehensive perspective and to investigate their role as a potential buffer in the family system. It is crucial to expand models for developmental psychopathology and integrate the role of the wider social and cultural environment for human cognitive and socio-emotional development (Fonagy et al., 2021). Focusing on the immediate caregiving context may be regarded as insufficient. As strongly as we agree with this perspective, in practice, we even faced major difficulties of including fathers into our study. Widening the focus to including, for instance, peers or teachers in future studies might therefore require more resources. However, only thus can we further improve prevention and intervention approaches to foster children's healthy development.

Chapter 5

Overall discussion

5.1 Findings and Contributions

This work aimed to assess the relations between several domains of early human development. A specific focus lay on the associations between the mother-infant relationship, dyadic interaction, and child development in the context of maternal mental health. Additionally, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic needed to be taken into consideration as a very particular contextual factor. In two empirical studies and one brief report of an ongoing, longitudinal developmental study, the goal was to contribute to the existing body of literature on how and when to best support both mother and child in the vulnerable peripartum period. As findings are based on foundational research, they may inform and guide policy-makers as well as further prevention and intervention research.

Study 1 investigated the mediating role of maternal pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal depressive and/or anxiety disorders and the dyadic interaction quality. Second and third, this mediating role was examined in the context of each depressive and anxiety symptom severity. Finally, we conducted further exploratory analyses assessing the relationship between maternal bonding and the severity of (1) depressive symptoms as well as (2) anxiety symptoms across three different time points in the peripartum period.

Regarding study 1, our results did not provide evidence for a mediating effect of maternal pre- and postpartum bonding in the relationship between maternal psychopathology and the quality of mother-infant interaction, probably due to our small sample size and therefore low power. These findings are not in line with prior research showing longer latencies to interactive reparation, i.e. our measure of the coordination in mother-infant interaction, for depressed mothers (Reck et al., 2011). In our data set, the interactive reparation showed a skewed distribution, rendering a thorough assessment unfeasible. It should, therefore, be further investigated in larger samples because we regard it as a promising marker of interactive quality according to recent research (Müller et al., 2015; Müller et al., 2022). It is noteworthy that Müller et al. (2015) found no association between interactive reparation and maternal anxiety disorders, but with infant stress reactivity, might be explained by the notion that the infants react to what they experience during the interaction and not to a maternal diagnostic category. Additional exploratory analyses revealed that bonding as well as the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms at earlier stages of the peripartum period predicted their respective subsequent level at a later peripartum stage. Both symptom measures were also negatively associated with the bonding quality 4-8 weeks postpartum. In addition to that, anxiety symptoms were negatively associated with the bonding quality at the second trimester. These findings are in line with a number of studies showing a connection between the pre- and postpartum level of depressive and anxiety symptoms, as well as bonding, respectively (Dubber et al., 2015; Ohara et al., 2017; Rossen et al., 2016). Thus our findings support previous research asserting that the administration of screenings to identify women at risk of bonding issues, depression and anxiety should start *during pregnancy* and be universal practice to foster the long-term well-being of mothers and children (Biaggi et al., 2016).

Study 2 solely focused on maternal mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic, targeting the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress. The aims of this study were threefold: We (1) assessed the overall severity of maternal depressive symptoms and perceived stress at two time points during the pandemic and reported prevalence rates, (2) compared the respective overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress between the two time points, and (3) examined the reciprocal relation between these two constructs.

Our findings of study 2 corroborated the conjecture that the overall severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress of mothers with children aged 0-3 increased in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is in line with current meta-analyses (Q. Chen et al., 2022; Safi-Keykaleh et al., 2022). A potential explanation for the increased overall rates could be that prevalence rates might have strongly depended on the extent of confinement measures at the time of measurement (Adams et al., 2021; Fernandes et al., 2022). This underlines the need to implement preventative interventions specifically during lockdown periods. Given that even subclinical maternal depressive symptoms may adversely affect child development (Ramchandani et al., 2005), at least 33.8% of children were at risk of developmentally suffering under the depressive symptoms of their mothers in Germany between May and November 2020, whereas a disturbingly high percentage of 55.1% were at risk in February/March 2021. 15.2% of mothers between May and November 2020 and 26.0% in February/March 2021 additionally suffered from high perceived stress levels, which, according to Calvano et al. (2021) and Freisthler, Wolf, et al. (2021), put children at risk for abuse, neglect, and domestic violence. As the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress seems to linearly depend on their own prior values (i.e., significant auto-regressive effects) and to reciprocally predict each other (i.e., significant cross-lagged effects), prevention and intervention programs should (1) screen and treat mothers as early as possible to mitigate the risk for subsequent depressive symptoms and perceived stress, and (2) focus on both depressive symptom reduction and perceived stress relief to most successfully decrease mothers' level of suffering in both areas. These latter results should be regarded as preliminary and interpreted very cautiously as we faced some methodological shortcomings (i.e., only two assessment points not allowing to account for between-person associations by a random intercept model). Nevertheless, in light of very high and increasing prevalence rates across both time points, high correlations of both constructs within time points, and a potential bidirectional link between the severity of depressive symptoms and perceived stress, we may conclude that mothers should be supported as early as possible, targeting both areas of adversities.

Finally, the ongoing COMPARE-Interaction study was outlined to provide future perspectives, especially for the assessment of how maternal comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders may impact child cognitive and socio-emotional development compared to solely depressive disorders and a healthy control group. As far as we are aware, the COMPARE-Interaction study is the first study to longitudinally assess the influence of comorbid maternal mood disorders on child development on a behavioral, relational, hormonal, developmental, and clinical psychological level. We set a focus on children's internalizing and externalizing behavior problems and their cognitive development at 24 months of age. The focus of mediating effects was set to maternal sensitivity and infant cortisol reactivity at 12 months of age.

Summarizing the main findings of study 1 and 2, we found that preceding maternal depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, perceived stress, and bonding quality predicted the subsequent level of the respective measure. Also, maternal depressive symptoms were highly associated with perceived stress in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, maternal postpartum depressive symptoms were negatively related to the bonding quality at 4-8 weeks after birth. Maternal anxiety symptoms were negatively associated to the bonding quality in the second trimester as well as at 4-8 weeks after birth. These findings corroborate the evidence provided by previous research asserting that peripartum care has a crucial role to play at key points during both pregnancy and the postpartum period to foster both the mother-to-fetus/infant bond and to mitigate symptoms of depression, anxiety, and perceived stress (Biaggi et al., 2016; Dubber et al., 2015; Ohara et al., 2017; Rossen et al., 2016). The findings may inform and guide policy-makers as well as prevention and intervention approaches to screen and, if necessary, support mothers as early as possible. The ongoing study 3, the COMPARE-Interaction study, so far contributes in that sense that it can provide future perspectives, especially for the investigation of detrimental effects on child development.

5.2 Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research

A major strength of this work is that we applied a variety of different measures and methods to assess associations between several aspects of maternal mental health, dyadic interaction, and the mother-infant relationship. Implications for child development were theoretically corroborated and can be further examined in the COMPARE-Interaction study. Measures comprised microanalytically coded video data, self-report measures, and diagnostic interviews. The COMPARE study will also provide data of psychophysiological measures, such as infant cortisol reactivity. Furthermore, the statistical analyses included structural equation modeling applying both mediation and cross-lagged panel analyses. We also adhered to current guidelines of open science. Ensuring a transparent and reproducible research process, we published our pre-registrations, analysis scripts, and data sets on publicly accessible online platforms, i.e. PsychArchives and OSF.

Some general limitations regarding this work comprise WEIRD samples in both empirical studies, a low power in study 1, and a two-wave design in study 2. The first and second limitation may only be solved in future research if more resources are provided for research. In order to get more representative samples, monetary incentives might be helpful. Additionally, since especially clinical research is extremely time-consuming and emotionally challenging for researchers themselves (Kumar & Cavallaro, 2018), more resources for personnel is essentially needed. The limitation of a two-wave design in study 2 has already been solved as data collection for a third wave has been finished in the meantime while finalizing this work. Hence, we may base our future analysis plan for continuing investigations of the relation between depressive symptoms and perceived stress on a firmer footing. As debates about the relative merits of traditional CLPMs versus RI-CLPMs (and even more complex alternatives with random slopes, for instance) continue (Lucas, 2022; Lüdtke & Robitzsch, 2021), we aim to test a RI-CLPM against a CLPM in the near future. An exemplary R code for an RI-CLPM, which may account for between-person associations, has already been provided in the supplementary files (see 3.6.3). In case of equal model fit, it is usually recommended to rely on the more parsimonious model, i.e. the traditional CLPM. However, as it may be argued whether the model fit should be the appropriate criterion for deciding between the two models (Orth et al., 2021), we will follow Lucas (2022) and rather rely on the cross-lagged effects provided by the RI-CLPM than the ones by the CLPM in case both models yield good model fits. Their simulation studies showed better estimates for the RI-CLPM than for the CLPM for a wide range of scenarios applicable to psychological research. It will also be very interesting to test the random slopes, i.e. the rates of change between the measurement points, as they seemed to vary to a great degree across individuals in our study.

Another future perspective constitutes the opportunity to re-investigate the associations examined in study 1 and 2, i.e. between maternal depressive and anxiety disorders, bonding, stress and the quality of mother-infant interaction, in the COMPARE-Interaction study. The COMPARE study provides a larger sample size of very probably above 150 mother-infant dyads, enabling us to further assess intergenerational transmission pathways on the emotional, dyadic-behavioral, and regulatory level and to investigate a wide range of other promising and fruitful measures, such as postpartum bonding, perceived stress, parental reflective functioning, parental embodied mentalizing, and epistemic trust.
Furthermore, the COMPARE study clearly distinguishes between two clinical groups, i.e. comorbid depressive and anxiety disorders vs. depressive disorders (each additionally compared to a healthy control group). It, thus, allows us to more clearly assess the unique contribution of anxiety disorders, whereas in the study 1 section of this work we had to combine both disorders into one clinical group due to our limited sample size. However, even though the sample size of the COMPARE study is larger and represents an adequate size for our proposed analyses, it is still too limited to draw differential conclusions about individual anxiety disorders, i.e. generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, etc., A unique strength of the COMPARE study is the inclusion of fathers which grants us the opportunity to examine families from an overall perspective and to investigate their role as a potential buffer in the family system. As Fonagy et al. (2021) demand, it is crucial to expand models for developmental psychopathology and integrate the role of the wider social and cultural environment for human cognitive and socio-emotional development. Focusing on the immediate caregiving context is insufficient. As strongly as we agree with this perspective, in practice, we even faced major difficulties of including fathers into our study. Widening the focus to including, for instance, peers or teachers in future studies might therefore also require more resources. In an already drafted follow-up study of the COMPARE-interaction study, we aim to additionally include a peer-child interaction to assess and compare children's behavioral and affective regulation in different contexts. This may further support our understanding of social learning and development and thus guide future prevention and intervention approaches.

Currently, prevention and intervention approaches specifically focusing on the motherinfant relationship and dyadic coordination in the peripartum period are still sparse. However, according to Branjerdporn et al. (2017), several interventions targeting the motherto-infant bond in the prepartum period have demonstrated promising results. These programs facilitate awareness of the fetal position via abdominal self-examination (Nishikawa & Sakakibara, 2013), affection expression (Chang et al., 2004), and tactile and verbal interaction with the fetus (Bellieni et al., 2007; J. S. Kim & Cho, 2004). To promote and foster well-being in the postpartum period, video-supported interventions aiming at transforming maladaptive forms of dyadic interaction into ones which more effectively decrease infant distress might be helpful (Müller et al., 2015; Reck et al., 2011). The Video Intervention Therapy (VIT) by Downing et al. (2014) appears to be a particular viable and promising approach to enhance the flexibility in the dyadic coordination of mismatching and positive matching states (Reck et al., 2022). Its effectiveness for treating bonding issues and depressive and anxiety disorders require further examination, but first results of a pilot study seem promising (Crugnola et al., 2016).

Lastly, it seems very encouraging to further assess the dyadic coordination on a microanalytic level via non-linear time series analyses, such as Cross-Recurrence Quantification Analyses (Coco & Dale, 2014; Wallot & Leonardi, 2018; Xu et al., 2020). Such fine-grained and dynamic methods are promising approaches to further validate the measure of interactive reparation as an essential quality of dyadic co-regulation and to thus foster our understanding of the Mutual Regulation Model. This approach does not require a specific distribution of data and can deal with our categorically coded video data of study 1 very well. Every ICEP-R code is regarded as an event which is collected over time with time as the ordering variable. A Recurrence Quantification Analysis refers to the analysis of a single/individual time series (e.g. one participant alone), which can, for instance, provide the general tendency of an underlying system, e.g. the infant's self-regulatory capacities, to repeat itself. A Cross-Recurrence Quantification Analysis refers to the coupled analysis of two individuals in a dyadic interaction and reflects the patterns of coupling between two individuals, e.g. matches between mother and infant.

5.3 Conclusion

We empirically and longitudinally investigated the associations between mother-infant bonding, dyadic interaction, and maternal mental health during the peripartum period. The COVID-19 pandemic has constituted a very particular context. The findings of this work provide evidentiary support that mothers should be supported as early as possible when peripartum maternal mental health issues, such as depressive or anxiety symptomatology, impaired bonding, or perceived stress, occur. This applies to the vulnerable peripartum period in general, and to the peripartum period during the exceptional state of a global pandemic in particular. Only thus may intergenerational transmission processes be countered at early stages in order to mitigate and prevent potential detrimental effects on child development. The ongoing COMPARE-Interaction study will soon shed more light on this complex, multicausal and dynamic process.

German Summary - Zusammenfassung

Die Zeit der Schwangerschaft und der ersten Lebensmonate eines Säuglings stellen eine vulnerable Phase für dessen Bezugspersonen dar, denn die psychischen und physischen Herausforderungen der Elternschaft bringen weitreichende Implikationen für die Lebensund Beziehungsreorganisation mit sich (O'Hara, 2009). Im Peripartalzeitraum besteht daher ein erhöhtes Risiko für Mütter, eine psychische Störung zu entwickeln (Banti et al., 2011; Howard et al., 2017). Besonders häufig treten peripartale Depressionen und Angststörungen, oftmals auch komorbid, auf (Reck et al., 2008), weswegen ein Fokus auf diese Störungsbilder im Dissertationsprojekt gelegt wurde. Woody et al. (2017) berichten in einer Stichprobe mit Müttern eine Prävalenzrate für peripartale depressive Störungen von 11,9 Prozent; für peripartale Angststörungen werden die Prävalenzraten generell sogar noch etwas höher als für depressive Störungen geschätzt (7,3-15,6 Prozent; Martini et al., 2015). Väter können ebenso von einer höheren psychischen Belastung betroffen sein (Gawlik et al., 2013). In diesem Projekt werden jedoch maternale psychische Beeinträchtigungen fokussiert, da Mütter nach wie vor in den meisten Fällen die primären Bezugspersonen sind und im Vergleich zu Vätern unproportional durch die Schwangerschaft, Versorgung und Erziehung gefordert werden (Fuchs, 2018; Harmon & Perry, 2011).

Einerseits können durch psychische Beeinträchtigungen Schwierigkeiten auf Seiten der Mütter für den Umgang mit ihren Säuglingen entstehen. Depressiven Müttern scheint es schwerer zu fallen, eine Verbindung und Beziehung mit ihren Neugeborenen, genauer ein Bonding, aufzubauen (Edhborg et al., 2011; Nonnenmacher et al., 2016). Des Weiteren geben Mütter, die an einer peripartalen Depression und Angststörung leiden, an, ein geringeres Selbstwertgefühl zu haben (Reck et al., 2012; Zietlow et al., 2014). Im Umgang mit ihren Kindern weisen sie außerdem eine geminderte Responsivität, Feinfühligkeit und Strukturiertheit auf (Kluczniok et al., 2016) Andererseits kann auf Seiten der Kinder eine maternale Depression oder Angststörung einen weitreichenden Belastungsfaktor in ihrer Entwicklung darstellen. Das Risiko der Kinder, selbst an einer Depression oder Angststörung zu erkranken, steigt auf das Zwei- bis Fünffache, wenn mindestens ein Elternteil an einer Depression erkrankt ist (Apter-Levy et al., 2013; Micco et al., 2009). Zahlreiche systematische Übersichtsarbeiten und Metaanalysen legen nahe, dass neben dem Krankheitsrisiko diverse weitere Entwicklungsparameter der Kinder durch die Psychopathologie der Mutter beeinträchtigt werden (S. H. Goodman et al., 2011; Kingston & Tough, 2014; Wan & Green, 2009). So zeigen sich beispielsweise negative Effekte sowohl auf die kognitive und feinmotorische Entwicklung der Kinder (Koutra et al., 2013), den Spracherwerb (Quevedo et al., 2012; Reck, Van den Bergh, et al., 2018), die Bindung (Martins & Gaffan, 2000) als auch auf exekutive Funktionen und das Gedächtnis (Vänskä et al., 2011a). Aktuelle Daten weisen darauf hin, dass in der frühen Kindheit die Bezugsperson-Kind-Interaktion einen bedeutsamen Vermittlungsweg zwischen der Psychopathologie der Bezugsperson und der kindlichen Entwicklung darstellt (Müller et al., 2015). Besonders relevant in diesem Zusammenhang ist die Fähigkeit der Mutter, die Signale des Säuglings wahrzunehmen, sie richtig zu interpretieren sowie prompt und angemessen auf jene zu reagieren. Diese sogenannte maternale Feinfühligkeit, deren Konzeptualisierung auf die Bindungsforscherin Mary Ainsworth zurückgeht (Ainsworth et al., 1978), scheint vor allem im Zuge maternaler depressiver Symptomatik beeinträchtigt zu sein und negative Effekte auf die kindliche Entwicklung zu vermitteln (Edwards & Hans, 2015).

Basierend auf diesen bindungstheoretischen sowie weiteren, sozialkognitiven Konzepten (Theory of Mind; Premack and Woodruff, 1978 entwickelten Fonagy und Kolleg:innen das Konzept der Mentalisierung, in dem die Feinfühligkeit der Bezugspersonen eine wichtige Rolle einnimmt (Fonagy et al., 2002; Fonagy et al., 2015). Die Mentalisierungsfähigkeit eines Menschen beschreibt die basale Kapazität, von menschlichem Verhalten auf mentale Zustände (z.B. Bedürfnisse, Wünsche, Gefühle, Ansichten, Ziele, Überzeugungen und Gründe) zu schließen (Fonagy et al., 2002; Fonagy & Target, 2006). Diese Fähigkeit kann sich sowohl auf das eigene (mentalization of self) als auch auf das Verhalten anderer (mentalization of others) beziehen. Fonagy and Allison (2014) gehen davon aus, dass die Fähigkeit einer Bezugsperson, die Intentionen, Gedanken und Gefühle ihres Kindes adäquat zu mentalisieren, die Voraussetzung dafür bildet, ihre Kommunikation an den jeweiligen Entwicklungsstand des Kindes feinfühlig anzupassen und darauf abzustimmen. Im Zusammenhang mit psychischen Belastungsfaktoren kann die Mentalisierungsfähigkeit der Mutter jedoch beeinträchtigt werden (Luyten et al., 2017), wodurch ein feinfühliger Umgang und eine adäquate Kommunikation mit dem Kind gefährdet werden können (Fonagy & Allison, 2014), was einen Risikofaktor für die kindliche Entwicklung darstellen kann (Edwards & Hans, 2015).

Angesichts der weitreichenden negativen Einflüsse psychischer Beeinträchtigungen der Eltern auf die Entwicklung ihrer Kinder erscheint es von größter Wichtigkeit, die entsprechenden Transmissionswege umfassender zu untersuchen (Montirosso et al., 2020). Einen wichtigen Transmissionsweg stellt die Mutter-Kind-Interaktion dar (Reck et al., 2022), die sich vor allem mit einem standardisierten Experiment, dem Face-to-Face-Still-Face-Paradigma (Tronick et al., 1978), genauer untersuchen lässt. Dieses Paradigma besteht aus drei Phasen. Zunächst (1) interagieren Mutter und Kind zwei Minuten miteinander, (2) anschließend kommt es zu einer zweiminütigen Interaktionsunterbrechung, in der die Mutter mit regungsloser Mimik zwei Minuten über das Kind hinwegschaut und nicht mit ihrem Kind interagiert, und (3) in den folgenden zwei Minuten wendet die Mutter sich wieder ihrem Kind zu und nimmt die Interaktion wieder auf. Die Videoaufnahmen können im Anschluss mit dem mikroanalytischen Kodiersystem Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases (ICEP-R; Reck et al., 2009) ausgewertet werden. Die Qualität der dyadischen Koordination bzw. Koregulation kann über die sogenannte interactive reparation (Müller et al., 2015) operationalisiert werden. Dieser Prozess beschreibt die Qualität der wechselseitigen Regulation (mutual regulation; Gianino and Tronick, 1988) zwischen Bezugsperson und Kleinkind. Die Variable interactive reparation beschreibt die Latenzzeit, die die Dyade im Durchschnitt benötigt, um von einem affektiv und behavioral abgestimmtem Zustand (match) zum nächsten zu gelangen, das bedeutet, die Latenzzeit, die benötigt wird einen affektiv und behavioral unkoordinierten Zustand (mismatch) zu "reparieren". Die mittlere Zeitlatenz wird aus den Verhaltensströmen der Mütter und Kinder anhand definierter Ereignisse (gleichzeitiges Auftreten einzelner Codes) ermittelt.

Nur durch ein besseres Verständnis dieses komplexen, multikausalen und dynamischen Prozesses lassen sich spezifische Präventions- und Interventionsprogramme anpassen und weiterentwickeln (Downing et al., 2014). Zur genaueren Beschreibung und weiteren Untersuchung der Transmission entwickelten Reck und Kollegen auf der Basis eigener und zahlreicher weiterer Befunde ein Transmissionsmodell (Müller, 2017; Reck et al., 2022), welches in Abbildung 5.1 vereinfacht dargestellt ist. Psychische Beeinträchtigungen der Bezugspersonen beeinflussen in diesem Transmissionsmodell die kindliche Entwicklung via drei Ebenen. Auf (1) emotionaler Ebene scheint vor allem die Bezugsperson-Kind-Beziehung einen entscheidenden Mediator darzustellen (Branjerdporn et al., 2017; Mason et al., 2011). Auf (2) dyadisch-behavioraler Ebene steht die Bezugsperson-Kind-Interaktion als Mediator im Fokus (Edwards & Hans, 2015). Die dritte Ebene bildet (3) die regulatorische Mediationsebene. Auf dieser Ebene vermittelt sich der Effekt psychischer Beeinträchtigungen der Eltern auf die Entwicklung der Kinder über die Stressreaktivität der Kinder und deren Kapazität, Stress zu regulieren (Gunnar & Quevedo, 2007; Müller et al., 2016). Alle drei Mediationsebenen sind nicht unabhängig voneinander, sondern beeinflussen sich gegenseitig (Müller, 2017).

Das Dissertationsprojekt nahm einzelne Domänen und Vermittlungswege dieses Modells genauer in den Fokus. Genauer betrachtet wurden die Zusammenhänge zwischen der Mutter-Kind-Beziehung bzw. des Mutter-Kind-Bondings, der dyadischen Interaktion und der Entwicklung der Kinder im Kontext maternaler psychischer Beeinträchtigungen. Einen weiteren Kontext umfasste die COVID-19 Pandemie, die eine genauere Betrachtung maternaler Beeinträchtigungen, insbesondere der depressiven Symptomatik und des Stresserlebens, unabdingbar machten. Denn die Prävalenzraten für diese Domänen scheinen im Kontext der Pandemie gestiegen zu sein (Achterberg et al., 2021; Q. Chen et al., 2022; Suárez-Rico et al., 2021), was neben dem erhöhten Leidensdruck für Mütter auch weitreichende Auswirkungen auf deren Kinder hatte (Calvano et al., 2021; Freisthler, Gruenewald, et al., 2021). In zwei empirischen Studien und der Zusammenfassung einer aktuell laufenden Studien sollte genauer betrachtet werden, wie und wann Mütter und ihre Kinder in der vulnerablen Peripartalzeit unterstützt werden können. Da diese Untersuchungen grundlagenforschender Natur sind, können sie dazu dienen zukünftige Präventions- und Interventionsansätze weiterzuentwickeln und politische Entscheidungsträger über die Brisanz



Figure 5.1: Zentrale Mediationsebenen für die Zusammenhänge zwischen der psychischen Gesundheit der Bezugspersonen und der Entwicklung ihrer Kinder (basierend auf Müller, 2017, S. 22). Es ist jedoch anzumerken, dass es sich um eine vereinfachte Modelldarstellung eines sehr komplexen, multikausalen und dynamischen Prozesses handelt. Andere potentiell beeinflussende Variablen und reziproke Effekte wurden vernachlässigt. Die Grafik ist unter einer CC-BY4.0 Lizenz auf https://osf.io/7xdy3/ abrufbar.

der Beeinträchtigungen und Folgen zu informieren.

Studie 1 untersuchte die mediierende Rolle des prä- und postpartalen Bondings im Zusammenhang zwischen maternalen Depressionen und/oder Angststörungen und der dyadischen Interaktionsqualität. Hierzu wurden 59 Mutter-Kind-Dyaden im Falle der Diagnose einer präpartalen Depression und/oder Angststörung der klinischen Gruppe oder im Falle keiner psychiatrischen Diagnose der gesunden Kontrollgruppe zugeteilt. Dies geschah anhand eines standardisierten klinischen Interviews (SKID-I: American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Im Selbstbericht wurden außerdem das prä- und postpartale Bonding, die depressive Symptomatik und die Angstsymptomatik zu zwei Messzeitpunkten während der Schwangerschaft und einem Messzeipunkt postpartum erfasst. Die Mutter-Kind-Interaktion im Alter der Kinder von drei bis vier Monaten wurde während des FFSF-Experiment erfasst, videografiert und anhand des ICEP-R Kodierschemas mikroanalytisch ausgewertet. Als Maß der Interaktionsqualität wurde die interactive reparation, d.h. die Latenzzeit, die die Dyade im Durchschnitt benötigt, um von einem affektiv und behavioral abgestimmtem Zustand (match) zum nächsten zu gelangen, herangezogen. Entgegen der formulierten Hypothesen zeigten sich keine mediierenden Effekte des prä- und postpartalen Bondings. Zusätzliche explorative Analysen lassen jedoch auf einen Zusammenhang zwischen prä- und postpartalem Bonding im Verlauf des Peripartalzeitraums schließen. Ebenso prädiziert die depressive Symptomatik im zweiten Trimenon diejenige im dritten Trimenon, die wiederum die postpartale depressive Symptomatik vorhersagt. Gleiches gilt auch für die Angstsymptomatik. Beide Symptommaße waren außerdem negativ mit der postpartalen Bondingqualität assoziiert, die Angstsymptomatik zusätzlich noch mit der Bondingqualität im zweiten Trimenon. Diese Befunde betonen, wie wichtig präpartale Screenings die beschriebenen Domänen betreffend sind, um die psychische Gesundheit von sowohl Mutter, als auch Kind zu unterstützen.

Studie 2 legte ihren Fokus auf die maternale, psychische Gesundheit während der Besonders wurden dabei die depressive Symptomatik und das COVID-19 Pandemie. Stresserleben fokussiert. Das Ziel war es, die Prävalenzraten beider Domänen während der Pandemie zu bestimmen sowie die Zusammenhänge der beiden Symptombereich genauer im Längsschnitt zu untersuchen. Hierzu wurden die depressive Symptomatik sowie das Stresserleben von 666 Müttern aus Deutschland mit Kindern im Altern von 0-3 Jahren anhand eines Onlinetools zu zwei Messzeitpunkten erhoben (T1: Mai-November 2020, T2: Februar/März 2021). Die Ergebnisse deuten darauf hin, dass sich die Belastung der Mütter in beiden Bereichen über die beiden Zeitpunkte hinweg verschlechtert hat. Zum ersten Messzeitpunkt trugen 33.8 % der Mütter ein erhöhtes Depressionsrisiko, während zum zweiten Messzeitpunkt 55.1 % ein erhöhtes Risiko zeigten. Eine potentielle Erklärung dafür könnte das unterschiedliche Ausmaß der Beschränkungen zu den beiden Zeitpunkten gewesen sein, da zum ersten Zeitpunkt weniger Beschränkungen als zum zweiten herrschten. Zum Zusammenhang zwischen beiden Maßen zeigte sich, dass die vorangehende depressive Symptomatik die nachfolgende depressive Symptomatik sowie das Stresserleben vorhersagt. Ebenso sagte das vorangehende Stresserleben das nachfolgende Stresserleben sowie die depressive Symptomatik vorher. Diese Zusammenhänge sollten jedoch aufgrund einiger methodischer Limitationen, u.a. nur zweier Erhebungswellen, vorsichtig interpretiert werden. Aus unseren Ergebnissen schließen wir, dass Mütter so früh wie möglich durch Präventions- und Interventionsprogramme gescreent und gegebenenfalls unterstützt werden, um längerfristige depressive Symptome sowie Stressymptome abzumildern. Außerdem sollten beide Symptombereiche bei der Prävention oder Behandlung des jeweils anderen Bereichs berücksichtigt werden, um größtmögliche Symptomentlastung herbeizuführen.

In einer dritten, aktuell noch laufenden Studie werden die Effekte komorbider Depressionen und Angststörungen im Vergleich zu alleinigen Depressionen und im Vergleich zu keiner psychiatrischen Symptomatik auf die Entwicklung der Kinder verglichen. Mögliche Transmissionswege auf behavioraler, relationaler und regulatorischer Ebene (siehe Abbildung 5.1) können somit zukünftig genauer untersucht werden. Vor allem konzentriert sich die Studie auf externalisierendes und internalisierendes Problemverhalten der Kinder und deren kognitive Entwicklung im Alter von 24 Monaten. Als Mediatoren potentieller negativer Effekte der maternalen Psychopathologie auf die Entwicklung der Kinder werden die Feinfühligkeit der Mütter und die Stressreaktivität der Kinder genauer analysiert.

Die Stärken und Limitationen der beiden empirischen Studien sollen im Folgenden kurz zusammengefasst werden. Eine Stärke über beide Studien hinweg besteht darin, dass eine große Bandbreite an unterschiedlichen Erhebungsinstrumenten angewandt wurde, um die Zusammenhänge zwischen verschiedenen Domänen der maternalen psychischen Gesundheit, dyadischen Interaktionsqualität und des Mutter-Kind-Bondings zu untersuchen. Die Maße umfassten mikroanalytisch kodierte Videodaten, Selbstberichtsinstrumente sowie diagnostische Interviews. Außerdem wurden komplexe Strukturgleichungsmodelle als robuste statistische Methode zur Untersuchung der Zusammenhänge eingesetzt. Der Forschungsprozess zeichnet sich außerdem durch eine hohe Transparenz und Möglichkeit zur Reproduktion der vorliegenden Befunde aus, da die Präregistrierungen, statistischen Analyseskripte sowie die pseudonymisierten Datensätze zu beiden Studien auf Onlineplattformen (PsychArchives und OSF) veröffentlicht wurden. Generelle Limitationen beziehen sich vor allem auf die kleine Stichprobengröße der ersten Studie, die relativ gebildeten, westlichindustrialisierten Stichproben in beiden Studien sowie die methodischen Limitationen des traditionellen Cross-lagged panel designs, u.a. nicht zwischen intra- und interindividuellen Unterschieden differenzieren zu können.

Die Gesamtergebnisse der Arbeit deuten darauf hin, dass maternale psychische Beeinträchtigungen, vor allem depressive Symptomatik, Angst- und Stresssymptomatik sowie Bondingbeeinträchtigungen so frühzeitig wie möglich erkannt werden sollten, um die langfristige Belastung der Mütter in diesen Bereichen abzumildern. Dies betrifft die vulnerable Peripartalzeit im Allgemeinen und die Peripartalzeit zu Zeiten einer globalen Pandemie im Besonderen. Nur so können intergenerationale Transmissionprozesse unterbrochen werden und die kognitive und sozio-emotionale Entwicklung der Kinder geschützt werden.

Appendix A

Administered Questionnaires

A.1 Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), German Version

EPDS

Wir würden gerne wissen, wie Sie sich fühlen. Bitte wählen Sie unter den folgenden Aussagen die Antwort, die am besten beschreibt, wie Sie sich in den *letzten sieben Tagen* gefühlt haben, nicht nur wie Sie sich heute fühlen:

In den letzten sieben Tagen...

- 1. konnte ich lachen und das Leben von der sonnigen Seite sehen.
 - So wie ich es immer konnte
 - Nicht ganz so wie sonst immer
 - Deutlich weniger als früher
 - Überhaupt nicht
- 2. konnte ich mich so richtig auf etwas freuen.
 - So wie immer
 - Etwas weniger als sonst
 - Deutlich weniger als früher
 - Kaum
- 3. fühlte ich mich unnötigerweise schuldig, wenn etwas schief lief.
 - Ja, meistens
 - Ja, manchmal
 - Nein, nicht so oft
 - \bigcirc Nein, niemals
- 4. war ich ängstlich und besorgt aus nichtigen Gründen.
 - Nein, überhaupt nicht
 - Selten
 - \bigcirc Ja, manchmal
 - Ja, häufig
- 5. erschrak ich leicht, bzw. reagierte panisch aus unerfindlichen Gründen.
 - Ja, oft
 - \odot Ja, manchmal
 - \bigcirc Nein, nicht oft
 - Nein, überhaupt nicht

- 6. überforderten mich verschiedene Umstände.
 - Ja, die meiste Zeit war ich nicht in der Lage, damit fertig zu werden
 - O Ja, manchmal konnte ich damit nicht fertig werden
 - \odot Nein, die meiste Zeit konnte ich gut damit fertig werden
 - \odot Nein, ich wurde so gut wie immer damit fertig
- 7. war ich so unglücklich, dass ich nicht schlafen konnte.
 - Ja, die meiste Zeit
 - Ja, manchmal
 - Nein, nicht sehr oft
 - Nein, überhaupt nicht
- 8. habe ich mich traurig und schlecht gefühlt.
 - Ja, die meiste Zeit
 - \bigcirc Ja, manchmal
 - Selten
 - Nein, überhaupt nicht
- 9. war ich so unglücklich, dass ich geweint habe.
 - Ja, die ganze Zeit
 - Ja, manchmal
 - Nur gelegentlich
 - \odot Nein, niemals
- 10. überkam mich der Gedanke, mir selbst Schaden zuzufügen.
 - Ja, ziemlich oft
 - Manchmal
 - Kaum
 - O Niemals

A.2 Stait-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), German Version

STAI-S

Bitte geben Sie an, wie diese Feststellungen *in diesem Augenblick* auf Sie zutreffen.

		Überhaupt nicht	ein wenig	ziemlich	sehr
1	Ich bin ruhig.	1	2	3	4
2	Ich fühle mich geborgen.	1	2	3	4
3	Ich fühle mich angespannt.	1	2	3	4
4	lch bin bekümmert.	1	2	3	4
5	Ich bin gelöst.	1	2	3	4
6	Ich bin aufgeregt.	1	2	3	4
7	Ich bin besorgt, dass etwas schief gehen könnte.	1	2	3	4
8	Ich fühle mich ausgeruht.	1	2	3	4
9	Ich bin beunruhigt.	1	2	3	4
10	Ich fühle mich wohl.	1	2	3	4
11	Ich fühle mich selbstsicher.	1	2	3	4
12	lch bin nervös.	1	2	3	4
13	Ich bin zappelig.	1	2	3	4
14	lch bin verkrampft.	1	2	3	4
15	Ich bin entspannt.	1	2	3	4
16	Ich bin zufrieden.	1	2	3	4
17	Ich bin besorgt.	1	2	3	4
18	lch bin überreizt.	1	2	3	4
19	Ich bin froh.	1	2	3	4
20	Ich bin vergnügt.	1	2	3	4

-99, wenn nicht beantwortet; -88, wenn nicht korrekt beantwortet

STAI-T

Bitte geben Sie an, wie diese Feststellungen *im Allgemeinen* auf Sie zutreffen.

		fast nie	manch- mal	oft	fast immer
1	Ich bin vergnügt.	1	2	3	4
2	Ich werde schnell müde.	1	2	3	4
3	Mir ist zum Weinen zumute.	1	2	3	4
4	Ich glaube, mir geht es schlechter als anderen Leuten.	1	2	3	4
5	Ich verpasse günstige Gelegenheiten, weil ich mich nicht schnell genug entscheiden kann.	1	2	3	4
6	Ich fühle mich ruhig und ausgeruht.	1	2	3	4
7	Ich bin ruhig und gelassen.	1	2	3	4
8	Ich glaube, dass mir meine Schwierigkeiten über den Kopf wachsen.	1	2	3	4
9	Ich mache mir zuviel Gedanken über unwichtige Dinge.	1	2	3	4
10	Ich bin glücklich.	1	2	3	4
11	Ich neige dazu, alles schwer zu nehmen.	1	2	3	4
12	Mir fehlt es an Selbstvertrauen.	1	2	3	4
13	Ich fühle mich geborgen.	1	2	3	4
14	Ich mache mir Sorgen über mögliches Missgeschick.	1	2	3	4
15	Ich fühle mich niedergeschlagen.	1	2	3	4
16	Ich bin zufrieden.	1	2	3	4
17	Unwichtige Gedanken gehen mir durch den Kopf und bedrücken mich.	1	2	3	4
18	Enttäuschungen nehme ich so schwer, dass ich sie nicht vergessen kann.	1	2	3	4
19	Ich bin ausgeglichen.	1	2	3	4
20	Ich werde nervös und unruhig, wenn ich an meine derzeitigen Angelegenheiten denke.	1	2	3	4

-99, wenn nicht beantwortet; -88, wenn nicht korrekt beantwortet

A.3 Maternal-Fetal Attachment Scale (MFAS), German Version

MFAS

Uns interessiert, wie sehr Sie schon Kontakt zu Ihrem ungeborenen Kind herstellen. Beantworten Sie dazu bitte die folgenden Fragen nach dem Grad des Zutreffens. Dabei bedeutet:

1 = Trifft überhaupt nicht zu,2 = Trifft meist nich4 = Ich weiß nicht,5 = Trifft eher zu,		t zu,	zu, 3 = Trifft eher nicht zu, 6 = Trifft meist zu,						
7 = Tr	ifft ganz genau zu.			0					+++
1	Ich rede mit meinem ungeborenen	Baby.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2	Ich habe das Gefühl, dass sich die M Schwangerschaft lohnen.	lühen der	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3	Ich genieße es, meinem Bauch anzu	isehen, wenn er vackelt	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4	Ich stelle mir bildlich vor, wie ich me	ein Baby füttere.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5	Ich freue mich sehr darauf, sehen zu Baby aussieht.	u können, wie mein	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6	Ich frage mich, ob sich das Baby da fühlt.	drin eingeengt	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7	Wenn ich mit meinem, oder über m benutze ich einen Spitznamen.	iein Baby spreche,	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8	Ich stelle mir vor, wie ich mein Kind	versorge.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9	Von den Bewegungen des Babys kar was er oder sie für eine Persönlichk	nn ich fast erraten, eit haben wird.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10	Für ein Mädchen habe ich schon eir ausgesucht.	ien Namen	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
11	Ich tue Sachen, um gesund zu bleibe nicht tun würde, wenn ich nicht sch	en, welche ich wanger wäre.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
12	Ich frage mich, ob das Baby in mir h	ören kann.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
13	Für einen Jungen habe ich schon eir ausgesucht.	ien Namen	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
14	Ich frage mich, ob das Baby in mir d	enkt und fühlt.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
15	Ich ernähre mich gesund, um sicher Baby eine gute Ernährung erhält.	zu sein, dass mein	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16	Es scheint mir, als ob mein Baby trit um mir zu sagen, dass es Essenszeit	t und sich bewegt, ist.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
17	Ich stupse mein Baby, damit es zurü	ickstupst.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
18	Ich kann es kaum erwarten, mein Ba	aby zu halten.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
19	Ich versuche mir vorzustellen, wie d wird.	las Baby aussehen	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
20	Ich streichele meinen Bauch, um da beruhigen, wenn es zu viel tritt.	s Baby zu	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
21	Ich merke, wenn das Baby Schlucka	uf hat.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
22	Ich habe das Gefühl, dass mein Körp	per hässlich ist.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
23	Ich habe manche Sachen aufgegebe Baby helfen möchte.	n, weil ich meinem	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
24	Ich taste das Füßchen meines Babys Bauch, um es hin- und her beweger	s durch meinen n zu können.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

-99, wenn nicht beantwortet; -88, wenn nicht korrekt beantwortet

A.4 Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire (PBQ-16), German Version

Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire (PBQ-16)

Name:	Datum:

Kreuzen Sie bitte an, wie oft folgende Aussagen für Sie zutreffend sind. Es gibt keine "richtigen" oder "falschen" Antworten.

			al		
	Sehr oft	oft	Manchm	Selten	Nie
1: Ich fühle mich meinem Baby naheO	0	0	0	0	0
2: Ich wünsche mir die Zeit zurück, als ich noch kein Baby hatteO	0	0	0	0	0
3: Ich fühle mich meinem Baby gegenüber distanziertO	0	0	0	о	0
4: Ich kuschle gern mit meinem BabyO	0	0	0	0	0
5: Mein Baby regt mich aufO	0	0	0	о	0
6: Mein Baby irritiert michO	0	0	0	о	0
7: Ich fühle mich glücklich, wenn mein Baby lächelt/lachtO	0	0	0	0	0
8: Ich liebe mein Baby über allesO	0	0	0	0	0
9: Ich liebe es mit meinem Baby zu spielenO	0	0	0	0	0
10: Ich fühle mich als Mutter gefangenO	0	0	0	0	0
11: Ich bin auf mein Baby böseO	0	0	0	0	0
12: Mein Baby ist mir lästigO	0	0	0	о	0
13: Mein Baby ist das Schönste auf der ganzen WeltO	0	0	0	о	0
14: Mein Baby macht mich ängstlichO	0	0	0	о	0
15: Mein Baby macht mich ärgerlichO	0	0	0	0	0
16: Mein Baby ist leicht zu beruhigenO	0	0	0	0	0

Deutsche Version des PBQ mit 16 Items von Reck et al. (2006); Originalversion des PBQ von Brockington et al. (2001)

A.5 Perceived Stress Scale - 10 Item Version (PSS), German Version

Die folgenden Fragen beschäftigen sich damit, wie häufig Sie sich während des letzten Monats durch Stress belastet fühlten.		nie	selten	manchmal	häufig	sehr oft
		0	1	2	3	4
(Bi	tte kreuzen Sie pro Aussage eine Antwort an)					
1	Wie oft haben Sie sich im letzten Monat darüber aufgeregt, dass etwas völlig Unerwartetes eingetreten ist?					
2	Wie oft hatten Sie im letzten Monat das Gefühl, wichtige Dinge in Ihrem Leben nicht beeinflussen zu können?					
3	Wie oft haben Sie sich im letzten Monat nervös und "gestresst" gefühlt?					
4	Wie oft haben Sie sich im letzten Monat sicher im Umgang mit persönlichen Aufgaben und Problemen gefühlt?					
5	Wie oft hatten Sie im letzten Monat das Gefühl, dass sich die Dinge nach Ihren Vorstellungen entwickeln?					
6	Wie oft hatten Sie im letzten Monat das Gefühl, mit all den anstehenden Aufgaben und Problemen nicht richtig umgehen zu können?					
7	Wie oft hatten Sie im letzten Monat das Gefühl, mit Ärger in Ihrem Leben klar zu kommen?					
8	Wie oft hatten Sie im letzten Monat das Gefühl, alles im Griff zu haben?					
9	Wie oft haben Sie sich im letzten Monat darüber geärgert, wichtige Dinge nicht beeinflussen zu können?					
10	Wie oft hatten Sie im letzten Monat das Gefühl, dass sich die Probleme so aufgestaut haben, dass Sie diese nicht mehr bewältigen können?					

Übersetzung von Cohen's PERCEIVED STRESS SCALE (PSS); © dtsch Version: Arndt Büssing, University of Witten/Herdecke

References:

Büssing A, Recchia DR: Spiritual and Non-spiritual Needs Among German Soldiers and their Relation to Stress Perception, PTDS Symptoms, and Life Satisfaction – Results from a Structural Equation Modeling Approach. Journal of Religion and Health, 2016; 55(3): 747-764; Online June 2015 (DOI 10.1007/s10943-015-0073-y)

Büssing A, Falkenberg Z, Schoppe C, Recchia DR, Lötzke D: Work Stress associated Cool Down Reactions among Nurses and Hospital Physicians and their relation to Burnout Symptoms. Findings from a Cross-Sectional Study. BMC Health Services Research 2017; 17:551 (DOI 10.1186/s12913-017-2445-3)

Reference values

Bundeswehrsoldaten (n=1095) Cronbach's alpha = .850PSS-10 mean 15.4 ± 6.7

Katholische Seelsorger (n=8905) Cronbach's alpha = . PSS-10 mean 15.2 ± 6.1

Krankenhausärzte (n=444)

Cronbach's alpha = .842PSS-10 mean 18.2 ± 3.6

Pflegende (n=916) Cronbach's alpha = .848 PSS-10 mean 18.2 ± 6.6

Mütter mit zu früh / krank geborenen Kindern (n=125) Cronbach's alpha = .754 PSS-10 mean 19.9 ± 5.9

106

Appendix B

Coding Manual: Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases - Revision

Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases (ICEP)

Heidelberg Version

Revised Version 08/2009:

Corinna Reck, Daniela Noe & Francesca Cenciotti Department of General Psychiatry, University of Heidelberg, Germany

Original Version 07/1999:

M. Katherine Weinberg & Edward Z. Tronick Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA

The Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases are based on Tronick's Monadic Phases Scoring System, Tronick and Weinberg's Infant and Maternal Regulatory Scoring Systems (IRSS & MRSS), and Weinberg and Tronick's work on affective configurations (Child Development, 65(5)). This coding system can be used to separately assess infant and caregiver affect, the extent to which the infant and caregiver are engaged, as well as the quality of the engagement. The codes within the Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases are mutually exclusive and may be coded using interactive coding software, a VCR computer interface system or paper and pencil. Code in separate runs the infant and caregiver phases, the additional infant and caregiver codes and the dyadic gaze information.

Coding Basics:

- Always refer to the manual throughout coding.
- Watch the segment to be coded in its entirety before coding.
- Remember, BEHAVIOR is being coded not what the infant appears to be feeling.
- Have another coder look at the segment if you are unsure of the appropriate code.
- Do not code for long periods without a break. If you are tired and find yourself having a more difficult time than usual, please stop and come back to coding later.
- Don't forget the step-down rules. If you have to watch a segment more than twice, step down to the more neutral code.

Coding Process:

- 1. infant engagement phases
- 2. caregiver engagement phases
- 3. additional codes infant
- 4. additional codes mother
- 5. dyadic gaze information

INFANT ENGAGEMENT PHASES

The infant engagement phases are mutually exclusive. The phases combine information from the infant's facial expressions, direction of gaze, body posture and vocalizations.

 Negative Engagement (Ineg): The infant is negative, protesting or withdrawn. The infant must display negative facial expressions (e.g., anger, sadness, disgust, distress, cry or grimace faces), and/or whimpering, complaining, fussy, or crying vocalizations. There is no gaze criterion and a variety of gestural and postural behaviors may occur (e.g., pushing the caregiver away, twisting and turning in chair, arching body).

Negative Engagement can be divided into two specific phases: Protest and Withdrawn. Always try to code whether the infant is in a Protest or Withdrawn phase. If it is not possible to make this differentiation, code the undifferentiated category of Negative Engagement. The overall feel for this code is unhappy or sad without the further differentiation of the Protest or Withdrawn codes [In typical populations, Protest will be the most common negative code and Withdrawn will be rare].

- 2. Protest (lpro): The infant is protesting. The infant often displays facial expressions of anger, frustration, grimaces, and/or is fussing or crying. The infant tends to be active during this phase: the infant may arch his/her back, kick or bang his/her arms against the chair, try to escape /get away, gesture, want to be picked up, bat at the caregiver, or push and pull away from the caregiver. This code captures externalizing type behaviors, and can have an angry or hostile aspect. There is no gaze criterion.
- **3.** Withdrawn (lwit): The infant is withdrawn and minimally engaged with the caregiver. This phase often includes sad facial expressions, whimpering vocalizations, slumped posture, listless demeanor, and gaze aversion. The infant typically engages in few activities and gives the impression of being "spaced out" and disengaged from the caregiver. This code captures internalizing type behaviors. Although the infant often gaze averts, there is no specific gaze criterion defining this phase. Do not code withdrawn if the infant is crying or looking away from the caregiver but is focused on an object.
- 4. Object/Environment Engagement (Inon): The infant is looking at objects that are either proximal (e.g., infant seat) or distal (e.g., camera). The infant may manipulate proximal objects. The infant's eyes must be directed towards an object. The infant's facial expressions are typically interested or neutral but may be on occasion positive. The infant may or may not vocalize. Objects include the infant's hands, feet, belly or clothing; the caregiver's body (e.g., trunk, hands, jewelry); and objects that are part of the laboratory setting (e.g., chair strap, side of the chair, cameras or curtains). The caregiver's face does not constitute an object. If the infant displays negative affect or vocalizations while looking at an object, code Negative Engagement, Protest or Withdrawn. If the infant laughs or smiles while looking at an object, code Object/Environment Engagement not Social Positive Engagement (ipos).
- 5. Social Monitor (Ineu): The infant's attention is directed towards the caregiver. The infant looks at the adult's face with a neutral or interested facial expression. The infant's eyes must be oriented towards the adult's face and he/she may vocalize in a neutral/positive manner. In cases where it is difficult to differentiate between Negative

Engagement (particularly withdrawn) and Social Monitor, score Social Monitor. Similarly, if it is difficult to differentiate between Social Monitor and Social Positive Engagement, score Social Monitor. If it is difficult to differentiate between Object Engagement and Social Monitor, score Object Engagement.

- 6. Social Positive Engagement (Ipos): This scale assesses the extent to which the infant is engaged with the caregiver in an overall positive manner. The infant must display facial expressions of joy particularly smiles, but occasionally coo and play faces. The infant must look towards the caregiver's face. The infant may be vocalizing in a positive manner, laughing, babbling, or squealing. Do not code Social Positive Engagement if the infant vocalizes but does not display a smile face. A smile face includes upturned mouth, crinkly eyes and raised cheeks. The infant may be engaged with the adult in rhythmic social play-games (e.g., pat-a-cake, peek-a-boo). During these games it may not be possible for the infant to look directly at the adult's face because of the caregiver's position (e.g., adult's face buried in infant's lap) or the nature of the game (e.g., face covered in peek-a-boo). Score these instances as Social Positive Engagement as long as the infant's facial and/or vocal expressions are positive and gaze is focused towards the caregiver.
- 7. Sleep (Islp): The infant is asleep.
- 8. Unscorable (lusc): If the baby's face is obscured because of poor camera angles, technical problems, or because the adult is blocking the baby's camera, score Unscorable. If it is possible to see part of the infant's face, code the appropriate engagement phase. Do not guess. In general, use the following rules to code Unscorable. Even though the infant's face is blocked, if it is clear that the infant is looking away from the mother, score Object/Environment Engagement. If the infant's face is obscured and the infant is fussing or crying, score the appropriate Negative Engagement code. If the infant's face is obscured and the infant seems to be looking in the direction of the mother, score Unscorable because it will be impossible to know exactly where the infant is looking or to determine the infant's facial expression. However, if the infant does not move and is in the same coding behavior from the beginning of being obscured to being observable then score that coding behavior.

A note on the use of pacifiers: The use of pacifiers is problematic because they obscure the baby's mouth. Use the following rules if a pacifier is in use: Code Social/Positive Engagement if it is CLEAR that the baby is smiling (e.g., the cheeks are clearly raised even with the pacifier). If this is not clear, use the default rule and code Social Monitor (but only if the baby is looking at the parent). If the baby is crying/fussing with a pacifier in the mouth, code the appropriate Negative Engagement code. If the baby is looking away from the caregiver and is not crying/fussing, score Object/Environment Engagement. If the baby is looking away and fussing/crying, code the appropriate Negative Engagement code.

A note on SNEEZING: If the infant sneezes and involuntarily closes his/her eyes, append the sneezing fit to the previous code. For example, if the infant looks at an object, sneezes, and then smiles at the mother, code a 4 and a 6. If the infant looks at an object, sneezes and continues to look at an object, code a continuous 4.

CAREGIVER ENGAGEMENT PHASES

The Caregiver Engagement Phases are mutually exclusive. For each phase, consider the adult's facial expressions, direction of gaze, and vocalizations.

1. Negative Engagement (Cneg): The adult is negative, withdrawn, intrusive or hostile. His/her facial expressions are sad, sober, expressionless, stern, angry or hostile. There are no smiles or hints of smiles. The adult's vocalizations are expressionless, sharp, angry, loud or adultlike. The adult may be silent or speak in a monotone. The adult may be leaning back in his/her chair and appear at a loss of what to do. There is no burst-pause, sing-song, or exaggerated language characteristic of motherese. When considering the adult's vocalizations, pay attention to the affective tone of the vocalizations and disregard the content of the vocalizations. There is no gaze criterion.

According to the main affect negative Engagement can be divided into three specific phases: Withdrawn, Intrusive and Hostile. Always try to code whether the adult is in the Withdrawn, Intrusive or Hostile phase. If it is not possible to make this differentiation, code the undifferentiated category of Negative Engagement. If Intrusive and Hostile behavior can be observed at once, code Hostile.

- 2. Withdrawn (Cwit): The adult is minimally engaged and withdrawn with the baby. The adult's facial expressions are sad, flat, or expressionless. There are no smiles or hints of smiles. The adult may be silent, speak or whisper in a flat or expressionless monotone. The adult may be leaning back in his/her chair, not touch the baby or touch it in a mechanical manner, and appear hesitant or at a loss of what to do. There is no burst pause, sing-song, or exaggerated vocalizations (i.e., motherese). There is no gaze criterion.
- **3.** Intrusive (Cint, main affect "Tension /Agitation", videos: 43, A1-076): The adult's engagement with the baby is characterized by intrusive affect/behavior. The adult's facial expressions are tense, stressed or little authentic. The infant is not given the chance to respond to maternal initiatives as these follow one another too fast and do not await infant reactions. Maternal and infant reactions are not well-matched so that for example the mother interrupts the infant's activities in order to pursue her own "programme". The mother stimulates the infant excessively without caring about infant signals of discomfort and/or withdrawal. Regardless of the infant's behavior the mother acts too loud, too expressively and too close to her child. The infant's activities are restrained, for example by turning his or her face around in order to make eye contact, by holding tight hands or feet while playing etc.
- 4. Hostile (Chos, main affect "Anger/Hostility/Petulance", videos: 21, 48): The adult's engagement with the baby is characterized by hostile affect/behavior. The adult's facial expressions are stressed out, upset or aggressive. Vocalizations are high pitched or the voice is cracking. The mother is curt with the baby, pushes him/her, drags or pulls him/her or her actions and vocalizations follow one another staccato-like. She makes fun of her baby, for example by imitating his/her vocalizations or mimic expressions.

112 B. Coding Manual: Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases - Revision

- 5. Non-Infant Focused Engagement (Cnon): The adult is not attending to the baby and is involved in a non-infant focused activity (e.g., fixing his/her clothing, talking to the experimenter, looking at an object the infant is not looking at, rubbing eyes and face because of tiredness).
- 5. Social Monitor/No Vocs or Neutral Vocs (Cneu): The adult watches or focuses his/her attention on the baby or the baby's activities while his/her facial expressions are neutral. The caregiver may look interested in the infant and may occasionally show a hint of a smile. The adult may touch the baby. The adult can be silent or vocalize to the baby in a neutral manner. Do not code brief conversational pauses (no vocs with neutral face) as 6 unless these pauses last 2 seconds or more. Comforting sounds like shhh are coded as 6. If the caregiver's face is neutral but he/she is speaking in Motherese or in a positive tone of voice, score Phase 7 Social Monitor/Positive Vocs. In cases where it is difficult to differentiate between the Negative Engagement codes (particularly Withdrawn) and Social Monitor/No Vocs or Neutral Vocs, score a 6. Similarly if it is difficult to differentiate between Social Monitor/Neutral and Social Monitor/Positive Vocs, score Social Monitor/No Vocs.
- 6. Social Monitor/Positive Vocs (Cpvc): The caregiver's gaze is focused on the infant or on the infant's activities. His/her facial expressions are neutral, interested, and may occasionally show a hint of a smile. Although the caregiver's face is neutral, his/her vocalizations are positive (e.g., he/she may use Motherese, make kissing or clicking sounds, sing). In cases where it is difficult to differentiate between Social Monitor/Positive Vocs and Social Positive Engagement, score Social Monitor/Positive Vocs.
- 7. Social Positive Engagement (Cpos): The caregiver expresses positive affect such as full smiles (closed or open), laughter, or play faces. The adult may vocalize to the baby using Motherese or sing but there is nothing exaggerated in his/her speaking or singing. The caregiver may play games with the infant but these games do not have a neutral quality (code 6 or 7). Instances when vocalizations (e.g., "boop") make it physically impossible to smile are coded as 8 if they are preceded by an 8. If the "boop" is preceded by a neutral face, code a 7. If, after the vocalization, the caregiver covers his/her face or hides his/her face in the infant's body, code these instances as 8 if they are preceded by an 8. If the aregiver covers his/her face or hides his/her face in the infant's body, code these instances as 8 if they are preceded by an 8. If the appropriate code.
- 8. Unscorable (Cusc): If the adult's face is obscured because of poor camera angles or technical problems score Unscorable. Code all instances, however brief if the caregiver's face is completely obscured and if it is not possible to hear the caregiver's vocalizations. If it is possible to see part of the caregiver's face, code the appropriate engagement phase. Also, if you cannot see the face but can hear the caregiver talk using neutral or positive vocalizations, code 6 or 7. Do not guess.

ADDITIONAL INFANT AND CAREGIVER CODES

In a separate run from the phases, code infant self-comforting, distancing, and autonomic stress indicators. These infant additional codes are not mutually exclusive. Thus an infant can self-comfort while distancing him/herself from the caregiver. During this run, also code maternal rough touches and still-face violations.

If using the AACT system, code the beginning and end times of each episode during this run. Make sure that the same begin and end times are used for the infant and the caregiver. When code the appropriate episode code and the tran codes demarcating the transitional 15 sec periods between episodes.

INFANT

Self-comforting (sc)

Oral self-comforting and self-clasp may co-occur or occur sequentially. Score all instances of each.

- 1. Oral Self-Comforting (Isc o): The infant uses his/her body to provide self-stimulation. Self-comforting activities include: (1) instances when the infant sucks on his/her body (e.g., his/her thumb or wrist). There must be skin contact with the mouth and the behavior must be initiated by the infant; (2) instances when the infant sucks on or brings to his/her mouth something other than his/her body such as the strap of the chair or his/her clothing. This behavior must also be initiated by the infant; and (3) instances when the infant sucks on or brings to his/her mouth the mother's hand or finger. There must be skin contact but this self-comforting behavior is scored regardless of who initiated the contact.
- 2. Self-Clasp (Isc h): The infant's two hands are touching. Score if the hands are clearly clasped together. Score also when the hands/fingers are only lightly touching. Do not score if the place of contact is on the wrists or arms. Only hand-to-hand contact is scored as a self-clasp.

Distancing (Idis): The infant attempts to increase his/her physical distance from the caregiver without engaging an object. Distancing includes: (1) instances when the infant tries to get away by turning and twisting away from the caregiver. The infant's shoulders and trunk are rotated sideways (the shoulders and trunk need not be completely rotated but some rotation must be evident) and the infant's head is averted sideways, or up and away from the adult. The arms are usually, but not always raised above or at the level of his/her head. The back is typically, but not always arched. Do not score infants who have this constellation of behaviors but are trying to get a better look at an object; and (2) instances when the infant's shoulders are pushed back against the chair and the torso is thrust forward and up. There is no shoulder or trunk rotation. The infant's arms are usually down by the infant's sides but are occasionally raised. The infant typically looks at the adult but head and gaze are sometimes averted.

Infant Autonomic Stress Indicators (laut): The infant exhibits behaviors, which may indicate stress or autonomic arousal such as spitting up or hiccupping. Drooling should not be coded as spitting up. The infant's spit up should have consistency and be white or milky.

CAREGIVER

Rough Touches (tch)

Code only touches that are sharp and abrupt in nature. Ignore all other touches.

(Ctch): The caregiver's touches are abrupt, forceful, and sharp. Examples include pokes and jabs to the infant's face or head that result in the infant's head moving. Code all instances of rough touches separately even if they occur in rapid succession.

Violations (Cxst): This code is typically used during the still-face. During the still-face, the code indicates that the caregiver violated the still-face by touching or talking to the baby. Violations that involve facial expressions are not coded as Cxst but are coded with the caregiver engagement phases (If there is no violation, phase 5 will be coded).

Also code Cxst, if the mother violates the protocol during any episode by for example using a pacifier, bottle or toy. Keep in mind that only the introduction of objects not inherent to the face-to-face setting constitutes a violation. Thus, if the baby is wearing a bib and the mother plays with it, if the mother takes the baby's shoe off and plays with it, or if the mother takes her watch off and uses it as an object/toy, these instances are not considered violations. These objects are all inherent to the setting or part of the baby's/mother's clothing. The mother is being creative but is not directly violating the rules of the face-to-face procedure. However, mothers are explicitly told not to use bottles, pacifiers, and toys during the paradigm. The introduction of any of these items should therefore be coded as a violation of the still-face rules.

DYADIC GAZE INFORMATION

Dyadic Eye-Contact (dec): infant and caregiver are coordinating their gaze by looking at each other's face

Joint Activity/Looking (jal): infant and caregiver are jointly attending to the same object. The infant and the mother are coordinating their gaze but are not looking at each other. The infant must be looking at the object; while the caregiver's gaze may shift from infant to object. Objects may be the caregiver's hand (e.g. butterfly hands, Itsy Bitsy Spider), a toy held by the mother, or an infant body part (e.g. they are both attending to the infants foot because the mother is playing "Piggy goes to market") and the game is not a facial interplay game (e.g., peek-a-boo), but one in which the hands are equivalent to an object. While this code requires a mutual interaction, it captures the infant's perspective of a social interaction with the caregiver via an object. The infant can display any facial expression.

Appendix C

Study protocol of the COMPARE-Interaction Study

Open access

Protocol

BMJ Open Study protocol of the COMPARE-Interaction study: the impact of maternal comorbid depression and anxiety disorders in the peripartum period on child development

Anna-Lena Zietlow,¹ Christian Franz Josef Woll ⁽⁶⁾,² Nora Nonnenmacher,³ Mitho Müller,² Verena Labonte,² Beate Ditzen,³ Markus Paulus,⁴ Beate Sodian,⁴ Urs M Nater,⁵ Sabine C Herpertz,⁶ Corinna Reck²

To cite: Zietlow A-L, Woll CFJ, Nonnenmacher N, *et al.* Study protocol of the COMPARE-Interaction study: the impact of maternal comorbid depression

and anxiety disorders in the peripartum period on child development. *BMJ Open* 2022;**12**:e050437. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2021-050437 Prepublication history for this paper is available online.

this paper is available online. To view these files, please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437).

A-LZ and CFJW contributed equally.

Received 25 February 2021 Accepted 07 December 2021

Check for updates

© Author(s) (or their employer(s)) 2022. Re-use permitted under CC BY-NC. No commercial re-use. See rights and permissions. Published by BMJ.

For numbered affiliations see end of article.

Correspondence to Dr Anna-Lena Zietlow; Zietlow@uni-mannheim.de

ABSTRACT

Introduction To date, there are only few studies that compare the consequences of peripartum maternal depressive disorders (PD) versus depressive with comorbid anxiety disorders (PDCA) for infant and child development. As comorbidity is associated with greater impairment and symptom severity related to the primary diagnosis, comorbidity in mothers might raise their offspring's risk of developing internalising or externalising disorders even more than has been noted in conjunction with PD alone. Methods and analysis This study aims to analyse the impact of parental psychopathology, particularly peripartum depression in mothers with and without comorbid anxiety disorders according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) on child cognitive and socioemotional development. Maternal/ paternal psychopathology, mother-infant/father-infant interaction and child development are assessed at four measurement points over the first 2 years (T1: 3-4 months postpartum, T2: 12 months postpartum, T3: 18 months postpartum and T4: 24 months postpartum). The mediating role of mother-infant/father-infant interaction and infant stress reactivity in the relationship between PD/PDCA and infant cognitive and socioemotional development will be analysed. In the ongoing study, 174 families (n=58 mothers with PD, n=58 mothers with PDCA and n=58 healthy controls) will be recruited in inpatient and outpatient centres as well as maternity hospitals in Munich and Heidelberg

Ethics and dissemination This study is implemented in accordance with the current guidelines of the World Medical Association (revised Declaration of Helsinki) and the General Data Protection Regulation of the European Union. The study procedures were approved by the independent ethics committees of the Department of Psychology, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich (74_Reck_b) and of the Medical Faculty, University Heidelberg (S-446/2017). Participation is voluntary. A signed written informed consent form must be obtained from each study subject prior to any study-specific procedure. Participants can withdraw from the study at any point in time without giving a reason or being

Strengths and limitations of this study

- The proposed method is longitudinal and multimethodological, using behavioural, hormonal, developmental and clinical psychological measures from 3 to 24 months postpartum.
- The mediation analysis allows for a detailed examination of the quality of mother- and fatherchild-interaction and psychobiological variables contributing to the effect of maternal psychopathology on child development.
- Even though sample size is adequate for the proposed statistical analyses, the number of participants is limited due to the investigation of a clinical sample and does not allow to draw inferential conclusions about specific effects of individual anxiety disorders (and comorbid depression) on child development.

subjected to any future disadvantages. In case of withdrawal from the study, the subject's data and material will be kept unless the participant asks for data removal. Results will be published and disseminated to further the discussion on the effects of maternal PD and PDCA on parent–infant interaction, infant stress reactivity and child development. Furthermore, study results will be presented at international congresses and expert conferences.

INTRODUCTION

Peripartum depressive disorders (PD) and comorbid anxiety disorders (PDCA)

Peripartum depressive disorders (PD), showing prevalence rates of 6.1% considering the postpartum and 11.9% considering the peripartum period,¹ and peripartum anxiety disorders (PA) with prevalence rates between 11.1% and 17.9% considering the postpartum period²³ are among the most frequent psychological disorders occurring around the time

Open access

of childbirth. These disorders often coincide in around 50% of women, and the presence of a comorbidity can be considered as a marker of severity.⁴ The long-term adverse consequences for infant and child development are well documented in the literature.5-7 Regarding child socioemotional development, the risk for transmitting depression⁸⁹ seems to be highest when both parents are affected (being up to four times higher).¹⁰ The risk is lower if only the mother suffers from depression and is lowest if only the father is affected.^{11 12} This familial transmission has also been reported in association with anxiety disorders:¹³ The offspring's risk to develop an anxiety disorder is two to nine times higher.¹⁴ However, no research has yet addressed the impact and intergenerational transmission rates of peripartum depression with comorbid anxiety disorders (PDCA).

Impact of maternal psychopathology on infants' cognitive and social-emotional development

There is ample evidence of a long-lasting negative impact of PD on cognitive development,¹⁵ verbal abilities,¹⁶ executive functioning and memory capacity.¹⁷ Likewise, PD has been related to reduced socioemotional functioning and social-cognitive abilities in young children. For example, children of depressed mothers have been documented demonstrating less empathic concern towards others in distress,¹⁸ as well as less self-regulatory behaviour and more negative emotionality.¹⁹ However, there are studies that identified no effect of PD on children's caring behaviour.²⁰ Regarding PA, longitudinal studies also refer to adverse effects on cognitive child development, partially up to adolescence.²¹ ²² However, the impact of PDCA has not been adequately investigated to date.

Recent research on typical development has advanced our understanding of the predictive power of early socioemotional as well as cognitive development for the child's later social and cognitive functioning.^{23 24} There has been little research on specific impairments stemming from maternal depression and anxiety disorders on the child's conceptual understanding of the mind and their potentially long-lasting effects on child social and cognitive functioning; the findings so far have been inconsistent.^{25 26}

Studies reveal gender differences in the development of children whose mothers suffer from psychiatric disorders: the boys of mothers with depression seem to be particularly vulnerable to externalising behaviour problems, whereas higher rates of internalising symptoms have been reported in girls.^{6 27} Furthermore, studies show that male children of depressed mothers are more impaired in their social and cognitive development than female children.^{27 28} Adverse developmental pathways, especially for cognitive development, have also been reported in male children of mothers with anxiety disorders.²² Nevertheless, the available studies are heterogeneous, and some studies detected no gender effects.¹⁷

Of particular importance seems to be evidence that the remission of psychiatric symptoms does not necessarily lead to an improvement in the quality of the motherchild relationship and interaction, and therefore, even remitted and lifetime diagnoses may exert negative long-term influence on child development.^{29 30}

Mediational relationship between maternal psychopathology and infant development

Research about risk factors for child development lead to the assumption that infant and child developmental outcomes do not solely depend on maternal psychiatric disorders but rather that the quality of mother-child interaction is an important pathway for the intergenerational transmission of psychopathology.^{31 32} The interactive behaviour of depressed mothers is often characterised by a lack of sensitivity and responsiveness, passive or intrusive behaviour, a more negative and flat affect and withdrawn behaviour.33 34 Comorbid depressed and anxious mothers have revealed similar results, but empirical data are rather sparse.³⁵ Regarding peripartum anxiety disorders (PA), mother-infant interactive behaviour studies also display heterogeneity: some suggest less sensitive and warm maternal interaction,^{19 36} while others do not.⁵ Results of our own group with a sample of postpartum anxious mothers and their infants suggest links between maternal prepartum stress, infant stress reactivity and affect regulation during mother-child interaction up to preschool age.^{37 38} It remains unclear whether these inconsistent results are due to different methodology and methodological problems (heterogeneous diagnoses within the anxious groups, varying questionnaires or interview data).

Empirical findings from several studies have highlighted the importance of specific patterns of parent–infant interaction for infants' affect regulation during the first 6 months.^{39 40} Infants have a repertoire of self-regulatory behaviours believed to pacify their stressful experiences, but it is assumed that these behaviours do not fully suffice to handle distress.^{38 41} Self-regulation in infancy includes the capacity to maintain positive states as well as manage distress and negative states.⁴² Caregivers are thought to play an important role in the development of stress regulation in infants. If the caregiver cannot (or does not) respond adequately to the child's emotion and interpersonal regulation failures, infants engage in self-directed stress regulation and develop less tolerance to negative affect and lower stress regulation competence.^{43 44}

The hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenocortical (HPA) axis is one major regulating system to cope with stress on hormonal level. Its end product cortisol is intensively discussed as a key molecule in underlying mechanism accounting for the association between maternal stress and psychopathology during pregnancy and infant as well as child development. Research indicates that elevated maternal cortisol levels in response to stress may affect the offspring's HPA axis functioning. Consequences might be increased cortisol levels and increased cortisol

C. Study protocol of the COMPARE-Interaction Study

6

reactivity45 and, in the long run, an increased risk for developmental problems in the offspring.⁴⁶ Regarding infant stress reactivity and daytime cortisol during the first 18 months of life, infants of mothers with PDCA revealed relatively higher cortisol levels from morning to bedtime, higher bedtime values and heightened cortisol reactivity compared with infants of non-depressed mothers and infants of depressed mothers. Furthermore, cortisol's effects on infant development are moderated by the autonomic nervous system, with alpha-amylase as a key indicator of autonomic stress regulation.4

The role fathers play in child development during the peripartum period and early infancy in families with mothers suffering from PD and PDCA has not yet been examined. Our project offers a unique opportunity for further investigation. Sensitive fathers can be regarded as a protective factor for child development, a factor demonstrated in population-based and high-risk samples.49 However, if they are insensitive and unresponsive, for example, due to psychiatric symptoms, fathers might also be a risk factor for child development, with long-term negative consequences especially for socioemotional development.50 51

To sum up, the negative impact of PD on infant socioemotional and cognitive development is well documented in the literature. To date, there are no studies comparing mothers with PD alone to mothers with PDCA. As comorbidity goes along with greater impairment and symptom severity related to the primary diagnosis, comorbidity in mothers might raise their offspring's risk of developing internalising disorders even more than has been noted in conjunction with PD alone. This study is designed to assess mothers with PD and PDCA according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), fathers and their infants, as well as a healthy control group (CG) at four measurement times (see figure 1). The study will be run in Munich and Heidelberg. Given the high prevalence of PD and PA and the increased risk for children of depressed and anxious mothers to having adverse developmental problems, further research in this field is urgently needed.

The planned trial

The following relations will be investigated in this observational longitudinal study.

Open access

- 1. We hypothesise that the degree of maternal disorder severity correlates with greater impairment in infant development at 12, 18 and 24 months.
- 2. We hypothesise that both, mother-infant/father-infant interaction and infant stress reactivity at 12 months of infant age, mediate the relationship between the maternal disorder severity at 3-4 months postpartum and infant socioemotional as well as cognitive development at 24 months of age. Thus, we will analyse a mediating effect of mother-infant/father-infant interaction and infant stress reactivity on infant cognitive and socioemotional development in the context of maternal disorder severity.

Moreover, research shows that patterns of couple interaction are predictive for later parent-child interaction.⁵² Therefore, additional dyadic analyses will include couple interaction, the couples' heart rate variability (HRV) and the couples' cortisol reactivity during an instructed conflict discussion in the laboratory at the infants' age of 3-4 months. It is assumed that the parents' individual and couple-based stress responses during couple interactions in the child's early life serve as possible mediators for the relationship between maternal PD and PDA and child development. In the current study, neuroendocrine and psychobiological mediators of this relationship will be captured during instructed real-time interactions. Furthermore, maternal blood samples are taken to examine the endogenous oxytocin level, gonadal hormones and epigenetic parameters of the oxytocin gene and oxytocin receptor gene. Additional analyses will further address the relation between maternal psychopathology, parent-infant interaction and HRV of mother/father and child during dyadic interaction at 3-4, 12 and 24 months. We will focus on the analysis of the synchrony between cortisol reactivity, HRV during dyadic interaction and interactional behavioural patterns. These analyses will be conducted in an exploratory manner to generate hypotheses for future research.



Zietlow A-L, et al. BMJ Open 2022;12:e050437. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437

Open access

In summary, this study will address the influence of maternal PD and PDCA on infant and child development with a special focus on the mediating effects of parent– infant interaction and infant stress reactivity. Our findings will contribute to better understand the underlying mediating effects, which may help to further improve prevention and intervention approaches.

METHODS AND ANALYSIS Design overview

In order to investigate the previously mentioned points 1 and 2, an observational longitudinal study will be implemented. As the two clinical groups ((1) PDCA and (2) PD)) and the CG are formed based on the mother's mental health status, our study design can be characterised as a natural experiment. The three groups will be accompanied throughout the infants' first 2years of life and to be more precise throughout four different measurement points at the infants' age of 3–4 (T1), 12 (T2), 18 (T3) and 24 (T4) months. See figure 1 for an overview (figure 1).

Our primary outcome measures include infant socioemotional development, more specifically internalising and externalising behaviour problems assessed with the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL).⁵³ and cognitive development assessed with the cognitive scale of the Bayley's Infant Development Scale III⁵⁴ at 24 months postpartum. Maternal interaction quality 12 months postpartum, more precisely maternal sensitivity coded via the Coding Interactive Behavior, as well as infant-cortisol reactivity at 12 months of age are considered as primary mediators.

In the exploratory analyses, infant gender is considered as a moderator for the interactive mediational path,⁵⁵ while for the mediation by infant stress reactivity, infant gender⁵⁶ and alpha-amylase⁴⁷ are considered as moderators.

Our secondary outcome measures are imitation and joint attention at 12 months as well as empathy, language development and child fearfulness at 24 months. Secondary mediators are further interactional qualities (eg, exploration, intrusiveness and limit setting) as well as father–infant interaction (eg, sensitivity, exploration, intrusiveness and limit setting).

Participant eligibility and recruitment Eligible participants

Clinical groups: subjects need to fulfil the DSM-5 criteria for a PD or for a PDCA, meaning the DSM-5 criteria have to be fulfilled at a time from the beginning of the pregnancy until the end of the fourth month postpartum.

Controls need to have no current or lifetime diagnosis and should not have received psychotherapy or more than seven therapeutic counselling sessions at any time in their life. Seven sessions represented the maximum length of diagnostics for psychotherapy in the German healthcare system.

Exclusion criteria for all groups

Mothers: acute suicidality, current or lifetime diagnosis of psychosis and bipolar disorder (one psychotic episode during the puerperium is not an exclusion criterion); diagnosed substance use disorder since they have become aware of their pregnancy

Infants: preterm birth defined as gestational age at birth of less than 36 weeks and 1 day; multiple birth infants; less than seven points in any of the three APGAR scores (1, 5 and 10 min after birth); and confirmed physical or developmental disorders, which make participation impossible or unwise.

Participant recruitment

Participants will be recruited both online and by flyers disseminated through midwives, gynaecologists, paediatricians, in pharmacies and in maternity hospitals as well as mothering forums or self-help groups (eg, 'Shadow and Light') and registration offices in Munich and Heidelberg. They receive thorough information about the study procedures both orally and in written form. We estimate that 1.447 mothers per year can be asked to participate in our study (considering an annual birth rate of 15.000 infants in Munich and 4.300 in Heidelberg/Mannheim, a prevalence rate of 6% for PD and 11% for PA and an estimated rate of 50% of mothers seeking help). In order to avoid high rates of non-participations due to feelings of self-blame, which is often recognised in PD,⁵⁷ the recruitment material and procedure is designed and conducted cautiously and empathetically.

The COMPARE study started in January 2018, but recruitment for the first test interval T1 has not been completed yet. A percentage of 64.4 of the required participants (112 of 174) have been recruited so far. The fourth test interval T4 started in March 2020. The total assessment status of the longitudinal study can, therefore, be described as less than half of the procedure. Additionally, since March 2020, recruitment and assessment have been partly delayed by the coronavirus pandemic.

Participant and public involvement

Participants or the public were not involved in the design or implementation of this study. The results will not be disseminated to the participants directly, but the anonymised data will be openly accessible in the Open Science Framework.

Screening assessment and group allocation

Screening assessment

Participants will take part in a screening procedure via a phone interview prior to inclusion.

Group formation procedure

According to our natural experimental design, the formation of the three groups: PD, PDCA and CG is based on the outcome of the clinical interview (DSM-5) conducted at T1.

6

6

Power analysis and size estimation

Sample size was estimated for the regression-based mediation model (see point 2 of 'The Planned Trial') with MedPow.R using 'R' (V.3.3.2)⁵⁸ with 'R-Studio' (V.1.0.44). Therefore, a c' path with a direct effect of 0.00 was scheduled. As we assume to find effects of medium size,⁵⁹ we concluded an effect of n=0.30 for paths a and b. As two models will be calculated (one for socioemotional development and one for cognitive development), we considered a Bonferroni-adjusted two-sided α-error of 0.025. We aim to achieve a power of $1-\beta=0.80$. We thus estimate the study sample size to include 135 subjects. As the actual mediation model contains two mediators, the pursued number of cases presents a minimum of the necessary study sample size. Furthermore, we anticipate a conventional study drop-out rate of 20%. Thus, overall, 174 mother-infant dyads will have to be recruited (thus, n=58 per subgroups and n=87 per study centre in Heidelberg and Munich).

Experimental procedure at T1, T2, T3 and T4

At measurement point T1 (3-4 months), mothers' and fathers' psychological health will be assessed via the clinical interview for DSM-5.60 61 Clinical screenings will be repeated at 12 months (T2) and 24 months (T4). In April 2020, we expanded the clinical interviews and screenings by a standardised questionnaire assessing the families' situation during the coronavirus pandemic. Parent-infant interaction at T1 will be measured by the Face-to-Face Still-Face experiment,⁶² which will be videotaped. In order to measure the level of cortisol and alpha-amylase, saliva samples of the infants will be taken before and directly after as well as 20 and 30 min after the starting point of the Face-to-Face Still-Face experiment. Additionally, heart rates of the infants and the caregivers will be recorded during dyadic interaction. The couple interaction at T1 will consist of a 15 min conversation about two couple issues chosen by the couple from a standardised list in advance.⁶³ The parents' saliva will be collected before and directly after as well as 30 and 45 min after the starting point of the couple interaction. Moreover, parental heart rate will be measured during couple interaction. Furthermore, maternal blood samples will be collected at the beginning of the assessment point in order to measure endogenous oxytocin level, gonadal hormones and epigenetic parameters of the oxytocin gene and oxytocin receptor gene. At T2, the parent-infant interaction will be conducted in form of a 13min free play situation including a 3min limit setting task. Again, infants' salvia samples will be collected before, directly after as well as 28 and 38 min after the interaction experiment. Moreover, the infants will take part in an imitation⁶⁴ and two joint attention tasks.^{65 66} Again, maternal blood samples will be collected. At T3 and T4, infant behaviour and development will be measured by the CBCL53 and the Caregiver-Teacher-Report Form⁶⁷ filled out by the parents and an additional caregiver. At T4, an 11 min free play situation including a 1 min frustration task will be conducted.

Open access

Additionally, infant cognitive and socioemotional development will be assessed. All assessments will be video recorded and coded afterwards. See figure 1 and table 1 for an overview of the study design and the measures for each measurement point. For all measurement points, a time frame for assessment of 4weeks will be accepted (T1: 3 months and 0 days to 3 months and 30 days; T2–4: 12/18/24 months±14 days).

Detailed description of measures, methods and instruments used

Interactional measures

Parent–infant interaction Face-To-Face Still-Face paradigm (T1)

At T1, parent–infant interaction will be assessed during the Face-to-Face Still-Face paradigm, a widely used paradigm for evaluating the quality of early parent–infant interaction.⁶² It consists of three episodes each lasting 2 min: first, an initial face-to-face interaction in which the mothers/fathers are instructed to play with their infant as usual (without the aid of toys and pacifiers). Next, the still-face episode follows in which the parents have to turn their head aside while silently counting to ten and then turn back to the infant but not engage in any gestures, facial expressions or vocalisations. Finally, the procedure ends with the reunion episode in which the parent is required to resume face-to-face play with the infant.

Free play and limit setting task (T2)

This interactional task consists of three episodes: in episode 1, lasting 5 min, mother/father and child engage in a free play with a given set of toys. In episode 2, the mother/father is asked to take place in a seat in some distance to the child and to focus on a newspaper for 3 min. In episode 3, the mother/father can reunite with the child in a free play lasting 5 min.

Free play and frustration task (T4)

In this interactional paradigm, mother and child engage in a 10min free play with a given set of toys. After 10min, they are requested to clean up all toys for 1min.

Couple interaction

During T1, in order to evaluate the influence of the quality of the parental relationship, couple interaction behaviour will be assessed during a 15min standard and instructed discussion.⁶³ As in previous experimental designs,^{68–70} the parents are asked to rate the intensity of 23 predetermined areas of couple conflict with regard to their own relationship. They then chose two topics (eg, finances, educational issues and leisure time) of continuing disagreement for the later discussion, which is videotaped and coded for behaviour.

Coding scheme for the interactional paradigms

All interaction sequences (parent–infant/child interaction and couple interaction) will be coded following the coding interactive behaviour manual (CIB) developed by Ruth Feldman. The couple conflict discussion
Table 1 Schedule of measures used in the study					
Measures	Citation	T1	T2	Т3	T4
nteractional measures					
Mother-infant interaction					
Face-to-Face Still-Face Paradigm	62	×			
Free play+limit setting			×		
Free play+frustration task					×
Father-child interaction					
Face-to-Face Still-Face Paradigm	62	×			
Free play+limit setting			×		
Couple interaction					
Topic suggestions for discussion and follow-up questionnaire	63	×			
Psychobiological measures					
Mother blood sample		×	×		
Parent-child HRV		×	×		×
Couple HRV		×			
Child cortisol and alpha-amylase saliva sample		×	×		
Parental cortisol and alpha-amylase saliva sample		×			
nterviews					
Diagnostic interview for mental disorders according to DSM 5	61	×			
Attachment style interview	75	×			
Questionnaires					
Sociodemographic details		×	×	×	×
Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale	84	×	×	×	×
Agoraphobic Cognitions Questionnaire, Body Sensations Questionnaire and Mobility Inventory	85	×	×	×	×
Postpartum Bonding Questionnaire 16 R	86	×	×		
Lips Maternal Self-Confidence Scale		×		×	
Partnership Questionnaire	63	×	×		
Social Support Questionnaire	87	×	×	×	
Dyadic Coping Inventory	88	×			×
Remembered parenting behaviours (Fragebogen zum erinnerten elterlichen Erziehungsverhalten)	89	×			
Parental Bonding Instrument	90	×			
Experiences in Close Relationships-Revised	91	×			
Infant Behaviour Questionnaire	92	×			
Personality Inventory for DSM-5 – Brief Form	93	×			
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire	94	×			
Parenting Stress Index	95		×	×	x
Vulnerable Attachment Style Questionnaire	96		×		×
Parenting styles (Erziehungsfragebogen für Eltern)	97				x
Epistemic Trust Questionnaire	98				×
Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire	99				×
Child development					
Imitation	64		×		
Joint attention	65 66		×		
Child ompathy	78				×

Zietlow A-L, et al. BMJ Open 2022;12:e050437. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437

123

6

6		Open access			
Table 1 Continued					
Measures	Citation	T1	T2	Т3	T4
Child fearfulness	79				×
Language assessment (Sprachentwicklungstest für zweijährige Kinder)	77				×
Bayley's Infant Development Scale III	54				×
Child Behaviour Checklist	53			×	×
Caregiver-Teacher Report Form	67			×	×

DSM 5, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders; HRV, heart rate variability; T1, first measurement point; T2, second measurement point; T3, third measurement point (online assessment); T4, fourth measurement point.

will also be coded with the CIB, which was extended for couple interaction. The CIB is a widely used, macroanalytic rating system for analysing dyadic interaction. The system uses multiple codes for the infants, parents and dyadic codes that aggregate into meaningful theoretically based constructs (eg, sensitivity, intrusiveness, reciprocity, social engagement and withdrawal). The psychometric characteristics are all well described.⁷¹ Microanalytically, the parent–infant interaction episodes of T1 will be coded with the German translation and revision of the Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases (ICEP-R).⁷² The ICEP-R phases combine information from the face, direction of gaze and vocalisations of the infants and caregivers. We will code the videos using the Mangold Interact coding software with 1 s time intervals.

The interaction sequences will be coded by blind and reliable coders who are independent of the current study; 10%–20% of the videos will be double coded for interrater reliability.

Psychobiological measures

Maternal blood samples

Maternal blood samples are taken to examine the endogenous oxytocin level, gonadal hormones and epigenetic parameters of the oxytocin gene and oxytocin receptor gene.

Infant stress reactivity

To determine infant stress reactivity, cortisol and alphaamylase will be extracted from infant saliva, which will be collected according to standard protocols⁷³ during all interaction paradigms at T1 and T2. Saliva is collected before (C1) and after (C2) as well as 20 min (C3) and 30 min (C4) after the starting point of the Face-to-Face-Still-Face paradigm at T1, and likewise before and after, as well as 28 and 38 min after the starting point of the interactional paradigms at T2. Following analytic procedures,⁷⁴ the area under the curve with respect to increase (AUC₁) will be calculated as an index for infant cortisol reactivity. This measure is the integral of the curve resulting from the four cortisol measures (C1, C2, C3 and C4) and denotes the time distance between measurements, in contrast to statistical tests for repeated measures. AUC, is calculated with reference to the first value (C1) and therefore measures the change over time.

Parental stress reactivity

As described previously, parental stress reactivity (cortisol and alpha-amylase) will be collected via saliva samples, before, directly, 30 and 40 min after the couple interaction paradigm.

Infants' and caregivers' HRV

As a cardiovascular measure of the emotion regulation capacity, the HRV of the caregiver and infant will be measured during the Face-to-Face-Still-Face paradigm, the limit setting task and the frustration task at T1, T2 and T4. HRV will be conducted with a one-electrode sensor (eMotion Faros 90°, Sampling Rate 250 Hz) and is calculated via R-R intervals (HR/min=60.000 ms/min/R-R intervals per ms). The analysis will be calculated with Kubios HRV (V.2.0) concentrating on respiratory sinus arrhythmia.

Parental HRV

According to the analyses of parent–infant HRV, the parental HRV will be assessed during couple interaction at T1.

Diagnostic measures

Diagnostic Interview for Mental Disorders according to DSM-5 (DIPS-0A)

In this study, participants' mental disorders will be assessed with a structured clinical interview, the Diagnostic Interview for Mental Disorders according to DSM 5 (DIPS-OA).^{60 61} It assesses lifetime, as well as current and past diagnoses. All clinical assessments will be conducted by trained and experienced psychologists.

Attachment Style Interview (ASI)

This semistructured interview focuses on current behaviour and attitudes to assess adult attachment, including secure, anxious (enmeshed or fearful) and avoidant (angry-dismissive or withdrawn) attachment styles. Dual/disorganised attachment style is characterised by a 'double' classification of style, occurring when no clear attachment pattern can be recognised. In order to assure the quality of the ratings, 10%–20% randomly selected tapes will be double coded by two independent study coders.⁷⁵

Open access

Infant and child development

Cognitive development

Cognitive development will be assessed at T4 using the cognitive scale of the Bayley Scales of Infant Development- III.54 The Bayley Scales allow for the assessment of infants' and toddlers' development between 1 and 42 months of age. The Bayley-III indices and subscales demonstrate good internal consistency and good split-half consistency according to the Spearman-Brown formula.⁷⁶ Regarding construct validity, confirmatory factor analysis of the subtests of the cognitive, language, and motor scales supported a three-factor model across all ages. The Bayley-III scales have been normed for German infants and children.54

Language abilities

For the assessment of language abilities (verbal understanding and language production), we will administer a standardised German language test for children aged 2 years (Sprachentwicklungstest, SETK-2).77 The duration of use is about 15-20 min. It has been found to have a (mostly) high validity and reliability (with Cronbach's alpha between 0.56 and 0.95 for the four subscales).

Cognitive and socioemotional development: joint attention, imitation, child fearfulness and empathy

At the age of 12 months, we will assess gaze and point following, 65 declarative and imperative point production and understanding,⁶⁶ and imitation of object-related and intransitive action skills as predictors of later sociocognitive development.⁶⁴ This will be expanded on at 24 months by an assessment of empathy as a milestone of constructive social behaviour78 and of child fearfulness (spider task).79

Socioemotional development: CBCL/Caregiver Teacher Report Form

At T3 and T4, parents and additional caregivers will rate the children's socioemotional development by filling out the Child Behaviour Checklist/Caregiver Teacher Report Form.⁵³⁶⁷These measures assess internalising and externalising behaviour problems in children (0=absent, 1=occurs sometimes, 2=occurs often). Internalising behaviour

125

6

includes emotional reactive behaviour, anxious/depressive symptoms, somatic complaints and withdrawn behaviour, whereas attention deficits and aggressive behaviour are characteristics for externalising behaviour. In both questionnaires, higher scores indicate more problematic child behaviour. T-scores above 60 can be seen as clinically relevant. Psychometric properties are described as satisfying.

Data analysis plan

Statistical analyses will be conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (IBM SPSS current V.27.0.0.0) and R (current V.4.0.1).⁵⁸ We will carry out conditional process analyses using the SPSS-Macro 'PROCESS' (current V.3.5).⁸⁰ We will analyse the model depicted in figure 2. The SEs and CIs of the indirect (mediated) effects will be bootstrapped and bias corrected (n=5000 samples). Variables will be mean centred. Estimates will be tested two tailed (critical α =0.025; Bonferroni adjusted for two primary outcomes of child development). According to our hypotheses, a significant initial direct pathway e of our conditional process analyses will reflect the association between maternal disorder severity, which will be coded by the ordinal variable in the following order: CG: 0, PD: 1 and PDCA: 2, and child development, that is, the higher the ordinal coded variable, the more impaired child development (hypothesis 1). Concerning the parallel mediators, we expect significant indirect pathways a*b and c*d, that is, the higher the ordinal coded variable, the lower the maternal sensitivity/the higher the infant cortisol reactivity, the more impaired child development (hypothesis 2). Mediators will be allowed to correlate in our analyses. Moreover, the differences between the groups will be explored by applying one-factorial (multivariate) analyses of variance (MANOVA and ANOVA).

All metric variables will be preliminarily analysed for normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests), linearity (scatterplots), homoscedasticity (scatterplots) and independence (Durbin-Watson coefficient). The unit of analyses is the caregiver-infant dyad.



Zietlow A-L, et al. BMJ Open 2022;12:e050437. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437

6

In case of missing values and incomplete cases, we will determine whether the missing completely at random (MCAR) condition is fulfilled by using Little's MCAR test.⁸¹ If non-significant, missing values are unlikely to depend on third variables and will be estimated using multiple imputations⁸² according to standard practice.⁸³

DISCUSSION

PDCA and PD may influence infant and child cognitive and socioemotional development. The quality of caregiver-infant interaction is said to play a crucial role in this transmission process. To our best knowledge, our study is the first one to address the impact of PDCA and PD on child development on a behavioural, hormonal, developmental and clinical psychological level in a longitudinal design. Our multimethodological approach casts a wide net of possible linkages that allow broad and comprehensive analyses in an exploratory manner. A focus, however, will be laid on the effects of PDCA and PD on children's internalising and externalising behaviour problems as well as on their cognitive development at 24 months postpartum. In this context, we focus on the mediating role of maternal sensitivity and infant-cortisol reactivity at 12 months of age. The identification of specific behavioural and psychobiological patterns might further inform prevention and intervention approaches. A unique strength of our study is the inclusion of fathers, allowing to view families from an overall perspective and to examine their role as a possible buffer in the family system. An acknowledged study limitation can be seen in the number of participants that represents an adequate sample size for our proposed statistical analyses is too small, though, to draw differential conclusions about individual anxiety disorders.

ETHICS AND DISSEMINATION

Ethics, consent to participate and dissemination

This study is implemented in accordance with the current guidelines of the World Medical Association (revised Declaration of Helsinki) and the General Data Protection Regulation of the European Union (EU-GDPR). The study procedures were approved by the independent ethics committees of the Department of Psychology, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich (74_Reck_b) and of the Medical Faculty, University Heidelberg (S-446/2017). Participation is voluntary. A signed written informed consent form must be obtained from each study subject prior to any study-specific procedure. Participants can withdraw from the study at any point in time without giving a reason or being subjected to any future disadvantages. In case of withdrawal from the study, the subject's data and material will be kept unless the participant asks for data removal.

Results will be internationally published and disseminated to further the discussion on the effects of maternal PD and PDCA on parent–infant interaction, infant stress reactivity and child development. Furthermore, study results will be presented at international congresses and expert conferences.

Author affiliations

¹Department of Psychology, School of Social Sciences, University of Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany

²Department of Psychology, Clinical Psychology of Children and Adolescents, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Munich, Germany

³Institute of Medical Psychology, Centre of Psychosocial Medicine, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

⁴Department of Psychology, Developmental and Educational Psychology, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Munich, Germany

⁵Department of Psychology, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

⁶Department of General Psychiatry, Centre of Psychosocial Medicine, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Acknowledgements The authors wish to thank Britta Zipser, Nina Schlegel, Hannah-Sophie Lässig, Josephine Parol, Ines Brenner, Carina Schildberg, Elena Siegler, Sophia Wriedt-Monske, Nadine Korus, Anamaria Semm, Nele Harbrecht, Lena Streckert, Sophie Koller, Evamaria Ehrmann, Moritz Birkendahl and Sarah Ghezih as well as all involved students and interns for their assistance with conducting the study.

Contributors A-LZ, CR, NN, MM, BD, BS, MP, UMN and SCH designed the study. CR and A-LZ lead the study; NN, CFJW and VL established the study set-up and will collect data. A-LZ, CFJW and NN wrote and edited the manuscript; all authors provided comments on the manuscript.

Funding This work was supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research of Germany (grant number: 01GL1748D). The publication of this article was funded by the Baden-Württemberg Ministry of Science, Research and the Arts and by the University of Mannheim.

Competing interests None declared.

Patient and public involvement Patients and/or the public were not involved in the design, or conduct, or reporting, or dissemination plans of this research.

Patient consent for publication Not applicable.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Open access This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited, appropriate credit is given, any changes made indicated, and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.

ORCID ID

Christian Franz Josef Woll http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0352-4796

REFERENCES

- Woody CA, Ferrari AJ, Siskind DJ, et al. A systematic review and meta-regression of the prevalence and incidence of perinatal depression. J Affect Disord 2017;219:86–92.
- 2 Reck C, Struben K, Backenstrass M, et al. Prevalence, onset and comorbidity of postpartum anxiety and depressive disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2008;118:459–68.
- 3 van de Loo KFE, Vlenterie R, Nikkels SJ, et al. Depression and anxiety during pregnancy: the influence of maternal characteristics. *Birth* 2018;45:478–89.
- 4 Penninx BWJH, Nolen WA, Lamers F, et al. Two-year course of depressive and anxiety disorders: results from the Netherlands study of depression and anxiety (NESDA). J Affect Disord 2011;133:76–85.
- 5 Glashen C, Richardson GA, Fabio A. A systematic review of the effects of postnatal maternal anxiety on children. Arch Womens Ment
- Health 2010;13:61–74.
 Goodman SH, Rouse MH, Connell AM, et al. Maternal depression
- and child psychopathology: a meta-analytic review. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev* 2011;14:1–27. 7 Ovetunji A, Chandra P. Postpartum stress and infant outcome: a
- review of current literature. *Psychiatry Res* 2020;284:112769.

Open access

Open access

- 8 Ulrich I, Stopsack M, Spitzer C. Familiäre transmission depressiver Störungen: die Bedeutung von Schadensvermeidung. Nervenarzt 2011:82:1169-77.
- Gotlib IH, Goodman SH, Humphreys KL. Studying the 9 intergenerational transmission of risk for depression: current status and future directions. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci* 2020;29:174–9.
- 10 Nomura Y, Warner V, Wickramaratne P. Parents concordant for major depressive disorder and the effect of psychopathology in offspring. sychol Med 2001;31:1211-22.
- 11 Connell AM. Goodman SH. The association between psychopathology in fathers versus mothers and children's internalizing and externalizing behavior problems: a meta-analysis. Psychol Bull 2002:128:746-73. 12
- Tan S, Rey J. Depression in the young, parental depression and parenting stress. *Australas Psychiatry* 2005;13:76–9. Lieb R, Wittchen HU, Höfler M, et al. Parental psychopathology, 13
- parenting styles, and the risk of social phobia in offspring: a prospective-longitudinal community study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000:57:859-66
- 14 Micco JA, Henin A, Mick E, et al. Anxiety and depressive disorders in offspring at high risk for anxiety: a meta-analysis. J Anxiety Disord 2009.23.1158-64
- Koutra K, Chatzi L, Bagkeris M, et al. Antenatal and postnatal 15 maternal mental health as determinants of infant neurodevelopment at 18 months of age in a mother-child cohort (Rhea Study) in Crete. Greece. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2013;48:1335–45.
- Guevedo LA, Silva RA, Godoy R, *et al.* The impact of maternal post-partum depression on the language development of children at 12 months. *Child Care Health Dev* 2012;38:420–4.
 Vänskä M, Punamäki R-L, Tolvanen A. Maternal pre- and postnatal
- mental health trajectories and child mental health and development: prospective study in a normative and formerly infertile sample. Int J Behav Dev 2011;35:517-31.
- Jones NA, Field T, Davalos M. Right frontal EEG asymmetry and lack of empathy in preschool children of depressed mothers. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev 2000;30:189–204.
- 19 Feldman R, Granat A, Pariente C, et al. Maternal depression and anxiety across the postpartum year and infant social engagement. fear regulation, and stress reactivity. J Am Acad Child Add Psychiatry 2009:48:919–27.
- 20 Radke-Yarrow M, Zahn-Waxler C, Richardson DT, et al. Caring behavior in children of clinically depressed and well mothers. *Child Dev* 1994;65:1405–14.
- Ibanez G, Bernard JY, Rondet C, et al. Effects of antenatal maternal 21 depression and anxiety on children's early cognitive development: a prospective cohort study. *PLoS One* 2015;10:e0135849.
- Van den Bergh BRH, Mennes M, Oosterlaan J, et al. High antenatal 22 maternal anxiety is related to impulsivity during performance on cognitive tasks in 14- and 15-year-olds. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2005:29:259-69.
- 23 Paulus M, Licata M, Kristen S, et al. Social understanding and selfregulation predict pre-schoolers' sharing with friends and disliked peers. Int J Behav Dev 2015;39:53–64.
- 24 Sodian B, Licata M, Kristen-Antonow S, et al. Understanding of goals, beliefs, and desires predicts morally relevant theory of mind: a longitudinal investigation. Child Dev 2016;87:1221-32.
- 25 Greig A, Howe D. Social understanding, attachment security of preschool children and maternal mental health. Br J Dev Psychol . 2001:19:381–93.
- 26 Rohrer LM, Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA, et al. Effects of maternal negativity and of early and recent recurrent depressive disorder on
- children's false belief understanding. *Dev Psychol* 2011;47:170–81. Sanger C, Iles JE, Andrew CS, *et al.* Associations between postnatal 27 maternal depression and psychological outcomes in adolescent offspring: a systematic review. Arch Womens Ment Health 2015:18:147-62.
- 28 Luoma I. Tamminen T. Kaukonen P. et al. Longitudinal study of Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001;40:1367–74. Nonnenmacher N, Noe D, Ehrenthal JC, et al. Postpartum bonding:
- 29 the impact of maternal depression and adult attachment style. Arch Womens Ment Health 2016:19:927-35.
- Thomas SR, O'Brien KA, Clarke TL, et al. Maternal depression history 30 moderates parenting responses to compliant and noncompliant behaviors of children with ADHD. J Abnorm Child Psycho 2015;43:1257-69.
- 31 Mäntymaa M, Puura K, Luoma I, et al. Child's behaviour in motherchild interaction predicts later emotional and behavioural problems. Infant Child Dev 2009;18:455–67. Stanley C, Murray L, Stein A. The effect of postnatal depression
- 32 on mother-infant interaction, infant response to the Still-face

perturbation, and performance on an instrumental learning task. Dev sychopathol 2004:16:1-18.

- Dietz LJ, Jennings KD, Kelley SA, et al. Maternal depression, 33 paternal psychopathology, and toddlers' behavior problems. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2009:38:48–61. Tronick E, Reck C. Infants of depressed mothers. Harv Rev
- 35
- *Psychiatry* 2009;17:147–56. Azak S, Raeder S. Trajectories of parenting behavior and maternal depression. *Infant Behav Dev* 2013;36:391–402. Stein A, Craske MG, Lehtonen A, *et al.* Maternal cognitions and 36
- mother-infant interaction in postnatal depression and generalized anxiety disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 2012;121:795–809. Zietlow A-L, Nonnenmacher N, Reck C, et al. Emotional stress during
- 37 pregnancy - associations with maternal anxiety disorders, infant cortisol reactivity, and mother-child interaction at pre-school age. sychol 2019;10:2179.
- Müller M, Zietlow A-L, Tronick E, et al. What dyadic reparation 38 is meant to do: an association with infant cortisol reactivity. ychopathology 2015;48:386-99.
- 39 Beebe B. Lachmann F. Jaffe J. Mother-infant interaction structures and presymbolic self- and object representations. Psychoanal Dialogues 1997;7:133–82. Weinberg MK, Tronick EZ. The impact of maternal psychiatric illness
- 40 on infant development. *J Clin Psychiatry* 1998;59:53–61. Diener ML, Mangelsdorf SC. Behavioral strategies for emotion
- 41 regulation in toddlers: associations with maternal involvement and
- emotional expressions. *Infant Behav Develop* 1999;22:569–83. Kopp CB. Regulation of distress and negative emotions: a
- developmental view. *Dev Psychol* 1989;25:343–54. Gianino A, Tronick EZ. The mutual regulation model: The infant's self 43 and interactive regulation and coping and defensive capacities. In: Field TM, McCabe PM, Schneiderman N, eds. Stress and coping across development. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Inc, 1988: 47-68.
- Tronick EZ. Emotions and emotional communication in infants. Am 44 sychol 1989;44:112-9.
- 45 Zijlmans MAC, Riksen-Walraven JM, de Weerth C. Associations between maternal prenatal cortisol concentrations and child outcomes: a systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Re 2015:53:1-24
- Van den Bergh BRH, van den Heuvel MI, Lahti M, et al. Prenatal 46 developmental origins of behavior and mental health: the influence of maternal stress in pregnancy. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2020;117:26-64.
- Keller PS, El-Sheikh M, Granger DA, et al. Interactions between 47 salivary cortisol and alpha-amylase as predictors of children's cognitive functioning and academic performance. *Physiol Behav* 2012;105:987–95.
- 48 Schumacher S, Kirschbaum C, Fydrich T, et al. Is salivary alphaamylase an indicator of autonomic nervous system dysregulations in mental disorders?--a review of preliminary findings and the interactions with cortisol. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2013;38:729-43.
- Lewin A, Mitchell SJ, Waters D, et al. The protective effects of father involvement for infants of teen mothers with depressive symptoms. Matern Child Health J 2015;19:1016–23.
- 50 Yap MBH, Jorm AF. Parental factors associated with childhood anxiety, depression, and internalizing problems: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord* 2015;175:424–40. Yap MBH, Pilkington PD, Ryan SM, *et al*. Parental factors associated
- 51 with depression and anxiety in young people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2014:156:8-23.
- Tanner Stapleton L, Bradbury TN. Marital interaction prior to parenthood predicts parent-child interaction 9 years later. J Fam Psychol 2012;26:479-87.
- Arbeitsgruppe Deutsche Child Behavior Checklist. Elternfragebogen für Klein- und Vorschulkinder (CBCL/1,5-5). köln: Arbeitsgruppe Kinder-, Jugend- und Familiendiagnostik (KJFD) 2000.
- Reuner G, Rosenkranz J. Bayley-III Bayley scales of infant and toddler development III: Deutsche Version. Frankfurt: Pearson 54 Assessment & Information GmbH, 2015.
- Weinberg MK, Beeghly M, Olson KL, et al. Effects of maternal 55 depression and panic disorder on mother-infant interactive behavior in the face-to-face STILL-FACE paradigm. Infant Ment Health J 2008;29:472-91.
- Martinez-Torteya C, Muzik M, McGinnis EW, et al. Longitudinal 56 examination of infant baseline and reactivity cortisol from ages 7 to 16 months. Dev Psychobiol 2015;57:356-64.
- Reck C, Zietlow A-L, Müller M, et al. Perceived parenting stress in the course of postpartum depression: the buffering effect of maternal 57 bonding. Arch Womens Ment Health 2016;19:473-82.

Zietlow A-L, et al. BMJ Open 2022;12:e050437. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437

BMJ Open: first

published as

10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437

on 20

January 2022.

Downloaded from http://bmjopen.bmj.com/ on January 20,

2022 by guest. Protected by copyright

പ്പ

6

- 58 R Development Core Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2008.
- Beck CT. The effects of postpartum depression on child development: a meta-analysis. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs* 1998;12:12–20.
 Margraf J, Cwik JC, Pflug V. Strukturierte klinische Interviews
- 60 Margraf J, Cwik JC, Pflug V. Strukturierte klinische Interviews zur Erfassung psychischer Störungen über die Lebensspanne : Gütekriterien und Weiterentwicklungen der DIPS-Verfahren. Z Klin Psychol Psychother 2017;46:176–86.
- Margraf J, Cwik JC, Suppiger A. Dips open access: Diagnostisches interview bei psychischen Störungen. Bochum: Mental Health Research and Treament Center, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, 2017.
 Tronick E, Als H, Adamson L, et al. The infant's response to
- 62 Tronick E, Als H, Adamson L, et al. The infant's response to entrapment between contradictory messages in face-to-face interaction. J Am Acad Child Psychiatry 1978;17:1–13.
- Hahlweg K. Fragebogen Zur Partnerschaftsdiagnostik (FPD): Partnerschaftsfragebogen (PFB). Göttingen: Hogrefe, 1996.
 Goertz C, Knopf M, Kolling T. Der frankfurter Imitations-Test für 12
- 64 Goertz C, Knopf M, Kolling I. Der frankfurter Imitations- lest für 12 Monate alte Kinder (fit 12). Z Entwicklungspsychol Padagog Psychol 2006;38:88–96.
- 65 Mundy P, Delgado C, Block J. *Early social communication scales* (ESCS). Coral Gables, FL: University of Miami, 2003.
- Camaioni L, Perucchini P, Bellagamba F. The role of declarative pointing in developing a theory of mind. *Infancy* 2004;5:291–308.
 Arbeitsgruppe Deutsche child behavior checklist. Fragebogen für
- 67 Arbeitsgruppe Deutsche child behavior checklist. Fragebogen für Erzieherinnen von Klein- und Vorschulkindern (C-TRF/1,5-5). köln: Arbeitsgruppe Kinder-, Jugend- und Familiendiagnostik (KJFD) 2000.
- 68 Gottman JM. What predicts divorce? The relationship between marital processes and marital outcomes. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1994.
- 69 Zietlow A-L, Eckstein M, Hernández C, et al. Dyadic Coping and Its Underlying Neuroendocrine Mechanisms - Implications for Stress Regulation. Front Psychol 2018;9:2600.
- Regulation. Front Psychol 2018;9:2600.
 Ditzen B, Schaer M, Gabriel B, et al. Intranasal oxytocin increases positive communication and reduces cortisol levels during couple conflict. *Biol Psychiatry* 2009;65:728–31.
- 71 Feldman R, Masalha S. Parent-child and triadic antecedents of children's social competence: cultural specificity, shared process. *Dev Psychol* 2010;46:455–67.
- 72 Reck Ć, Noe D, Weinberg M. Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases (ICEP-R) - German Revised Version. Heidelberg: Universitätsklinikum Heidelberg, 2009.
- 73 Schwartz EB, Granger DA, Susman EJ, et al. Assessing salivary cortisol in studies of child development. *Child Dev* 1998;69:1503–13.
- 74 Pruessner JC, Kirschbaum C, Meinlschmid G, et al. Two formulas for computation of the area under the curve represent measures of total hormone concentration versus time-dependent change. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2003;28:916–31.
 75 Bifulco A, Moran PM, Ball C, et al. Adult attachment style. I:
- 75 Bifulco A, Moran PM, Ball C, et al. Adult attachment style. I: its relationship to clinical depression. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2002;37:50–9.
- 76 Albers CA, Grieve AJ. Test review: Bayley, N. (2006). Bayley scales of infant and toddler development– third edition. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt assessment. J Psychoeduc Assess 2007;25:180–90.
- Grimm H, Aktas M, Frevert S. Sprachentwicklungstest für zweijährige Kinder (SETK- 2). Göttingen: Hogrefe, 2000.
 Paulus M, Kühn-Popp N, Licata M, et al. Neural correlates
- 78 Paulus M, Kuhn-Popp N, Licata M, et al. Neural correlates of prosocial behavior in infancy: different neurophysiological mechanisms support the emergence of helping and comforting. *Neuroimage* 2013;66:522–30.
- 79 Liew J, Eisenberg N, Spinrad TL, et al. Physiological regulation and Fearfulness as predictors of young children's Empathy-related reactions. Soc Dev 2011;20:111–3.

80 Bolin JH. Reviewed work: introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: a regression-based approach by Andrew F and Hayes (2013). *J Educ Meas* 2014;51:335–7.

Open access

BMJ Open: first published as 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437 on 20

January 2022.

- Little RJA. A test of missing completely at random for multivariate data with missing values. *J Am Stat Assoc* 1988;83:1198–202.
 Rubin DB. *Multiple imputation for nonresponse in surveys*. New York,
- NY: Wiley & Sons, 1987.
 83 Enders CK. Applied missing data analysis. New York: The Guilford Press. 2010.
- 84 Bergant AM, Nguyen T, Heim K, et al. Deutschsprachige Fassung und Validierung der »Edinburgh postnatal depression scale«. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1998;123:35–40.
- 85 Ehlers A, Margraf J, Chambless D. Fragebogen zu körperbezogenen Ängsten, Kognitionen und Vermeidung (AKV). Göttingen: Beltz Test, 2001.
- 86 Reck C, Klier CM, Pabst K, et al. The German version of the postpartum bonding instrument: psychometric properties and association with postpartum depression. Arch Womens Ment Health 2006;9:265–71.
- 87 Fydrich T, Sommer G. Brähler E. F-SozU: Fragebogen Zur Sozialen Unterstützung. Göttingen: Hogrefe, 2007.
- 88 Gmelch S, Bödenmann G, Meuwly N. Dyadisches coping Inventar (DCI): ein Fragebogen Zur Erfassung des partnerschaftlichen Umgangs MIT stress. Z Fam Forsch 2008;20:185–203.
- 89 Schumacher J. FEE Fragebogen zum erinnerten elterlichen Erziehungsverhalten. In: Brähler E, Schumacher J, Strauß B, eds. *Diagnostik für Klinik und praxis, band* 1. Göttingen: Hogrefe, 2002: 111–4.
- 90 Parker G, Tupling H, Brown LB. A parental bonding instrument. Br J Med Psychol 1979;52:1–10.
- 91 Ehrenthal JC, Dinger U, Lamla A. Evaluation der deutschsprachigen Version des Bindungsfragebogens "Experiences in Close Relationships-Revised" (ECR-RD). *Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol* 2009;59:215–23.
- 92 Pauli-Pott U, Ries-Hahn A, Kupfer J. Konstruktion eines Fragebogens zur Erfassung des "frühkindlichen Temperaments" im Elternurteil - Ergebnisse für den Altersbereich drei bis vier Monate. Prax Kinderpsychol Kinderpsychiatr 1999;48:231–46.
- 93 Zimmermann J, Altenstein D, Krieger T, et al. The structure and correlates of self-reported DSM-5 maladaptive personality traits: findings from two German-speaking samples. J Pers Disord 2014;28:518–40.
- 94 Klinitzke G, Romppel M, Häuser W. Die deutsche Version des Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) - psychometrische Eigenschaften in einer bevölkerungsrepräsentativen Stichprobe. Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol 2012;62:47–51.
- 95 Tröster H, Eltern-Belastungs-Inventar: EBI. Deutsche version des parenting stress index (PSI) von R. R. Abidin. Göttingen: Hogrefe 2010.
- 96 Bifulco A, Mahon J, Kwon JH, et al. The vulnerable attachment style questionnaire (VASQ): an Interview-Based measure of attachment styles that predict depressive disorder. *Psychol Med* 2003;33:1099–110.
- 97 Naumann S, Bertram H, Kuschel A. Der Erziehungsfragebogen (Efb): ein Fragebogen Zur Erfassung elterlicher Verhaltenstendenzen in schwierigen Erziehungssituationen. *Diagnostica* 2010;56:144–57.
- 98 Nolte T, Gingelmaier S, Schwarzer N-H. Epistemic trust auestionnaire.
- 99 Luyten P, Mayes LC, Nijssens L, et al. The parental reflective functioning questionnaire: development and preliminary validation. *PLoS One* 2017;12:e0176218.

11

Zietlow A-L, et al. BMJ Open 2022;12:e050437. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437

References

- Achterberg, M., Dobbelaar, S., Boer, O. D., & Crone, E. A. (2021). Perceived stress as mediator for longitudinal effects of the covid-19 lockdown on wellbeing of parents and children. *Scientific Reports*, 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81720-8
- Adams, E. L., Smith, D., Caccavale, L. J., & K., B. M. (2021). Parents are stressed! patterns of parent stress across covid-19. Frontiers in psychiatry, 12. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fpsyt.2021.626456
- Ainsworth, M. D., Blehar, M., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation. Erlbaum.
- Akaike, H. (1987). Factor Analysis and AIC. Psychometrika, 52(3), 317–332.
- Alhusen, J. L. (2008). A literature update on maternal-fetal attachment. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing, 37(3), 315–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1552-6909.2008.00241.x
- Alhusen, J. L., Gross, D., Hayat, M. J., Woods, A. B. N., & Sharps, P. W. (2012). The influence of maternal-fetal attachment and health practices on neonatal outcomes in low-income, urban women. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 35(2), 112–120. https: //doi.org/10.1002/nur.21464
- Alhusen, J., Hayat, M., & Gross, D. (2013). A longitudinal study of maternal attachment and infant developmental outcomes. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 16, 521– 529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-013-0357-8
- Allen, M., Poggiali, D., Whitaker, K., Marshall, T. R., van Langen, J., & Kievit, R. A. (2019). Raincloud plots: A multi-platform tool for robust data visualization [version 2; peer review: 2 approved]. Wellcome Open Researcht, 4(63), 1246–1259. https: //doi.org/10.1177/1073191117715731
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., text rev.)
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.) American Psychiatric Pub.
- Andersson, L., Sundström-Poromaa, I., Bixo, M., Wulff, M., Bondestam, K., & Åström, M. (2003). Point prevalence of psychiatric disorders during the second trimester of pregnancy: A population-based study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 189(1), 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2003.336
- Andersson, L., Sundström-Poromaa, I., Wulff, M., Åström, M., & Bixo, M. (2006). Depression and anxiety during pregnancy and six months postpartum: A follow-up study.

Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 85(8), 937–944. https://doi.org/10. 1080/00016340600697652

- Appleby, L., Mortensen, P. B., & Faragher, E. B. (1998). Suicide and other causes of mortality after post-partum psychiatric admission. The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science, 173, 209–211. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.173.3. 2096
- Apter-Levy, Y., Feldman, M., Vakart, A., Ebstein, R. P., & Feldman, R. (2013). Impact of maternal depression across the first 6 years of life on the child's mental health, social engagement, and empathy: The moderating role of oxytocin. American Journal of Psychiatry, 170(10), 1161–1168. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12121597
- Arbeitsgruppe Deutsche Child Behavior Checklist. (2000). Elternfragebogen f
 ür Klein- und Vorschulkinder (CBCL/1,5-5). Arbeitsgruppe Kinder-, Jugend- und Familiendiagnostik (KJFD).
- Atkinson, L., Paglia, A., Coolbear, J., Niccols, A., Parker, K. C., & Guger, S. (2000). Attachment security: A meta-analysis of maternal mental health correlates. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 20(8), 1019–1040. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(99) 00023-9
- Balsamo, M., Romanelli, R., Innamorati, M., Ciccarese, G., Carlucci, L., & Saggino, A. (2013). The state-trait anxiety inventory: Shadows and lights on its construct validity. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 35, 475–486. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s10862-013-9354-5
- Banti, S., Mauri, M., Oppo, A., Borri, C., Rambelli, C., Ramacciotti, D., Montagnani, M. S., Camilleri, V., Cortopassi, S., Rucci, P., & Cassano, G. B. (2011). From the third month of pregnancy to 1 year postpartum. Prevalence, incidence, recurrence, and new onset of depression. Results from the Perinatal Depression–Research & Screening Unit study. Comprehensive Psychiatry, 52(4), 343–351. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.comppsych.2010.08.003
- Barker, B., Iles, J. E., & Ramchandani, P. G. (2017). Fathers, fathering and child psychopathology. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 15, 87–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.copsyc.2017.02.015
- Barone, L., Lionetti, F., & Dellagiulia, A. (2014). Maternal-fetal attachment and its correlates in a sample of italian women: A study using the prenatal attachment inventory. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 32(3), 230–239. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02646838.2014.883596
- Bäuerle, A., Teufel, M., Musche, V., Weismüller, B., Kohler, H., Hetkamp, M., Dörrie, N., Schweda, A., & Skoda, E.-M. (2020). Increased generalized anxiety, depression and distress during the covid-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study in germany. *Journal* of Public Health, 42(4), 672–678. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdaa106
- Beebe, B., Jaffe, J., Buck, K., Chen, H., Cohen, P., Feldstein, S., & Andrews, H. (2008). Sixweek postpartum maternal depressive symptoms and 4-month mother-infant selfand interactive contingency. *Infant mental health journal*, 29(5), 445–471. https: //doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20191

- Beebe, B., & Lachmann, F. (2020). Infant research and adult treatment revisited: Cocreating self- and interactive regulation. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 37(4), 313–323. https://doi.org/10.1037/pap0000305
- Beebe, B., & Stern, D. N. (1977). Engagement-disengagement and early object experiences. In N. Freedman & S. Grand (Eds.), *Communicative structures and psychic structures* (pp. 35–56). Plenum Press.
- Beebe, B., Jaffe, J., Markese, S., Buck, K., Chen, H., Cohen, P., Bahrick, L., Andrews, H., & Feldstein, S. (2010). The origins of 12-month attachment: A microanalysis of 4-month mother-infant interaction. Attachment & Human Development, 12(1-2), 3-141. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730903338985
- Beebe, B., Rustin, J., Sorter, D., & Knoblauch, S. (2003). An expanded view of intersubjectivity in infancy and its application to psychoanalysis. *Psychoanalytic Dialogues*, 13(6), 805–841. https://doi.org/10.1080/10481881309348769
- Beebe, B., Steele, M., Jaffe, J., Buck, K. A., Chen, H., Cohen, P., Kaitz, M., Markese, S., Andrews, H., Margolis, A., & Feldstein, S. (2011). Maternal anxiety symptoms and mother-infant self- and interactive contingency. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 32(2), 174–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20274
- Beeghly, M., Fuertes, M., Liu, C. H., Delonis, M. S., & Tronick, E. Z. (2011). Maternal sensitivity in dyadic context: Mutual regulation, meaning-making, and reparation. In D. W. Davis & M. C. Logsdon (Eds.), *Maternal Sensitivity: A Scientific Foundation for Practice* (pp. 45–69). Nova Science.
- Behrendt, H. F., Konrad, K., Goecke, T. W., Fakhrabadi, R., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., & Firk, C. (2016). Postnatal mother-to-infant attachment in subclinically depressed mothers: Dyads at risk? *Psychopathology*, 49(4), 269–276. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000447597
- Behrendt, H. F., Scharke, W., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Konrad, K., & Firk, C. (2019). Like mother, like child? maternal determinants of children's early social-emotional development. *Infant mental health journal*, 40(2), 234–247. https://doi.org/10. 1002/imhj.21765
- Bellieni, C., Ceccarelli, D., Rossi, F., Buonocore, G., Maffei, M., Perrone, S., & Petraglia, F. (2007). Is prenatal bonding enhanced by prenatal education courses? *Minerva* ginecologica, 59, 125–9.
- Benjamini, Y., & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 57(1), 289–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161. 1995.tb02031.x
- Bennett, H. A., Einarson, A., Taddio, A., Koren, G., & Einarson, T. R. (2004). Prevalence of depression during pregnancy: Systematic review. Obstetrics & Gynecology, 103(4), 698–709. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000116689.75396.5f
- Bergant, A., Nguyen, T., Heim, K., Ulmer, H., & Dapunt, O. (1998). Deutschsprachige Fassung und Validierung der »Edinburgh postnatal depression scale«. DMW-Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift, 123(03), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1023895

- Bertholdt, C., Epstein, J., Banasiak, C., Ligier, F., Dahlhoff, S., Olieric, M. F., Mottet, N., Beaumont, M., & Morel, O. (2020). Birth experience during covid-19 confinement (confine): Protocol for a multicentre prospective study. *BMJ Open*, 10(12). https: //doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043057
- Biaggi, A., Conroy, S., Pawlby, S., & Pariante, C. M. (2016). Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 191, 62–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014
- Biringen, Z. (2000). Emotional availability: Conceptualization and research findings. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 70(1), 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087711
- Branjerdporn, G., Meredith, P., Strong, J., & Garcia, J. (2017). Associations between maternal-foetal attachment and infant developmental outcomes: A systematic review. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 21(3), 540–553. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10995-016-2138-2
- Brockington, I. (2004). Postpartum psychiatric disorders. *The Lancet*, 363 (9405), 303–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)15390-1
- Brockington, I., Aucamp, H., & Fraser, C. (2006). Severe disorders of the mother-infant relationship: Definitions and frequency. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 9, 243– 251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.05.105
- Brockington, I., Oates, J., George, S., Turner, D., Vostanis, P., Sullivan, M., Loh, C., & Murdoch, C. (2001). A screening questionnaire for mother-infant bonding disorders. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 3(4), 133–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s007370170010
- Brose, A., Wichers, M., & Kuppens, P. (2017). Daily stressful experiences precede but do not succeed depressive symptoms: Results from a longitudinal experience sampling study. Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 36(3), 196–220. https://doi.org/ 10.1521/jscp.2017.36.3.196
- Brown, S. M., Doom, J. R., Lechuga-Peña, S., Watamura, S. E., & Koppels, T. (2020). Stress and parenting during the global covid-19 pandemic. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 110, 104699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104699
- Burić, I., Slišković, A., & Penezić, Z. (2019). Understanding teacher well-being: A crosslagged analysis of burnout, negative student-related emotions, psychopathological symptoms, and resilience. *Educational Psychology*, 39(9), 1136–1155. https://doi. org/10.1080/01443410.2019.1577952
- Burnham, K., & Anderson, D. (2002). Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach (2nd Edition). Springer Verlag.
- Busonera, A., Cataudella, S., Lampis, J., Tommasi, M., & Zavattini, G. C. (2017). Psychometric properties of the postpartum bonding questionnaire and correlates of mother-infant bonding impairment in italian new mothers. *Midwifery*, 55, 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2017.08.011
- Büssing, A., & Recchia, D. (2016). Spiritual and non-spiritual needs among German soldiers and their relation to stress perception, PTDS symptoms, and life satisfaction: results from a Structural Equation Modeling Approach. Journal of Religion and Health, 55, 747–764.

- Calvano, C., Engelke, L., Di Bella, J., Kindermann, J., Renneberg, B., & Winter, S. M. (2021). Families in the covid-19 pandemic: Parental stress, parent mental health and the occurrence of adverse childhood experiences—results of a representative survey in germany. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00787-021-01739-0
- Calvete, E., Orue, I., & Hankin, B. L. (2013). Transactional relationships among cognitive vulnerabilities, stressors, and depressive symptoms in adolescence. *Journal of Ab*normal Child Psychology, 41, 399–410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-012-9691-y
- Calvete, E., Orue, I., & Hankin, B. L. (2015). Cross-lagged associations among ruminative response style, stressors, and depressive symptoms in adolescents. *Journal of Social* and Clinical Psychology, 34(3), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2015.34.3. 203
- Campbell, C., Tanzer, M., Saunders, R., Booker, T., Allison, E., Li, E., O'Dowda, C., Luyten, P., & Fonagy, P. (2021). Development and validation of a self-report measure of epistemic trust. *PLoS ONE*, 16(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0250264
- Cannella, B. L. (2005). Maternal-fetal attachment: An integrative review. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 50(1), 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03349.x
- Carter, C., & Keverne, E. (2002). 4 The neurobiology of social affiliation and pair bonding. In D. W. Pfaff, A. P. Arnold, S. E. Fahrbach, A. M. Etgen, & R. T. Rubin (Eds.), *Hormones, brain and behavior* (pp. 299–337). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-012532104-4/50006-8
- Chang, S. B., Park, S., & W., C. C. (2004). Effect of taegyo-focused prenatal education on maternal-fetal attachment and self-efficacy related to childbirth. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing*, 34(8), 1409–1415. https://doi.org/10.4040/jkan.2004.34.8. 1409
- Chen, F. F. (2007). Sensitivity of goodness of fit indexes to lack of measurement invariance. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 14(3), 464–504. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10705510701301834
- Chen, Q., Li, W., Xiong, J., & Zheng, X. (2022). Prevalence and risk factors associated with postpartum depression during the covid-19 pandemic: A literature review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19042219
- Chow, A., Dharma, C., Chen, E., Mandhane, P. J., Turvey, S. E., Elliott, S. J., Becker, A. B., Subbarao, P., Sears, M. R., & Kozyrskyj, A. L. (2019). Trajectories of depressive symptoms and perceived stress from pregnancy to the postnatal period among canadian women: Impact of employment and immigration. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109, 197–204. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304624
- Coco, M. I., & Dale, R. (2014). Cross-recurrence quantification analysis of categorical and continuous time series: An r package. Frontiers in Psychology, 5. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00510
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences* (2nd Edition). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.

- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396. http://www.jstor.org/ stable/2136404
- Colwyn, T., & Kenneth, J. A. (2001). Infant intersubjectivity: Research, theory, and clinical applications. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 42(1), 3–48. https://doi. org/10.1111/1469-7610.00701
- Cox, J. L., Holden, J. M., & Sagovsky, R. (1987). Detection of postnatal depression: Development of the 10-item edinburgh postnatal depression scale. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 150(6), 782–786. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.150.6.782
- Cranley, M. S. (1981). Development of a tool for the measurement of maternal attachment during pregnancy. Nursing Research, 30(5), 281–284. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-198109000-00008
- Crugnola, C. R., Ierardi, E., Ferro, V., Gallucci, M., Parodi, C., & Astengo, M. (2016). Mother-infant emotion regulation at three months: The role of maternal anxiety, depression and parenting stress. *Psychopathology*, 49(4), 285–294. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000446811
- Csibra, G., & Gergely, G. (2011). Natural pedagogy as evolutionary adaptation. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 366 (1567), 1149–1157. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0319
- Da Costa, D., Dritsa, M., Rippen, N., Lowensteyn, I., & Khalifé, S. (2006). Health-related quality of life in postpartum depressed women. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 9, 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-005-0108-6
- Dadi, A. F., Miller, E. R., & Mwanri, L. (2020). Postnatal depression and its association with adverse infant health outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 20. https: //doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-03092-7
- Daglar, G., & Nur, N. (2018). Level of mother-baby bonding and influencing factors during pregnancy and postpartum period. *Psychiatria Danubina*, 30(4), 433–440. https: //doi.org/10.24869/psyd.2018.433
- Davenport, M. H., Meyer, S., Meah, V. L., Strynadka, M. C., & Khurana, R. (2020). Moms are not ok: Covid-19 and maternal mental health. *Frontiers in global women's health*, 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgwh.2020.00001
- De Wolff, M. S., & van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (1997). Sensitivity and attachment: A metaanalysis on parental antecedents of infant attachment. *Child Development*, 68(4), 571–591. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1997.tb04218.x
- DeYoung, S. E., & Mangum, M. (2021). Pregnancy, birthing, and postpartum experiences during covid-19 in the united states. *Frontiers in Sociology*, 6, 611212. https://doi. org/10.3389/fsoc.2021.611212
- DiCorcia, J. A., & Tronick, E. Z. (2011). Quotidian resilience: Exploring mechanisms that drive resilience from a perspective of everyday stress and coping. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 35(7), 1593–1602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2011.04.008

- Diener, M. L., & Mangelsdorf, S. C. (1999). Behavioral strategies for emotion regulation in toddlers: Associations with maternal involvement and emotional expressions. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 22(4), 569–583. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(00)00012-6
- Doster, A., Wallwiener, S., Müller, M., Matthies, L. M., Plewniok, K., Feller, S., Kuon, R.-J., Sohn, C., Rom, J., Wallwiener, M., & Reck, C. (2018). Reliability and validity of the german version of the maternal–fetal attachment scale. *Archives of Gynecology* and Obstetrics, 297, 1157–1167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-018-4676-x
- Downing, G., Wortmann-Fleischer, S., Von Einsiedel, R., Jordan, W., & Reck, C. (2014).
 Video intervention therapy for parents with a psychiatric disturbance. In K. Brandt,
 B. D. Perry, S. Seligman, & E. Z. Tronick (Eds.), *Infant and early childhood mental health: Core concepts and clinical practice* (pp. 261–279). American Psychiatric Association Washington, Inc.
- Dubber, S., Reck, C., Müller, M., & Gawlik, S. (2015). Postpartum bonding: The role of perinatal depression, anxiety and maternal-fetal bonding during pregnancy. Archives of women's mental health, 18(2), 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-014-0445-4
- Edhborg, M., Matthiesen, A.-S., Lundh, W., & Widström, A.-M. (2005). Some early indicators for depressive symptoms and bonding 2 months postpartum – a study of new mothers and fathers. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 8, 221–231.
- Edhborg, M., Nasreen, H.-E., & Kabir, Z. N. (2011). Impact of postpartum depressive and anxiety symptoms on mothers' emotional tie to their infants 2–3 months postpartum: A population-based study from rural bangladesh. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 14(4), 307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-011-0221-7
- Edwards, R. C., & Hans, S. L. (2015). Prenatal depressive symptoms and toddler behavior problems: The role of maternal sensitivity and child sex. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 47(5), 696–707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-015-0603-6
- Ehlers, A., Margraf, J., & Chambless, D. (2001). Fragebogen zu körperbezogenen Angsten, Kognitionen und Vermeidung (AKV). Beltz Test.
- Emmanuel, E., & St John, W. (2010). Maternal distress: A concept analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 66(9), 2104–2115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010. 05371.x
- Epskamp, S., Stuber, S., Nak, J., Veenman, M., & Jorgensen, T. D. (2022). semPlot: Path Diagrams and Visual Analysis of Various SEM Packages' Output. R package version 1.1.2. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=semPlot
- Fallon, V., Davies, S. M., Silverio, S. A., Jackson, L., De Pascalis, L., & Harrold, J. A. (2021). Psychosocial experiences of postnatal women during the covid-19 pandemic. a uk-wide study of prevalence rates and risk factors for clinically relevant depression and anxiety. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 136, 157–166. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jpsychires.2021.01.048
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146

- Fawcett, E., Fairbrother, N., Cox, M. L., White, I. R., & Fawcett, J. M. (2019). The prevalence of anxiety disorders during pregnancy and the postpartum period: A multivariate bayesian meta-analysis. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 80(4), 18r12527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2009.02.001
- Feldman, R. (1998). Coding interactive behavior manual (cib) (Unpublished Work).
- Feldman, R. (2012). Parenting behavior as the environment where children grow. In L. C. Mayes & M. Lewis (Eds.), *The cambridge handbook of environment in human de*velopment (pp. 535–567). Cambridge University Press.
- Feldman, R., Granat, A., Pariente, C., Kanety, H., Kuint, J., & Gilboa-Schechtman, E. (2009). Maternal depression and anxiety across the postpartum year and infant social engagement, fear regulation, and stress reactivity. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(9), 919–927. https://doi.org/10. 1097/CHI.0b013e3181b21651
- Fernandes, J., Tavares, I., Bem-Haja, P., Barros, T., & Carrito, M. L. (2022). A longitudinal study on maternal depressive symptoms during the covid-19 pandemic: The role of strict lockdown measures and social support. *International Journal of Public Health*, 67. https://doi.org/10.3389/ijph.2022.1604608
- Field, T., Hernandez-Reif, M., Vera, Y., Gil, K., Diego, M., Bendell, D., & Yando, R. (2005). Anxiety and anger effects on depressed mother-infant spontaneous and imitative interactions. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 28(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.infbeh.2004.06.003
- Fonagy, P. (2015). Mutual regulation, mentalization, and therapeutic action: A reflection on the contributions of ed tronick to developmental and psychotherapeutic thinking. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, 35(4), 355–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/07351690.2015. 1022481
- Fonagy, P., & Allison, E. (2014). The role of mentalizing and epistemic trust in the therapeutic relationship. *Psychotherapy*, 51(3), 372–380. https://doi.org/10.1037/ a0036505
- Fonagy, P., Gergely, G., Jurist, E., & Target, M. (2002). Affect regulation, mentalization, and the development of the self. Other Press.
- Fonagy, P., Luyten, P., & Allison, E. (2015). Epistemic petrification and the restoration of epistemic trust: A new conceptualization of borderline personality disorder and its psychosocial treatment. *Journal of personality disorders*, 29(5), 575–609. https: //doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2015.29.5.575
- Fonagy, P., Campbell, C., Constantinou, M., Higgitt, A., Allison, E., & Luyten, P. (2021). Culture and psychopathology: An attempt at reconsidering the role of social learning. Development and Psychopathology, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579421000092
- Fonagy, P., Gergely, G., & Target, M. (2007). The parent–infant dyad and the construction of the subjective self. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48(3-4), 288–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01727.x
- Fonagy, P., & Target, M. (2006). The mentalization-focused approach to self pathology. Journal of personality disorders, 20, 544–576. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2006. 20.6.544

- Freisthler, B., Wolf, J. P., & Renick, C. C. (2021). Daily stress and use of aggressive discipline by parents during the covid-19 pandemic. *Journal of Family Violence*, 37, 1101–1109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-021-00340-y
- Freisthler, B., Gruenewald, P. J., Tebben, E., Shockley McCarthy, K., & Price Wolf, J. (2021). Understanding at-the-moment stress for parents during covid-19 stay-athome restrictions. *Social Science & Medicine*, 279, 114025. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.socscimed.2021.114025
- French, G., Hulse, M., Nguyen, D., Sobotka, K., Webster, K., Corman, J., Aboagye-Nyame, B., Dion, M., Johnson, M., Zalinger, B., & Ewing, M. (2022). Impact of hospital strain on excess deaths during the covid-19 pandemic—united states, july 2020–july 2021. American Journal of Transplantation, 22(2), 654–657. https://doi.org/10. 1111/ajt.16645
- Fuchs, T. (2018). Ecology of the brain: The phenomenology and biology of the embodied mind. Oxford University Press.
- Galaif, E. R., Sussman, S., Chou, C., & Wills, T. A. (2003). Longitudinal relations among depression, stress, and coping in high risk youth. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 32, 243–258. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023028809718
- Gawlik, S., Müller, M., Hoffmann, L., Dienes, A., Wallwiener, M., Sohn, C., Schlehe, B., & Reck, C. (2013). Prevalence of paternal perinatal depressiveness and its link to partnership satisfaction and birth concerns. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 17(1), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-013-0377-4
- Geuter, U. (2015). Körperpsychotherapie: Grundriss einer Theorie für die klinische Praxis. Springer.
- Gianino, A., & Tronick, E. Z. (1988). The mutual regulation model: The infant's self and interactive regulation and coping and defensive capacities. In T. M. Field, M. P. M., & N. Schneiderman (Eds.), Stress and coping across development (pp. 47–68). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Glasheen, C., Richardson, G. A., & Fabio, A. (2010). A systematic review of the effects of postnatal maternal anxiety on children. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 13(1), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-009-0109-y
- Glasser, S., & Lerner-Geva, L. (2019). Focus on fathers: Paternal depression in the perinatal period. Perspectives in Public Health, 139(4), 195–198. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1757913918790597
- Goecke, T., Voigt, F., Faschingbauer, F., Spangler, G., Beckmann, M. W., & Beetz, A. (2012). The association of prenatal attachment and perinatal factors with pre- and postpartum depression in first-time mothers. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics, 286, 309–316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-012-2286-6
- Goodman, J. H. (2019). Perinatal depression and infant mental health. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing, 33(3), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2019.01.010
- Goodman, J. H., Watson, G. R., & Stubbs, B. (2016). Anxiety disorders in postpartum women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 203, 292–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.033

- Goodman, S. H., Rouse, M. H., Connell, A. M., Broth, M. R., Hall, C. M., & Heyward, D. (2011). Maternal depression and child psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, 14(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10567-010-0080-1
- Grant, K.-A., McMahon, C., & Austin, M.-P. (2008). Maternal anxiety during the transition to parenthood: A prospective study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 108(1), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2007.10.002
- Grimm, H., Aktas, M., & Frevert, S. (2000). Sprachentwicklungstest für zweijährige Kinder (SETK- 2). Hogrefe.
- Gunnar, M., & Quevedo, K. (2007). The neurobiology of stress and development. Annual Review of Psychology, 58(1), 145–173. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58. 110405.085605
- Hamaker, E. L., Kuiper, R. M., & Grasman, R. P. P. P. (2015). A critique of the crosslagged panel model. *Psychological Methods*, 20(1), 102–116. https://doi.org/10. 1037/a0038889
- Hammen, C. (1991). Generation of stress in the course of unipolar depression. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 100(4), 555–561. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.100.4. 555
- Hammen, C. (2005). Stress and depression. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 1(1), 293–319. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.143938
- Harmon, D. K., & Perry, A. R. (2011). Fathers' unaccounted contributions: Paternal involvement and maternal stress. *Families in Society*, 92(2), 176–182. https://doi. org/10.1606/1044-3894.4101
- Haskett, M. E., Ahern, L. S., Ward, C. S., & Allaire, J. C. (2006). Factor structure and validity of the parenting stress index-short form. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 35(2), 302–312. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3502\ 14
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis second edition: A regression-based approach. Ebook The Guilford Press.
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., & Norenzayan, A. (2010). Most people are not weird. *Nature*, 466. https://doi.org/10.1038/466029a
- Hiraoka, D., & Tomoda, A. (2020). Relationship between parenting stress and school closures due to the covid-19 pandemic. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 74(9), 497–498. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.13088
- Hornstein, C., Trautmann-Villalba, P., Hohm, E., Rave, E., Wortmann-Fleischer, S., & Schwarz, M. (2006). Maternal bond and mother-child interaction in severe postpartum psychiatric disorders: Is there a link? Archives of Women's Mental Health, 9(5), 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-006-0148-6
- Howard, M. M., Mehta, N. D., & Powrie, R. (2017). Peripartum depression: Early recognition improves outcomes. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 84(5), 389. https: //doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.84a.14060
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118

- Hübener, M., Spieß, C. K., Siegel, N. A., & Gert, G. (2020). Wohlbefinden von Familien in Zeiten von Corona: Eltern mit jungen Kindern am stärksten beeinträchtigt. DIW Wochenbericht, 30/31, 527–537. https://doi.org/10.18723/diw_wb:2020-30-1
- Ibanez, G., Bernard, J. Y., Rondet, C., Peyre, H., Forhan, A., Kaminski, M., Saurel-Cubizolles, M.-J., Group, E. M.-C. C. S., et al. (2015). Effects of antenatal maternal depression and anxiety on children's early cognitive development: A prospective cohort study. *PloS ONE*, 10(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135849
- Ierardi, E., Dascalu, A., Shai, D., Spencer, R., & Riva Crugnola, C. (2022). Parental embodied mentalizing: Associations with maternal depression, anxiety, verbal mentalizing, and maternal styles of interaction. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 311, 472– 478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.05.105
- Islam, M. M., Ekuni, D., Toyama, N., Taniguchi-Tabata, A., Kataoka, K., Uchida-Fukuhara, Y., Fukuhara, D., Saho, H., Sawada, N., Nakashima, Y., Iwasaki, Y., & Morita, M. (2020). Association between sleep quality and duration and periodontal disease among university students: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Environmental Re*search and Public Health, 17, 3034–3042. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17093034
- Jenkins, S. J., A. I. C.and Fredman, Le, Y., Sun, X., Brick, T. R., Skinner, O. D., & McHale, S. M. (2020). Prospective associations between depressive symptoms and marital satisfaction in black couples. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 34(1), 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000573
- Juengst, S. B., Myrga, J. M., Fann, J. R., & Wagner, A. K. (2017). Cross-lagged panel analysis of depression and behavioral dysfunction in the first year after moderateto-severe traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 29(3), 260–266. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.16100217
- Kaitz, M., Maytal, H. R., Devor, N., Bergman, L., & Mankuta, D. (2010). Maternal anxiety, mother-infant interactions, and infants' response to challenge. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 33(2), 136–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2009.12.003
- Kaubisch, L. T., Reck, C., von Tettenborn, A., & Woll, C. (2022). The covid-19 pandemic as a traumatic event and the associated psychological impact on families - a systematic review. Journal of affective disorders, 319, 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad. 2022.08.109
- Kearney, M. W. (2017). Cross-lagged panel analysis. In M. Allen (Ed.), The SAGE Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods (pp. 312–314). https://doi.org/https: //dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411
- Kim, D. S., Sung, H., Lee, J., & Cho, E. (2017). The relationship between perceived stress scale and carotid intima-media thickness using ultrasonography in university students. Korean Journal of Clinical Laboratory Science, 49(3), 308–315. https: //doi.org/10.15324/kjcls.2017.49.3.308
- Kim, J. S., & Cho, K. J. (2004). The effect of mother-fetus interaction promotion program of talking and tactile stimulation on maternal-fetal attachment. *Korean Journal of Child Health Nursing*, 10(2), 153–164.

- Kingston, D., & Tough, S. (2014). Prenatal and postnatal maternal mental health and school-age child development: A systematic review. *Maternal and Child Health Jour*nal, 18(7), 1728–1741. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-013-1418-3
- Kitamura, T., Shinkai, N., Uji, M., Hiramura, H., Tanaka, N., & Shono, S. (2009). Intergenerational transmission of parenting style and personality: Direct influence or mediation? *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 18, 541–556.
- Kitamura, T., Takauma, F., Tada, K., Yoshida, K., & H, N. (2004). Postnatal depression, social support, and child abuse. World Psychiatry, 3, 100–101.
- Kitamura, T., Yoshida, K., Okano, T., Kinoshita, K., Hayashi, N., M. Toyoda, Ito, M., Kudo, N., Tada, K., Kanazawa, K., Sakumoto, K., Satoh, S., Furukawa, T., & Nakano, H. (2006). Multicentre prospective study of perinatal depression in japan: Incidence and correlates of antenatal and postnatal depression. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 9, 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-006-0122-3
- Klein, E. M., Brähler, E., Dreier, M., Reinecke, L., Müller, K. W., Schmutzer, G., Wölfling, K., & Beutel, M. E. (2016). The german version of the perceived stress scale – psychometric characteristics in a representative german community sample. BMC Psychiatry, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0875-9
- Kline, R. B. (Ed.). (2016). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (Fourth edition). Guilford publications.
- Kluczniok, D., Boedeker, K., Fuchs, A., Hindi Attar, C., Fydrich, T., Fuehrer, D., Dittrich, K., Reck, C., Winter, S., Heinz, A., Herpertz, S. C., Brunner, R., & Bermpohl, F. (2016). Emotional availability in mother-child interaction: The effects of maternal depression in remission and additional history of childhood abuse. *Depression and Anxiety*, 33(7), 648–657. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22462
- Kopp, C. B. (1989). Regulation of distress and negative emotions: A developmental view. Developmental Psychology, 25(3), 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25. 3.343
- Koutra, K., Chatzi, L., Bagkeris, M., Vassilaki, M., Bitsios, P., & Kogevinas, M. (2013). Antenatal and postnatal maternal mental health as determinants of infant neurodevelopment at 18 months of age in a mother–child cohort (Rhea Study) in Crete, Greece. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 48(8), 1335–1345. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00127-012-0636-0
- Kowal, M., Coll-Martín, T., Ikizer, G., Rasmussen, J., Eichel, K., Studzińska, A., Koszałkowska, K., Karwowski, M., Najmussaqib, A., Pankowski, D., Lieberoth, A., & Ahmed, O. (2020). Who is the most stressed during the covid-19 pandemic? data from 26 countries and areas. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 12, 946– 966. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12234
- Kracht, C. L., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Staiano, A. E. (2021). Household chaos, maternal stress, and maternal health behaviors in the united states during the covid-19 outbreak. Women's Health, 17. https://doi.org/10.1177/17455065211010655
- Kraft, A., Knappe, S., Petrowski, K., Petzoldt, J., & Martini, J. (2017). Unterschiede in der Mutter-Kind-Bindung bei Frauen mit und ohne Soziale Phobie. Zeitschrift für

Kinder- und Jugendpsychiatrie und Psychotherapie, 45(1), 49–57. https://doi.org/ 10.1024/1422-4917/a000454

- Kumar, S., & Cavallaro, L. (2018). Researcher self-care in emotionally demanding research: A proposed conceptual framework. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(4), 648–658. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317746377
- Ladd, C. O., Huot, R. L., Thrivikraman, K., & Nemeroff, C. B. (1998). Long-term behavioral and neuroendocrine adaptations to adverse early experience. *Progress in Brain Research*, 122(3), 2000. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0079-6123(08)62132-9
- Laux, L., Glanzmann, P., Schaffner, P., & Spielberger, C. D. (1981). Das State-Trait Angstinventar (STAI). Beltz.
- Law, K. H., Dimmock, J., Guelfi, K. J., Nguyen, T., Gucciardi, D., & Jackson, B. (2019). Stress, depressive symptoms, and maternal self-efficacy in first-time mothers: Modelling and predicting change across the first six months of motherhood. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 11(1), 126–147. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw. 12147
- Le Bas, G. A., Youssef, G. J., Macdonald, J. A., Rossen, L., Teague, S. J., Kothe, E. J., McIntosh, J. E., Olsson, C. A., & Hutchinson, D. M. (2020). The role of antenatal and postnatal maternal bonding in infant development: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Development*, 29(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode. 12392
- Lehnig, F., Nagl, M., Stepan, H., Wagner, B., & Kersting, A. (2019). Associations of postpartum mother-infant bonding with maternal childhood maltreatment and postpartum mental health: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2426-0
- Leiferman, J. A., Farewell, C. V., Jewell, J., Lacy, R., Walls, J., Harnke, B., & Paulson, J. F. (2021). Anxiety among fathers during the prenatal and postpartum period: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 42(2), 152–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/0167482X.2021.1885025
- Leonard, K. S., Evans, M. B., Kjerulff, K. H., & Downs, D. S. (2020). Postpartum perceived stress explains the association between perceived social support and depressive symptoms. Women's Health Issues, 30(4), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. whi.2020.05.001
- Lester, B. M., Hoffman, J., & Brazelton, T. B. (1985). The rhythmic structure of motherinfant interaction in term and preterm infants. *Child development*, 56(1), 15–27. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130169
- Lewin, A., Mitchell, S. J., Waters, D., Hodgkinson, S., Southammakosane, C., & Gilmore, J. (2015). The protective effects of father involvement for infants of teen mothers with depressive symptoms. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 19(5), 1016–1023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-014-1600-2
- Lieb, R., Isensee, B., Höfler, M., Pfister, H., & Wittchen, H.-U. (2002). Parental major depression and the risk of depression and other mental disorders in offspring: A prospective-longitudinal community study. Archives of general psychiatry, 59(4), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.4.365

- Liew, J., Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., Eggum, N. D., Haugen, R. G., Kupfer, A., Reiser, M. R., Smith, C. L., Lemery-Chalfant, K., & Baham, M. E. (2011). Physiological regulation and fearfulness as predictors of young children's empathy-related reactions. *Social Development*, 20(1), 111–113. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2010.00575.x
- Lindgren, K. (2001). Relationships among maternal-fetal attachment, prenatal depression, and health practices in pregnancy. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 24(3), 203–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.1023
- Liu, R. T., & Alloy, L. B. (2010). Stress generation in depression: A systematic review of the empirical literature and recommendations for future study. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(5), 582–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.04.010
- Lovibond, P. (1995). Manual for the depression anxiety stress scales short-form (dass-21). Sydney Psychology edition.
- Lucas, R. E. (2022). It's time to abandon the cross-lagged panel model. https://doi.org/ 10.31234/osf.io/pkec7
- Lüdtke, O., & Robitzsch, A. (2021). A critique of the random intercept cross-lagged panel model. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/6f85c
- Luyten, P., Mayes, L. C., Nijssens, L., & Fonagy, P. (2017). The parental reflective functioning questionnaire: Development and preliminary validation. *PLoS One*, 12(5), e0176218. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176218
- Maas, A. J. B., de Cock, E. S., Vreeswijk, C. M., Vingerhoets, A. J., & van Bakel, H. J. (2016). A longitudinal study on the maternal-fetal relationship and postnatal maternal sensitivity. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 34(2), 110–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646838.2015.1112880
- Mahmud, S., Mohsin, R., Dewan, M., & Muyeed, A. (2022). The global prevalence of depression, anxiety, stress, and insomnia among general population during covid-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trends in Psychology*. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s43076-021-00116-9
- Manchia, M., Gathier, A. W., Yapici-Eser, H., Schmidt, M. V., de Quervain, D., van Amelsvoort, T., Bisson, J. I., Cryan, J. F., Howes, O. D., Pinto, L., van der Wee, N. J., Domschke, K., Branchi, I., & Vinkers, C. H. (2022). The impact of the prolonged covid-19 pandemic on stress resilience and mental health: A critical review across waves. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 55, 22–83. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.euroneuro.2021.10.864
- Mäntymaa, M., Puura, K., Luoma, I., Vihtonen, V., Salmelin, R. K., & Tamminen, T. (2009). Child's behaviour in mother-child interaction predicts later emotional and behavioural problems. *Infant and Child Development*, 18(5), 455–467. https://doi. org/10.1002/icd.633
- Martinez, G., & Bámaca-Colbert, M. Y. (2019). A reciprocal and longitudinal investigation of peer and school stressors and depressive symptoms among mexican-origin adolescent females. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48, 2125–2140. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10964-019-01091-2

- Martini, J., Weidner, K., & Hoyer, J. (2008). Angststörungen in der schwangerschaft und nach der geburt. *Psychosomatik und Konsiliarpsychiatrie*, 2, 207–215. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11800-008-0127-z
- Martini, J., Petzoldt, J., Einsle, F., Beesdo-Baum, K., Höfler, M., & Wittchen, H.-U. (2015). Risk factors and course patterns of anxiety and depressive disorders during pregnancy and after delivery: A prospective-longitudinal study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 175, 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.012
- Martins, C., & Gaffan, E. A. (2000). Effects of early maternal depression on patterns of infant-mother attachment: A meta-analytic investigation. The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 41(6), 737–746. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1469-7610.00661
- Mason, Z., Briggs, R., & Silver, E. (2011). Maternal attachment feelings mediate between maternal reports of depression, infant social-emotional development, and parenting stress. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 29(4), 382–394. https://doi. org/10.1080/02646838.2011.629994
- Matthey, S., Barnett, B., Kavanagh, D. J., & Howie, P. (2001). Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale for men, and comparison of item endorsement with their partners. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 64 (2-3), 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0165-0327(00)00236-6
- Matthey, S., Henshaw, C., Elliott, S., & Barnett, B. (2006). Variability in use of cut-off scores and formats on the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale – implications for clinical and research practice. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 9(6), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-006-0152-x
- McCall-Hosenfeld, J. S., Phiri, K., Schaefer, E., Zhu, J., & Kjerulff, K. (2016). Trajectories of depressive symptoms throughout the peri- and postpartum period: Results from the first baby study. *Journal of Women's Health*, 25(11), 1112–1121. https://doi. org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5310
- McFarland, J., Salisbury, A. L., Battle, C. L., Hawes, K., Halloran, K., & Lester, B. M. (2011). Major depressive disorder during pregnancy and emotional attachment to the fetus. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 14(5), 425. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00737-011-0237-z
- Melville, J. L., Gavin, A., Guo, Y., Fan, M.-Y., & Katon, W. J. (2010). Depressive disorders during pregnancy: Prevalence and risk factors in a large urban sample. *Obstetrics* and gynecology, 116(5), 1064. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181f60b0a
- Mesman, J., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2009). The many faces of the still-face paradigm: A review and meta-analysis. *Developmental Review*, 29(2), 120–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2009.02.001
- Micco, J. A., Henin, A., Mick, E., Kim, S., Hopkins, C. A., Biederman, J., & Hirshfeld-Becker, D. R. (2009). Anxiety and depressive disorders in offspring at high risk for anxiety: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 23(8), 1158–1164. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.07.021

- Monroe, S. M., & Reid, M. W. (2009). Life stress and major depression. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 18(2), 68–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009. 01611.x
- Montirosso, R., Provenzi, L., & Tronick, E. Z. (2020). Editorial: Risk and protective factors associated with early adversity and development: Evidence from human and animal research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02906
- Moore, G. A., & Calkins, S. D. (2004). Infants' vagal regulation in the still-face paradigm is related to dyadic coordination of mother-infant interaction. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(6), 1068–1080. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.40.6.1068
- Mora, P. A., Bennett, I. M., Elo, I. T., Mathew, L., Coyne, J. C., & Culhane, J. F. (2008). Distinct trajectories of perinatal depressive symptomatology: Evidence from growth mixture modeling. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 169(1), 24–32. https: //doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwn283
- Müller, M., Zietlow, A.-L., Tronick, E. Z., & Reck, C. (2015). What dyadic reparation is meant to do: An association with infant cortisol reactivity. *Psychopathology*, 48(6), 386–399. https://doi.org/10.1159/000439225
- Müller, M. (2017). Emotionale, dyadisch-behaviorale & regulatorische Mediationsebenen: Zum Zusammenhang zwischen parentalen Depressionen & Angststörungen im Peripartalzeitraum und beeinträchtigten kindlichen Entwicklungsverläufen (Doctoral dissertation). Universität zu Köln. https://kups.ub.uni-koeln.de/8045/
- Müller, M., Tronick, E. Z., Zietlow, A.-L., Nonnenmacher, N., Verschoor, S., & Traeuble, B. (2016). Effects of maternal anxiety disorders on infant self-comforting behaviors: The role of maternal bonding, infant gender and age. *Psychopathology*, 49(4), 295– 304. https://doi.org/10.1159/000448404
- Müller, M., Zietlow, A.-L., Klauser, N., Woll, C., Nonnenmacher, N., Tronick, E. Z., & Reck, C. (2022). From early micro-temporal interaction patterns to child cortisol levels: Toward the role of interactive reparation and infant attachment in a longitudinal study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.807157
- Murray, L., De Rosnay, M., Pearson, J., Bergeron, C., Schofield, E., Royal-Lawson, M., & Cooper, P. J. (2008). Intergenerational transmission of social anxiety: The role of social referencing processes in infancy. *Child Development*, 79(4), 1049–1064. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01175.x
- Muzik, M., Bocknek, E. L., Broderick, A., Richardson, P., Rosenblum, K. L., Thelen, K., & Seng, J. S. (2013). Mother–infant bonding impairment across the first 6 months postpartum: The primacy of psychopathology in women with childhood abuse and neglect histories. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 16(1), 29–38. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00737-012-0312-0
- Natural pedagogy. (2009). Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 13(4), 148–153. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tics.2009.01.005
- Nishikawa, M., & Sakakibara, H. (2013). Effect of nursing intervention program using abdominal palpation of leopold's maneuvers on maternal-fetal attachment. *Reproductive Health*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-10-12

- Noe, D., Schluckwerder, S., & Reck, C. (2015). Influence of dyadic matching of affect on infant self-regulation. *Psychopathology*, 48(3), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000376586
- Nolte, T., Gingelmaier, S., Schwarzer, N.-H., & Fonagy, P. (n.d.). *Epistemic trust questionnaire* (Unpublished Work).
- Nolvi, S., Karlsson, L., Bridgett, D. J., Pajulo, M., Tolvanen, M., & Karlsson, H. (2016). Maternal postnatal psychiatric symptoms and infant temperament affect early motherinfant bonding. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 43, 13–23. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.infbeh.2016.03.003
- Nonnenmacher, N., Noe, D., Ehrenthal, J., & Reck, C. (2016). Postpartum bonding: The impact of maternal depression and adult attachment style. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 19(5), 927–935. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-016-0648-y
- Noorlander, Y., Bergink, V., & Van den Berg, M. (2008). Perceived and observed motherchild interaction at time of hospitalization and release in postpartum depression and psychosis. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 11(1), 49–56. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00737-008-0217-0
- O'Connor, T. G., Heron, J., Golding, J., Glover, V., & the AL SPAC Study Team. (2003). Maternal antenatal anxiety and behavioural/emotional problems in children: A test of a programming hypothesis. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 44(7), 1025–1036. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00187
- O'Hara, M. W. (2009). Postpartum depression: What we know. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 65(12), 1258–1269. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20644
- Ohara, M., Okada, T., Kubota, C., Nakamura, Y., Shiino, T., Aleksic, B., Morikawa, M., Yamauchi, A., Uno, Y., Murase, S., Goto, S., Kanai, A., Masuda, T., Ando, M., & Ozaki, N. (2017). Relationship between maternal depression and bonding failure: A prospective cohort study of pregnant women. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 71(10), 733–741. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12541
- Ohashi, Y., Kitamura, T., Kita, S., & Tanaka, T. (2014). Mothers' bonding attitudes towards infants: Impact of demographics, psychological attributes, and satisfaction with usual clinical care during pregnancy. *International Journal of Nursing and Health Science*, 1, 16–21.
- Ohoka, H., Koide, T., Goto, S., Murase, S., Kanai, A., Masuda, T., Aleksic, B., Ishikawa, N., Furumura, K., & Ozaki, N. (2014). Effects of maternal depressive symptomatology during pregnancy and the postpartum period on infant-mother attachment. *Psychi*atry and Clinical Neurosciences, 68(8), 631–639. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12171
- Orth, U., Clark, D. A., Donnellan, M., & Robins, R. (2021). Testing prospective effects in longitudinal research: Comparing seven competing cross-lagged models. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 120, 1013–1034. https://doi.org/10.1037/ pspp0000358
- Oyetunji, A., & Chandra, P. (2020). Postpartum stress and infant outcome: A review of current literature. *Psychiatry Research*, 284, 112769.
- Papoušek, H., & Papoušek, M. (1987). Handbook of infant development, Wiley series on personality processes. In J. D. Osofsky (Ed.), *Intuitive parenting: A dialectic*

counterpart to the infant's integrative competence (2nd edition, pp. 669–720). John Wiley & Sons.

- Papoušek, M. (2011). Resilience, strengths, and regulatory capacities: Hidden resources in developmental disorders of infant mental health. Infant Mental Health Journal, 32(1), 29–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20282
- Papoušek, M., & von Hofacker, N. (1995). Persistent crying and parenting: Search for a butterfly in a dynamic system. *Early Development and Parenting*, 4(4), 209–224. https://doi.org/10.1002/edp.2430040406
- Parfitt, Y., Pike, A., & Ayers, S. (2013). The impact of parents' mental health on parentbaby interaction: A prospective study. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 36(4), 599–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2013.06.003
- Park, S., Greene, M. C., Melby, M. K., Fujiwara, T., & Surkan, P. J. (2019). Postpartum depressive symptoms as a mediator between intimate partner violence during pregnancy and maternal-infant bonding in japan. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1– 27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519875561
- Paulus, M., Kühn-Popp, N., Licata, M., Sodian, B., & Meinhardt, J. (2013). Neural correlates of prosocial behavior in infancy: Different neurophysiological mechanisms support the emergence of helping and comforting. *Neuroimage*, 66, 522–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.10.041
- Pawlby, S., Hay, D. F., Sharp, D., Waters, C. S., & O'Keane, V. (2009). Antenatal depression predicts depression in adolescent offspring: Prospective longitudinal community-based study. *Journal of affective disorders*, 113(3), 236–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.05.018
- Penninx, B. W. J. H., Nolen, W. A., Lamers, F., Zitman, F. G., Smit, J. H., Spinhoven, P., Cuijpers, P., Jong, P. J., van Marwijk, H. W. J., van der Meer, K., Verhaak, P., Laurant, M. G. H., Graaf, R., Hoogendijk, W. J., van der Wee, N., Ormel, J., van Dyck, R., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2011). Two-year course of depressive and anxiety disorders: Results from the netherlands study of depression and anxiety (nesda). *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 133(1-2), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad. 2011.03.027
- Perera, M. J., Brintz, C. E., Birnbaum-Weitzman, O., Penedo, F. J., Gallo, L. C., Gonzalez, P., Gouskova, N., Isasi, C. R., Navas-Nacher, E. L., Perreira, K. M., Roesch, S. C., Schneiderman, N., & Llabre, M. M. (2017). Factor Structure of the Perceived Stress Scale-10 (PSS) Across English and Spanish Language Responders in the HCHS/SOL Sociocultural Ancillary Study. *Psychological Assessment*, 29(3), 320–328. https: //doi.org/10.1037/pas0000336
- Perry, D. F., Ettinger, A. K., Mendelson, T., & Le, H.-N. (2011). Prenatal depression predicts postpartum maternal attachment in low-income latina mothers with infants. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 34(2), 339–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. infbeh.2011.02.005
- Peters, E., Hübner, J., & Katalinic, A. (2021). Stress, copingstrategien und gesundheitsbezogene lebensqualität während der corona-pandemie im april 2020 in deutschland.

Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift, 146(2), 11-20. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1275-3792

- Pięta, B., Jurczyk, M. U., Wszołek, K., & Opala, T. (2014). Emotional changes occurring in women in pregnancy, parturition and lying-in period according to factors exerting an effect on a woman during the peripartum period. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine, 21(3), 661–665. https://doi.org/10.5604/12321966. 1120621
- Ployhart, R. E., & MacKenzie, W. I. (2014). Two waves of measurement do not a longitudinal study make. In C. E. Lance & R. J. Vandenberg (Eds.), More statistical and methodological myths and urban legends (pp. 85–99). Routledge.
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 515–526. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00076512
- Provenzi, L., Scotto di Minico, G., Giusti, L., Guida, E., & Müller, M. (2018). Disentangling the dyadic dance: Theoretical, methodological and outcomes systematic review of mother-infant dyadic processes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fpsyg.2018.00348
- Quevedo, L. A., Silva, R. A., Godoy, R., Jansen, K., Matos, M. B., Tavares Pinheiro, K. A., & Pinheiro, R. T. (2012). The impact of maternal post-partum depression on the language development of children at 12 months. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 38(3), 420–424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01251.x
- R Core Team. (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/
- Racine, N., Eirich, R., Cooke, J., Zhu, J., Pador, P., Dunnewold, N., & Madigan, S. (2022). When the bough breaks: A systematic review and meta-analysis of mental health symptoms in mothers of young children during the covid-19 pandemic. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 43(1), 36–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21959
- Ramchandani, P., Stein, A., Evans, J., & O'Connor, T. O. (2005). Paternal depression in the postnatal period and child development: A prospective population study. *The Lancet*, 365(9478), 2201–2205. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66778-5
- Rasic, D., Hajek, T., Alda, M., & Uher, R. (2013). Risk of mental illness in offspring of parents with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder: A metaanalysis of family high-risk studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 40(1), 28–38. https: //doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbt114
- Reck, C., Hagl, M., Ohlrich, R., & Zietlow, A.-L. (2022). From interactive regulation in infancy to relationship-focused interventions. *Psychopathology*. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000525679
- Reck, C., Hunt, A., Fuchs, T., Weiss, R., Noon, A., Moehler, E., Downing, G., Tronick, E. Z., & Mundt, C. (2004). Interactive regulation of affect in postpartum depressed mothers and their infants: An overview. *Psychopathology*, 37(6), 272–280. https: //doi.org/10.1159/000081983
- Reck, C., Klier, C., Pabst, K., Stehle, E., Steffenelli, U., Struben, K., & Backenstrass, M. (2006). The german version of the postpartum bonding instrument: Psychometric

properties and association with postpartum depression. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 9(5), 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-006-0144-x

- Reck, C., Noe, D., Cenciotti, F., Tronick, E. Z., & Weinberg, M. K. (2009). Infant and Caregiver Engagement Phases, Revised Ed. (ICEP-R).
- Reck, C., Noe, D., Gerstenlauer, J., & Stehle, E. (2012). Effects of postpartum anxiety disorders and depression on maternal self-confidence. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 35(2), 264–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2011.12.005
- Reck, C., Noe, D., Stefenelli, U., Fuchs, T., Cenciotti, F., Stehle, E., Mundt, C., Downing, G., & Tronick, E. Z. (2011). Interactive coordination of currently depressed inpatient mothers and their infants during the postpartum period. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 32(5), 542–562. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20312
- Reck, C., Nonnenmacher, N., & Zietlow, A.-L. (2016). Intergenerational transmission of internalizing behavior: The role of maternal psychopathology, child responsiveness and maternal attachment style insecurity. *Psychopathology*, 49(4), 277–284. https: //doi.org/10.1159/000446846
- Reck, C., Struben, K., Backenstrass, M., Stefenelli, U., Reinig, K., Fuchs, T., Sohn, C., & Mundt, C. (2008). Prevalence, onset and comorbidity of postpartum anxiety and depressive disorders. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 118(6), 459–468. https: //doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01264.x
- Reck, C., Tietz, A., Müller, M., Seibold, K., & Tronick, E. Z. (2018). The impact of maternal anxiety disorder on mother-infant interaction in the postpartum period. *PloS ONE*, 13(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194763
- Reck, C., Van den Bergh, B. R. H., Tietz, A., Müller, M., Ropeter, A., Zipser, B., & Pauen, S. (2018). Maternal avoidance, anxiety cognitions and interactive behaviour predicts infant development at 12 months in the context of anxiety disorders in the postpartum period. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 50, 116–131. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2017.11.007
- Reck, C., Zietlow, A.-L., Müller, M., & Dubber, S. (2016). Perceived parenting stress in the course of postpartum depression: The buffering effect of maternal bonding. Archives of women's mental health, 19(3), 473–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-015-0590-4
- Reichardt, C. S. (2019). Quasi-experimentation: A guide to design and analysis. Guilford Press.
- Reis, D., Lehr, D., Heber, E., & Ebert, D. D. (2019). The german version of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-10): Evaluation of dimensionality, validity, and measurement invariance with exploratory and confirmatory bifactor modeling. Assessment, 26(7), 1246–1259. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191117715731
- Reuner, G., & Rosenkranz, J. (2015). Bayley-III Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development III: Deutsche Version. Pearson Assessment & Information GmbH.
- Righetti–Veltema, M., Bousquet, A., & Manzano, J. (2003). Impact of postpartum depressive symptoms on mother and her 18–month–old infant. European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 12(2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-003-0311-9

- Rogosa, D. R. (1995). Myths and methods: "Myths about longitudinal research" plus supplemental questions. In J. M. Gottman (Ed.), *The analysis of change* (pp. 3–66). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Romano, J., Kromrey, J., Coraggio, J., & Skowronek, J. Appropriate statistics for ordinal level data: Should we really be using t-test and Cohen's d for evaluating group differences on the NSSE and other surveys? In: annual meeting of the Florida Association of Institutional Research. 2006, 1–33.
- Rosenman, R., Tennekoon, V., & Hill, L. G. (2011). Measuring bias in self-reported data. International Journal of Behavioural and Healthcare Research, 2(4), 320–332. https: //doi.org/10.1504/IJBHR.2011.043414
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). lavaan: An R Package for Structural Equation Modeling. Journal of Statistical Software, 48(2), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i02
- Rosseel, Y. (2020). Small sample solutions for structural equation modeling. In R. van de Schoot & M. Miočević (Eds.), *Small sample size solutions* (pp. 226–238). Routledge.
- Rossen, L., Hutchinson, D., Wilson, J., Burns, L., Olsson, C. A., Allsop, S., Elliott, E. J., Jacobs, S., Macdonald, J. A., & Mattick, R. P. (2016). Predictors of postnatal mother-infant bonding: The role of antenatal bonding, maternal substance use and mental health. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 19(4), 609–622. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00737-016-0602-z
- Rossen, L., Mattick, R. P., Wilson, J., Clare, P. J., Burns, L., Allsop, S., Elliott, E. J., Jacobs, S., Olsson, C. A., & Hutchinson, D. (2019). Mother-infant bonding and emotional availability at 12-months of age: The role of early postnatal bonding, maternal substance use and mental health. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 23(12), 1686–1698. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-019-02809-1
- Rubertsson, C., Pallant, J. F., Sydsjö, G., Haines, H. M., & Hildingsson, I. (2015). Maternal depressive symptoms have a negative impact on prenatal attachment – findings from a swedish community sample. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 33(2), 153–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646838.2014.992009
- Safi-Keykaleh, M., Aliakbari, F., Safarpour, H., Safari, M., Tahernejad, A., Sheikhbardsiri, H., & Sahebi, A. (2022). Prevalence of postpartum depression in women amid the covid-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal* of Gynecology & Obstetrics, 157(2), 240–247. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.14129
- Salari, N., Hosseinian-Far, A., Jalali, R., Vaisi-Raygani, A., Rasoulpoor, S., Mohammadi, M., Rasoulpoor, S., & Khaledi-Paveh, B. (2020). Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the covid-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Globalization and Health*, 16(57). https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12992-020-00589-w
- Santos, H. J., Tan, X., & Salomon, R. (2017). Heterogeneity in perinatal depression: How far have we come? a systematic review. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 20, 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-016-0691-8
- Schwenck, G. C., Dawson, S. J., Allsop, D. B., & Rosen, N. O. (2022). Daily dyadic coping: Associations with postpartum sexual desire and sexual and relationship satis-

faction. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships. https://doi.org/10.1177/02654075221107393

- Seimyr, L., Sjögren, B., Welles-Nyström, B., & Nissen, E. (2009). Antenatal maternal depressive mood and parental-fetal attachment at the end of pregnancy. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 12(5), 269. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-009-0079-0
- Selig, J. P., & Little, T. D. (2012). Autoregressive and cross-lagged panel analysis for longitudinal data. In B. Laursen, T. D. Little, & N. A. Card (Eds.), *Handbook of* developmental research methods (pp. 265–278). The Guilford Press.
- Shai, D., & Belsky, J. (2017). Parental embodied mentalizing: How the nonverbal dance between parents and infants predicts children's socio-emotional functioning. Attachment & Human Development, 19(2), 191–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734. 2016.1255653
- Shai, D., & Belsky, J. (2011). When words just won't do: Introducing parental embodied mentalizing. *Child Development Perspectives*, 5(3), 173–180. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00181.x
- Shai, D., & Meins, E. (2018). Parental embodied mentalizing and its relation to mindmindedness, sensitivity, and attachment security. *Infancy*, 23(6), 857–872. https: //doi.org/10.1111/infa.12244
- Shin, H., Park, Y.-J., & Kim, M. J. (2006). Predictors of maternal sensitivity during the early postpartum period. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 55(4), 425–434. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03943.x
- Siddiqui, A., & Hägglöf, B. (2000). Does maternal prenatal attachment predict postnatal mother-infant interaction? *Early Human Development*, 59(1), 13–25. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0378-3782(00)00076-1
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., & Lushene, R. E. (1970). Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Spinelli, M., Lionetti, F., Pastore, M., & Fasolo, M. (2020). Parents' stress and children's psychological problems in families facing the covid-19 outbreak in italy. *Frontiers* in psychology, 11, 1713. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01713
- Stanley, C., Murray, L., & Stein, A. (2004). The effect of postnatal depression on motherinfant interaction, infant response to the still-face perturbation, and performance on an instrumental learning task. *Development and Psychopathology*, 16(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579404044384
- Starr, L. R., Conway, C. C., Hammen, C. L., & Brennan, P. A. (2014). Transdiagnostic and disorder-specific models of intergenerational transmission of internalizing pathology. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(1), 161–172. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S003329171300055X
- Stavrova, O., & Ehlebracht, D. (2019). Broken bodies, broken spirits: How poor health contributes to a cynical worldview. European Journal of Personality, 33, 52–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2183
- Stein, A., Craske, M. G., Lehtonen, A., Harvey, A., Savage-McGlynn, E., Davies, B., Goodwin, J., Murray, L., Cortina-Borja, M., & Counsell, N. (2012). Maternal cognitions and mother-infant interaction in postnatal depression and generalized anxiety dis-

order. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 121(4), 795–809. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026847

- Suárez-Rico, B. V., Estrada-Gutierrez, G., Sánchez-Martínez, M., Perichart-Perera, O., Rodríguez-Hernández, C., González-Leyva, C., Osorio-Valencia, E., Cardona-Pérez, A., Helguera-Repetto, A. C., Espino y Sosa, S., Solis-Paredes, M., & Reyes-Muñoz, E. (2021). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and perceived stress in postpartum mexican women during the covid-19 lockdown. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094627
- Swaminathan, A., Viswanathan, S., Gnanadurai1, T., Ayyavoo1, S., & Manickam, T. (2015). Perceived stress and sources of stress among first-year medical undergraduate students in a private medical college – tamil nadu. National Journal of Physiology, Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 6(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.5455/njppp. 2015.5.1909201574
- Tanner Stapleton, L., & Bradbury, T. N. (2012). Marital interaction prior to parenthood predicts parent-child interaction 9 years later. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(4), 479–487. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029051
- Taylor, A., Atkins, R., Kumar, R., Adams, D., & Glover, V. (2005). A new mother-toinfant bonding scale: Links with early maternal mood. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 8(1), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-005-0074-z
- Tietz, A., Zietlow, A.-L., & Reck, C. (2014). Maternal bonding in mothers with postpartum anxiety disorder: The crucial role of subclinical depressive symptoms and maternal avoidance behaviour. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 17(5), 433–442. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00737-014-0423-x
- Tronick, E. Z. (1989). Emotions and emotional communication in infants. American Psychologist, 44(2), 112–119. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.44.2.112
- Tronick, E. Z. (2007). The neurobehavioral and social-emotional development of infants and children. W W Norton & Co.
- Tronick, E. Z., Als, H., Adamson, L., Wise, S., & Brazelton, T. B. (1978). The infant's response to entrapment between contradictory messages in face-to-face interaction. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 17(1), 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0002-7138(09)62273-1
- Tronick, E. Z., Als, H., & Brazelton, T. B. (1980). Monadic phases: A structural descriptive analysis of infant-mother face to face interaction. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly of Behavior and Development*, 26(1), 3–24.
- Tronick, E. Z., & Beeghly, M. (2011). Infants' meaning-making and the development of mental health problems. The American psychologist, 66(2), 107–119. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0021631
- Tronick, E. Z., & Cohn, J. F. (1989). Infant-mother face-to-face interaction: Age and gender differences in coordination and the occurrence of miscoordination. *Child Development*, 60(1), 85–92. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131074
- Tronick, E. Z., & Reck, C. (2009). Infants of depressed mothers. Harvard Review of Psychiatry, 17(2), 147–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/10673220902899714

- Tronick, E. Z., & Weinberg, M. K. (1990a). *The Infant Regulatory Scoring System*. Unpublished Manuscript.
- Tronick, E. Z., & Weinberg, M. K. (1990b). *The Maternal Regulatory Scoring System*. Unpublished Manuscript.
- Usami, S., Murayama, K., & Hamaker, E. L. (2019). A unified framework of longitudinal models to examine reciprocal relations. *Psychological Methods*, 24(5), 637–657. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000210
- van de Loo, K. F. E., Vlenterie, R., Nikkels, S. J., Merkus, P. J. F. M., Roukema, J., Verhaak, C. M., Roeleveld, N., & van Gelder, M. M. H. J. (2018). Depression and anxiety during pregnancy: The influence of maternal characteristics. *Birth*, 45(4), 478–489. https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12343
- Van den Bergh, B. R. H. (1989). De emotionele toestand van de (zwangere) vrouw, obstetrische complicaties en het gedrag en de ontwikkeling van de foetus en van het kind tot de leeftijd van zeven maanden. Unpublished doctoral thesis, Catholic University of Leuven.
- Van den Bergh, B. R. H., van den Heuvel, M. I., Lahti, M., Braeken, M., Rooij], S. R. [, Entringer, S., Hoyer, D., Roseboom, T., Räikkönen, K., King, S., & Schwab, M. (2020). Prenatal developmental origins of behavior and mental health: The influence of maternal stress in pregnancy. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.07.003
- Vänskä, M., Punamäki, R.-L., Tolvanen, A., Lindblom, J., Flykt, M., Unkila-Kallio, L., Tiitinen, A., Repokari, L., Sinkkonen, J., & Tulppala, M. (2011a). Maternal preand postnatal mental health trajectories and child mental health and development: Prospective study in a normative and formerly infertile sample. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(6), 517–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025411417505
- Vänskä, M., Punamäki, R.-L., Tolvanen, A., Lindblom, J., Flykt, M., Unkila-Kallio, L., Tiitinen, A., Repokari, L., Sinkkonen, J., & Tulppala, M. (2011b). Maternal preand postnatal mental health trajectories and child mental health and development: Prospective study in a normative and formerly infertile sample. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(6), 517–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0165025411417505
- Venta, A., Bick, J., & Bechelli, J. (2021). Covid-19 threatens maternal mental health and infant development: Possible paths from stress and isolation to adverse outcomes and a call for research and practice. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 52, 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-021-01140-7
- Vesga-López, O., Blanco, C., Keyes, K., Olfson, M., Grant, B. F., & Hasin, D. S. (2008). Psychiatric disorders in pregnant and postpartum women in the united states. Archives of General Psychiatry, 65(7), 805–815. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc. 65.7.805
- von Ballestrem, C.-L., Strauß, M., & Kächele, H. (2005). Contribution to the epidemiology of postnatal depression in germany implications for the utilization of treatment.

Archives of Women's Mental Health, 8, 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-005-0068-x

- von Elm, E., Altman, D. G., Egger, M., Pocock, S. J., Gøtzsche, P. C., & Vandenbroucke, J. P. (2014). The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: Guidelines for reporting observational studies. *International Journal of Surgery*, 12, 1495–1499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.07.013
- Wallot, S., & Leonardi, G. (2018). Analyzing multivariate dynamics using cross-recurrence quantification analysis (CRQA), diagonal-cross-recurrence profiles (DCRP), and multidimensional recurrence quantification analysis (MdRQA) – a tutorial in R. Frontiers in Psychology, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02232
- Wan, M. W., & Green, J. (2009). The impact of maternal psychopathology on childmother attachment. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 12(3), 123–134. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00737-009-0066-5
- Weinberg, M. K., Beeghly, M., Olson, K. L., & Tronick, E. Z. (2008). Effects of maternal depression and panic disorder on mother–infant interactive behavior in the faceto-face still-face paradigm. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 29(5), 472–491. https: //doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20193
- Weinberg, M. K., & Tronick, E. Z. (1996). Infant affective reactions to the resumption of maternal interaction after the still-face. *Child development*, 67(3), 905–914. https: //doi.org/10.2307/1131869
- Weinberg, M. K., & Tronick, E. Z. (1998). The impact of maternal psychiatric illness on infant development. The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 59(Suppl 2), 53–61.
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org
- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., McGowan, L. D., François, R., Grolemund, G., Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Pedersen, T. L., Miller, E., Bache, S. M., Müller, K., Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D. P., Spinu, V., ... Yutani, H. (2019). Welcome to the tidyverse. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 4(43), 1686. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L., & Müller, K. (2021). Dplyr: A grammar of data manipulation [R package version 1.0.5]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package= dplyr
- Winnicott. (1956). Through paediatrics to psycho-analysis. Hogarth.
- Wittchen, H.-U., Wunderlich, U., Gruschwitz, S., & Zaudig, M. (1997). SKID-I: Strukturiertes klinisches Interview für DSM-IV. Achse I. Hogrefe.
- Woll, C. F. J. (2022a). Analysis script for: The effects of peripartum maternal depressive and anxiety disorders on mother-infant interaction: Investigating the mediating role of prepartum and postpartum bonding. https://doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives. 8225
- Woll, C. F. J. (2022b). Supplementary material for: How are german mothers feeling during the covid-19 pandemic? assessing the prevalence of and analyzing the relationship between depressive symptoms and perceived stress. https://doi.org/10.23668/ psycharchives.8229

- Woll, C. F. J. (2022c). Supplementary material for: The effects of peripartum maternal depressive and anxiety disorders on mother-infant interaction: Investigating the mediating role of prepartum and postpartum bonding. https://doi.org/10.23668/ psycharchives.8226
- Woll, C. F. J., Marx, A. K. G., & Küçükakyüz, S. M. (2022). Code for: How are german mothers feeling during the covid-19 pandemic? assessing the prevalence of and analyzing the relationship between depressive symptoms and perceived stress. https: //doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives.8228
- Woll, C. F. J., Reck, C., Küçükakyüz, S. M., Zietlow, A.-L., Nonnenmacher, N., & Müller, M. (2022). Dataset for: The effects of peripartum maternal depressive and anxiety disorders on mother-infant interaction: Investigating the mediating role of prepartum and postpartum bonding. https://doi.org/10.23668/psycharchives.8224
- Woll, C. F. J., Reck, C., Marx, A., Küçükakyüz, S. M., Müller, M., von Tettenborn, A., Nonnenmacher, N., & Zietlow, A.-L. (2022). Datasets for: How are german mothers feeling during the covid-19 pandemic? assessing the prevalence of and analyzing the relationship between depressive symptoms and perceived stress. https://doi.org/ 10.23668/psycharchives.8227
- Woody, C., Ferrari, A., Siskind, D., Whiteford, H., & Harris, M. (2017). A systematic review and meta-regression of the prevalence and incidence of perinatal depression. *Journal* of Affective Disorders, 219, 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.05.003
- Xu, T. L., de Barbaro, K., Abney, D. H., & Cox, R. F. A. (2020). Finding structure in time: Visualizing and analyzing behavioral time series. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01457
- Yan, H., Ding, Y., & Guo, W. (2020). Mental health of pregnant and postpartum women during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.617001
- Yap, M. B. H., & Jorm, A. F. (2015). Parental factors associated with childhood anxiety, depression, and internalizing problems: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Jour*nal of Affective Disorders, 175, 424–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.050
- Yap, M. B. H., Pilkington, P. D., Ryan, S. M., & Jorm, A. F. (2014). Parental factors associated with depression and anxiety in young people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 156, 8–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jad.2013.11.007
- Yu, Q., & Li, B. (2020). *Mma: Multiple mediation analysis* [R package version 10.5-0]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=mma
- Zanardo, V., Manghina, V., Giliberti, L., Vettore, M., Severino, L., & Straface, G. (2020). Psychological impact of covid-19 quarantine measures in northeastern italy on mothers in the immediate postpartum period. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 150(2), 184–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13249
- Zeegers, M., Colonnesi, C., Stams, G., & Meins, E. (2017). Mind matters: A meta-analysis on parental mentalization and sensitivity as predictors of infant-parent attachment. *Psychological bulletin*, 143(12), 1245–1272. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000114

- Zietlow, A.-L., Schlüter, M. K., Nonnenmacher, N., Müller, M., & Reck, C. (2014). Maternal self-confidence postpartum and at pre–school age: The role of depression, anxiety disorders, maternal attachment insecurity. *Maternal and child health journal*, 18(8), 1873–1880. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-014-1431-1
- Zietlow, A.-L., Woll, C., Nonnenmacher, N., Müller, M., Labonte, V., Ditzen, B., Paulus, M., Sodian, B., Nater, U. M., Herpertz, S. C., & Reck, C. (2022). Study protocol of the compare-interaction study: The impact of maternal comorbid depression and anxiety disorders in the peripartum period on child development. *BMJ open*, 12(1), e050437. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050437
- Zijlmans, M. A. C., Riksen-Walraven, J. M., & de Weerth, C. (2015). Associations between maternal prenatal cortisol concentrations and child outcomes: A systematic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 53, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2015.02.015